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To the General Meeting of Sportradar Group AG, St. Gallen 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sportradar Group AG and its subsidiaries (the Group), 
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2024, the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the 
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, 
including material accounting policy information. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements (pages F-  to F- ) give a true and fair view of the 
consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2024, and of its consolidated financial 
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting 
Standards and comply with Swiss law. 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law, International Standards on Auditing (ISA) and Swiss 
Standards on Auditing (SA-CH). Our responsibilities under those provisions and standards are further described in 
the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are 
independent of the Group in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law, together with the requirements of the 
Swiss audit profession, as well as those of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), and 
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

ACCOUNTING FOR NEWLY ACQUIRED OR MODIFIED SPORT RIGHTS LICENSES  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
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ACCOUNTING FOR NEWLY ACQUIRED OR MODIFIED SPORT RIGHTS LICENSES  
 

 Key Audit Matter Our response 

 As of December 31, 2024, the Group’s balance 
sheet included total sport rights licenses intangible 
assets with a net carrying amount of EUR 1,091 mil-
lion (EUR 1,439 million cost and EUR 348 million 
accumulated amortization and impairment), and 
EUR202 million of current trade payables and EUR 
908 million non-current trade payables related to 
those sport rights licenses.  
 
The Group entered into multiple new or modified li-
cense agreements with sport rights licensors during 
2024, evaluated each new agreement or modifica-
tion against capitalization criteria under the relevant 
accounting standards, and recognized intangible 
assets and trade payables when the criteria were 
met.  
 
The recognition of sport rights licenses intangible 
assets and trade payables requires the Group to ex-
ercise significant judgement in determining whether 
capitalization criteria are met, the model and key as-
sumptions used to determine the net present value 
of liabilities, and the method and timing of amortiza-
tion recognition. 
 

Our audit procedures included, amongst others, for a 
selection of newly acquired or modified sports rights li-
censes, we assessed the capitalization of sports rights 
licenses based on the relevant accounting standards, 
the model and key assumptions used to determine the 
net present value of liabilities, and the method and tim-
ing of amortization recognition.   
 
The following are the primary audit procedures we per-
formed for a selection of newly acquired or modified 
sports rights licenses to address the key audit matter: 
 

 We considered whether capitalization criteria were 
met by evaluating the final executed sport rights li-
cense agreement payment terms and license pe-
riod and the relevant accounting standards require-
ments; 

 We assessed the model used to calculate the net 
present value of liabilities by comparing to industry 
norms, and challenged the robustness of the re-
lated key assumptions by comparing these with 
publicly available data; and  

 We evaluated the methodology and timing used for 
amortization of balances, by assessing useful life of 
the asset and expected consumption of the eco-
nomic benefits based on the terms of the agree-
ment and historical asset usage.    
 

We also considered the appropriateness of disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements. 

 For further information on the accounting for newly acquired or modified sport rights licenses, refer to the follow-
ing: 

— Note 2 – Significant Accounting Policies 

— Note 13 – Intangible Assets and Goodwill 

— Note 21 – Trade Payables 

Other Information 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements, the stand-alone financial 
statements of the company, the compensation report and our auditor’s reports thereon. 
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Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Board of Directors’ Responsibilities for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, which give a 
true and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and the provisions of Swiss law, and for such 
internal control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Swiss law, ISA and SA-CH will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with Swiss law, ISA and SA-CH, we exercise professional judgment and 
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances. 

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made.  
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— Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.  

— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

— Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial 
information of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit 
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide the Board of Directors or its relevant committee with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to 
eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 
 
From the matters communicated to the Board of Directors or its relevant committee, we determine those matters 
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report, unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

In accordance with Art. 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and PS-CH 890, we confirm that an internal control system exists, 
which has been designed for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements according to the instructions 
of the Board of Directors. However, a material weakness in the Group’s internal controls over financial reporting 
has been identified in relation to the insufficient design and implementation of controls. 
 
We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved. 
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KPMG AG 

{{Signatureleft}} {{Signatureright}} 
Tomas Dietl 
Licensed Audit Expert 
Auditor in Charge 

Moahammad Nafeie 

Zurich, March 19, 2025 
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SPORTRADAR GROUP AG 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
(Expressed in thousands of Euros) 
         

    Years Ended December 31, 
      Note      2024      20231      20221 
Continuing operations         
Revenue   4    1,106,556    877,621    730,188 
Personnel expenses      (349,669)   (326,031)   (265,984)
Sport rights expenses (including amortization of capitalized sport rights licenses)   6    (352,435)   (214,189)   (187,012)
Purchased services   6    (175,582)   (151,705)   (129,185)
Other operating expenses   7    (93,537)   (89,443)   (95,891)
Internally-developed software cost capitalized   13    50,008    28,301    17,730 
Depreciation and amortization (excluding amortization of capitalized sport rights licenses)   13, 14    (50,782)   (46,344)   (44,613)
Impairment loss on trade receivables, contract assets and other financial assets   16    (5,699)   (6,179)   (1,552)
Remeasurement of previously held equity-accounted investee   3   —   —    7,698 
Share of loss of equity-accounted investees   —   (3,699)  (4,082)
Loss on disposal of equity-accounted investee   —   (13,604) — 
Impairment loss on goodwill and intangible assets   13    (167)   (9,854)  — 
Foreign currency (loss) gains, net   8    (38,223)   23,205    26,690 
Finance income  9   10,952   12,848   5,250 
Finance cost   10    (78,870)   (33,731)   (41,447)
Net income before tax        22,552    47,196    17,790 
Income tax benefit (expense)   11    11,060    (12,551)   (7,299)
Profit for the year from continuing operations    33,612   34,645   10,491 
Discontinued operations     
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax  27  —   (751) — 
Profit for the year        33,612    33,894    10,491 
         
Other comprehensive income               
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or (loss)               
Remeasurement of defined benefit liability        (141)   (874)   2,192 
Related deferred tax income/(expense)        26    130    (333)
      (115)   (744)   1,859 
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or (loss)               
Foreign currency translation adjustment attributable to the owners of the Company        11,109    (3,654)   1,989 
Foreign currency translation adjustment attributable to non-controlling interests        188    (37)   10 
      11,297    (3,691)   1,999 
Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year, net of tax        11,182    (4,435)   3,858 
Total comprehensive income for the year        44,794    29,459    14,349 
Profit (Loss) attributable to:               
Owners of the Company        34,150    34,655    10,891 
Non-controlling interests        (538)   (761)   (400)
      33,612    33,894    10,491 
Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to:               
Owners of the Company        45,144    30,257    14,739 
Non-controlling interests        (350)   (798)   (390)
      44,794    29,459    14,349 
Profit for the year from continuing operations per Class A share attributable to owners of the Company               
Basic   12    0.11    0.12    0.04 
Diluted   12    0.10    0.11    0.03 
Profit for the year from continuing operations per Class B share attributable to owners of the Company         
Basic   12    0.01    0.01   — 
Diluted   12    0.01    0.01   — 
Profit for the year per Class A share attributable to owners of the Company         
Basic   12    0.11    0.12    0.04 
Diluted   12    0.10    0.11    0.03 
Profit for the year per Class B share attributable to owners of the Company         
Basic   12    0.01    0.01   — 
Diluted   12    0.01    0.01   — 

 
1 - Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year presentation. Refer to Note 1.5 for further information. 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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SPORTRADAR GROUP AG 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
(Expressed in thousands of Euros) 
       

    December 31,  
Assets      Note      2024      2023 
Current assets             
Cash and cash equivalents        348,357    277,174 
Trade receivables   16    77,106    71,246 
Contract assets   16    93,562    60,869 
Other assets and prepayments   17    46,601    33,252 
Income tax receivables        7,624    6,527 
      573,250    449,068 
Non-current assets           
Property and equipment   14, 15    66,240    72,762 
Intangible assets and goodwill   13    1,607,057    1,697,331 
Other financial assets and other non-current assets      11,718    11,806 
Deferred tax assets   11    36,376    16,383 
      1,721,391    1,798,282 
Total assets        2,294,641    2,247,350 
Current liabilities           
Loans and borrowings   15, 19    10,022    9,586 
Trade payables   21    259,742    259,667 
Other liabilities   22    68,271    55,724 
Contract liabilities   23    30,200    26,595 
Income tax liabilities        5,599    4,542 
      373,834    356,114 
Non-current liabilities           
Loans and borrowings    15, 19    36,697    40,559 
Trade payables   21    895,679    908,499 
Contract liabilities  23   37,711   39,526 
Other non-current liabilities   22    1,830    8,500 
Deferred tax liabilities   11   19,043    21,315 
      990,960    1,018,399 
Total liabilities        1,364,794    1,374,513 
Ordinary shares   18    27,551    27,421 
Treasury shares   18    (18,813)   (2,322)
Additional paid-in capital   18    668,254    653,840 
Retained earnings        221,942    173,629 
Other reserves       26,220    15,226 
Equity attributable to owners of the Company        925,154    867,794 
Non-controlling interest        4,693    5,043 
Total equity        929,847    872,837 
Total liabilities and equity        2,294,641    2,247,350 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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SPORTRADAR GROUP AG 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
(Expressed in thousands of Euros) 
                     

                                   Reserve                
              from    Equity   
            Foreign  actuarial  Equity  attributable   
        Additional    currency  gains  attributable  to non-   
    Ordinary  Treasury  paid in  Retained  translation  and  to owners of  controlling  Total 
  Note  shares  shares  capital  earnings  reserve  losses  the Company   interests  equity 
Equity as of January 1, 2022        27,297    —    606,057    89,693    15,755    21    738,823    (3,189)   735,634 
Net profit (loss) for the year from continuing operations       —    —   —    10,891   —   —    10,891    (400)   10,491 
Other comprehensive income       —    —   —   —    1,989    1,859    3,848    10    3,858 
Total comprehensive income (loss)       —    —   —    10,891    1,989    1,859    14,739    (390)   14,349 
Reclassification of deposit liability   —  —   2,432  —  —  —   2,432  —   2,432 
Purchase of treasury shares   18   —    (3,837)  —   —   —   —    (3,837)  —    (3,837)
Business combinations  3  —  —   3,000  —  —  —   3,000   6,227   9,227 
Acquisition of non-controlling interests  3.0  —  —   (31,438) —  —  —   (31,438)  3,193   (28,245)
Vesting of RSUs  29.0   26   1,132   6,399   (7,987)  —  —   (430) —   (430)
Equity-settled share-based payments   29   —   —    3,741    24,558   —   —    28,299   —    28,299 
Equity as of December 31, 2022        27,323    (2,705)   590,191    117,155    17,744    1,880    751,588    5,841    757,429 
Net profit (loss) for the year from continuing operations        —    —    —    34,655   —   —    34,655    (761)   33,894 
Other comprehensive income (loss)        —    —    —   —    (3,654)   (744)   (4,398)   (37)   (4,435)
Total comprehensive income (loss)        —    —    —    34,655    (3,654)   (744)   30,257    (798)   29,459 
Reclassification of deposit liability      —    —    1,811    —    —    —    1,811    —    1,811 
Purchase of treasury shares  18.3  —   (9,022) —  —  —  —   (9,022) —   (9,022)
Grants to sport rights holders  29  —  —   51,999  —  —  —   51,999  —   51,999 
Vesting of RSUs    98   9,405   8,196   (17,715)  —  —   (16) —   (16)
Equity-settled share-based payments   29   —   —    1,643    39,534   —   —    41,177   —    41,177 
Equity as of December 31, 2023      27,421    (2,322)   653,840    173,629    14,090    1,136    867,794    5,043    872,837 
Net profit (loss) for the year from continuing operations        —    —    —    34,150   —   —    34,150    (538)   33,612 
Other comprehensive income (loss)        —    —    —   —    11,109    (115)   10,994    188    11,182 
Total comprehensive income (loss)    —    —    —    34,150    11,109    (115)   45,144    (350)   44,794 
Reclassification of deposit liability      —   —    1,721    —    —    —    1,721    —    1,721 
Purchase of treasury shares   18.3    —    (28,725)   —    —    —    —    (28,725)   —    (28,725)
Vesting of RSUs    130    12,234    12,023    (24,354)   —   —    33   —    33 
Equity-settled share-based payments   29   —   —    670    38,517   —   —    39,187   —    39,187 
Equity as of December 31, 2024        27,551    (18,813)   668,254    221,942    25,199    1,021    925,154    4,693    929,847 

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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SPORTRADAR GROUP AG 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
(Expressed in thousands of Euros) 
         

    Years Ended December 31, 
      Note      2024      20231      20221 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:             
Profit for the year    33,612   33,894   10,491 
Adjustments to reconcile profit for the year to net cash provided by operating activities:           
Income tax (benefit) expense   11    (11,060)   12,551    7,299 
Interest income   9    (9,285)   (7,683)   (5,250)
Interest expense   10    77,470    31,451    40,036 
Remeasurement of previously held equity-accounted investee   3   —   —    (7,698)
Other financial (income) expenses      (267)   (2,885)   1,411 
Foreign currency loss (gain), net   8    38,223    (23,205)   (26,690)
Amortization of capitalized sport rights licenses   13    233,945    160,018    140,200 
Depreciation and amortization (excluding amortization of capitalized sport rights licenses)   13, 14    50,782    46,344    44,613 
Impairment losses on goodwill and intangible assets    13    167    9,854   — 
Equity-settled share-based payments      39,187    41,177    28,299 
Share of loss of equity-accounted investees       —    3,699    4,082 
Loss on disposal of equity-accounted investee   —   13,604  — 
Other    (13,231)  (3,790)  (3,183)
Cash flow from operating activities before working capital changes, interest and income taxes        439,543    315,029    233,610 
Increase in trade receivables, contract assets, other assets and prepayments        (48,532)   (16,100)   (53,519)
Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables, contract and other liabilities        40,957    (1,477)   32,159 
Changes in working capital        (7,575)   (17,577)   (21,360)
Interest paid        (76,384)   (30,528)   (33,591)
Interest received        9,333    7,677    5,091 
Income taxes paid        (11,906)   (15,956)   (15,673)
Net cash from operating activities        353,011    258,645    168,077 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:               
Acquisition of intangible assets   13    (222,288)   (185,493)   (154,266)
Acquisition of property and equipment    (5,367)  (14,786)  (8,288)
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired  3   (27,060)  (12,844)  (56,245)
Proceeds from dissolution of equity-accounted investee     —    15,172   — 
Acquisition of financial assets     —    (3,716)  — 
Contribution to equity-accounted investee     —   —    (27,873)
Other investing activities, net      (168)   (423)   105 
Net cash used in investing activities        (254,883)   (202,090)   (246,567)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:               
Payment of lease liabilities   15    (7,830)   (7,983)   (5,958)
Purchase of treasury shares  18   (28,725)  (9,022)  (3,837)
Principal payments on bank debt  19   (150)  (620)  (420,685)
Change in bank overdrafts   19    (46)   (7)   (23)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests   3   —   —    (28,245)
Transaction costs related to borrowings      —    —    (1,100)
Net cash used in from financing activities        (36,751)   (17,632)   (459,848)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents        61,377    38,923    (538,338)
Cash and cash equivalents as of January 1        277,174    243,757    742,773 
Effects of movements in exchange rates        9,806    (5,506)   39,322 
Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31        348,357    277,174    243,757 

 
1 - Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year presentation. Refer to Note 1.5 for further information. 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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SPORTRADAR GROUP AG 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Expressed in thousands of Euros – unless stated otherwise) 

Note 1. General information 

1.1 Reporting entity 

Sportradar Group AG and its subsidiaries (together, the “Company” or “Sportradar”) is a leading provider of sports data services and 
premium partner for the sports betting and media industries. 

The parent company, Sportradar Group AG, was incorporated on June 24, 2021 as a stock corporation under the laws of Switzerland, 
located in St. Gallen, Switzerland, and is registered in the Commercial Register of the district court in St. Gallen.  

The Company’s ordinary shares are currently listed on The Nasdaq Global Select Market (“Nasdaq”) under the ticker symbol 
“SRAD”. 

The consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended December 31, 2024 were approved and authorized for issue by the 
Company’s board of directors on March 19, 2025. 

1.2 Basis of preparation 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis 
applying the historical cost concept, except for certain financial instruments that are measured at fair value. 

The accounting policies set out below comply with each respective IFRS effective at the end of the Company’s reporting period, 
which was December 31, 2024. They have all been applied consistently throughout the year and the preceding years. 

Certain monetary amounts, percentages, and other figures included in this report have been subject to rounding adjustments. 
Accordingly, figures shown as totals in certain tables may not be the arithmetic aggregation of the figures that precede them. 

1.3 Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and for 
the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022. A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Company. The Company controls an 
entity when the Company is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to 
affect those returns through its power over the entity. 

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Company. They are deconsolidated from the 
date that control ceases. Intercompany transactions, balances, unrealized losses and unrealized gains on transactions between 
subsidiaries are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Accounting policies of subsidiaries are consistent with 
the policies adopted by the Company. 

Non-controlling interests are measured initially at their proportionate share of the acquired entity’s identifiable net assets at the date of 
acquisition. Non-controlling interests are the proportionate share of the results and the equity in a subsidiary not attributable, directly 
or indirectly, to a parent. Non-controlling interests in the net assets and in the results of consolidated subsidiaries are identified 
separately from the Company’s equity and results. Non-controlling interests consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the 
business combination and the non-controlling interests’ share of changes in equity since that date. 

Profit or loss and each component of Other Comprehensive Income (“OCI”) are attributed to the equity holders of the parent of the 
Company and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. 

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. 
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If the Company loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non-controlling 
interest and other components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is recognized in the consolidated statements of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income. Any investment retained is recognized at fair value. 

1.4 Global economic conditions 

The Company’s financial performance is subject to global economic conditions and their impact on levels of entertainment and 
discretionary consumer spending. Economic recessions have had, and may continue to have, far reaching adverse consequences across 
many industries, including the global sports entertainment and gaming industries, which may adversely affect the Company’s 
business, and financial condition or results of operation. 

1.5 Reclassification of prior year presentation 

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company has changed the presentation of expenses related to sport rights in its 
consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Previously, these expenses were split between ‘Purchased 
services and licenses (excluding depreciation and amortization)’, representing the portion of related sport rights expenses which were 
not eligible for capitalization, and ‘Depreciation and amortization’, representing the portion of related sport rights expenses which 
were capitalized. However, starting from the year ended December 31, 2024, the expenses are combined and presented under a new 
line item titled ‘Sport rights expenses (including amortization of capitalized sport rights licenses)’. This has also resulted in a change 
in presentation in the cash flow statement, removing the lines ‘Amortization and impairment of intangible assets’, and ‘Depreciation 
of property equipment’ and replacing them with ‘Amortization of capitalized sport rights licenses’, ‘Depreciation and amortization 
(excluding amortization of capitalized sport rights licenses)’, and ‘Impairment losses on goodwill and intangible assets’. Certain prior 
year amounts have been reclassified for consistency with the current year presentation. Refer to Note 6 for detail of these amounts.  

The change in presentation intends to provide more relevant and reliable information to the users of the financial statements. This 
reclassification aligns the presentation of Sport rights expenses with the nature of the costs and the way they are managed internally. 
Refer to Note 2.7 and 2.8 for relevant accounting policies. 

Note 2. Material accounting policy information 

2.1 New and amended standards and interpretations 

The following IFRS amendments and interpretations are effective from January 1, 2024:  

 Amendments to IFRS 16: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 

 Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Non-current liabilities with covenants 

 Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 

 Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7: Supplier Finance Arrangements 

The amendments to IAS 1 specify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments have not had 
an impact on the classification or disclosure of the Company’s liabilities. 
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2.2 Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective 

The following new and revised standards and interpretations are issued but are not yet effective and were not early adopted by the 
Company in preparing these consolidated financial statements. 
     

    Planned 
    application by 
  Effective  Sportradar in 
Standard or interpretation      date      reporting year 
Amendments to IAS 21: Lack of Exchangeability   January 1, 2025   2025 
Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7: Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments   January 1, 2026   2026 
Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards - Volume 11   January 1, 2026   2026 
Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7: Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity  January 1, 2026  2026 
IFRS 18: Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements  January 1, 2027  2027 
IFRS 19: Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures  January 1, 2027  2027 
 
The amendments to IAS 21 are not expected to have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Company. 

IFRS 18 will replace IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and is expected to have a material impact on the presentation of the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements. The new standard addresses the following new key concepts:  

 The structure of the statement of profit or loss and statement of cash flows; 

 Required disclosures around management-defined performance measures (MPMs); and 

 Enhanced principles on aggregation and disaggregation within the financial statements.  

The Company is in the process of assessing the impact this new standard will have on its consolidated financial statements, and is also 
currently assessing the impact the remaining new standards, new interpretations, and amended standards are expected to have on the 
consolidated financial statements. 

2.3 Use of judgments, estimates and assumptions 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect 
the application of the Company’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses, assets, liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Management considers an accounting judgment, estimate or assumption to be critical 
when (a) the estimate or assumption is complex in nature or requires a high degree of judgment and (b) the use of different judgments, 
estimates and assumptions could have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

The most significant of these judgments, estimates and assumptions relate to accounting for newly acquired or modified sport rights 
licenses and assessing the fair value of acquired assets and liabilities accounted for through business acquisitions and fair value of 
consideration transferred. Management evaluates its estimates on an ongoing basis using the most current and available information. 
However, actual results may differ significantly from estimates. Changes in estimates are recorded in the period in which they become 
known. 
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a) Newly acquired or modified sport rights licenses 

The Company typically enters into license agreements with sports leagues for the right to supply data and/or live video feeds to the 
betting industry and the media, among others. As described in Note 2.10 below, certain license agreements fulfill the definition of an 
intangible asset. For license agreements that meet the definition of an intangible asset, there remains uncertainty regarding the timing 
of initial recognition as an intangible asset and whether those agreements could be considered as executory contracts that should only 
lead to asset recognition when payments are made. IFRS does not provide industry specific guidance for such license agreements. 
Therefore, the general recognition requirements of IAS 38 Intangible assets (“IAS 38”) need to be applied to develop an accounting 
policy. If the license agreements have a non-cancellable contract term of more than one year and if they require guaranteed minimum 
license payments, management believes that the recognition criteria of IAS 38 (“the recognition criteria”) are generally satisfied at 
commencement of the license term. The license agreements entered into by Sportradar are complex and the specific rights granted 
vary by agreement. Therefore, the determination of capitalization or expense recognition involves a significant degree of judgement. 

At initial recognition, license assets are measured at cost. As described in Note 2.10 below, costs include the discounted contractually 
agreed and in-substance fixed minimum license payments over the non-cancellable contract term and, when applicable, amounts 
arising from barter transactions and fair value of equity instruments granted. Due to the varied and complex payment terms and 
conditions of license agreements, determination of contractually-agreed and in-substance fixed minimum license payments for each 
capitalized license asset involves a significant degree of judgement. When granted as part of license agreements, the fair value of 
equity instruments rely on valuation models with input assumptions for volatility, expected term, and risk-free rate. Management’s 
estimates of fair value are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but depending on the terms of a specific arrangement, 
may be inherently uncertain and unpredictable and, as a result, actual values may differ from estimates. 

b) Fair value acquired assets and liabilities in business combinations and fair value of consideration transferred 

The Company accounts for acquisitions in accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations as described in Note 2.4 below. The fair 
value of consideration transferred is allocated to the assets acquired, and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values. The 
excess of the fair value of consideration transferred over the fair values of these identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as 
goodwill. Such valuations require the Company to make significant estimates and assumptions, especially with respect to intangible 
assets. All valuation methods rely on various assumptions such as estimated future expected cash flows from acquired technology, 
customer contracts and tradenames, remaining economic useful life, discount rates, and terminal growth rates. Contingent 
consideration is measured at fair value and recognized as part of the consideration transferred at acquisition date. The initial 
measurement of the fair value of contingent consideration is based on an assessment of the facts and circumstances that exist at the 
acquisition date. 

Sportradar’s estimates of fair value are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain and 
unpredictable and, as a result, actual values may differ from estimates. Allocation of consideration transferred to identifiable assets 
and liabilities affects the Company’s amortization expense, as acquired finite-lived intangible assets are amortized over their useful 
lives, whereas any indefinite lived intangible assets, including goodwill, are not amortized. 

2.4 Business combinations 

The Company applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations when the acquired set of activities and assets meets 
the definition of a business and control is transferred to the Company. In determining whether a particular set of activities and assets is 
a business, the Company assesses whether the set of assets and activities acquired include, at a minimum, an input and substantive 
process and where the acquired set has the ability to produce outputs. The consideration transferred for the acquisition is the fair 
values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired entity and the equity interests issued by the 
Company. The consideration transferred includes the fair values of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration 
arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured 
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Company recognizes any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity at the 
non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognized amounts of the acquired entity’s identifiable net assets. 
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Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Company is recognized at 
fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration, whether deemed to be an asset 
or liability, are recognized in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. For further information on 
business combinations, refer to Note 3. 

2.5 Foreign currency 

In preparing the financial statements of individual entities of the Company, transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the 
respective functional currency of the applicable Sportradar entity using the exchange rate prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are subsequently translated to the functional currency at the 
exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency 
are not subsequently translated. When translating the subsidiary’s respective functional currencies into Sportradar’s presentation 
currency, which is Euro, assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on 
acquisition are translated using the exchange rates at the reporting date. Income and expense items are translated using the average 
exchange rates prevailing during the year. Equity is translated at historical exchange rates. All resulting foreign currency translation 
differences are recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve. If a foreign 
operation is entirely disposed of or control is lost due to a partial disposal, the cumulative amount of the translation reserve relating to 
that foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss and is part of the gain or loss on disposal. 

2.6 Revenue from contracts with customers 

The Company derives revenue mainly from service contracts with customers. Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized 
when it transfers control over a service to a customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be 
entitled in exchange for those services. 

Refer to Note 4 for an overview of the performance obligations and revenue recognition within Sportradar. 

2.7 Purchased services 

Purchased services consists primarily of fees paid to data journalists and freelancers for gathering sports data, fees to sales agents, 
production costs, consultancy fees, IT development costs, as well as internet data traffic costs and cloud (hosting) costs and other 
external service costs. These costs are primarily expensed as they are incurred. 

2.8 Sport rights expenses 

Sport rights expenses consists of (a) the portion of sport rights expenses that have not been capitalized which are expensed as incurred, 
and (b) amortization of sport rights which have been previously capitalized. For further details on the capitalization of sport rights, 
refer to Note 2.10. 

2.9 Income taxes 

Income taxes include current and deferred income taxes. Income taxes are recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it 
relates to items recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case it is recognized in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity, respectively. 

Current income taxes relate to all taxes levied on taxable income of the consolidated companies. It is calculated using tax rates that are 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. Other taxes such 
as property taxes or excise taxes are classified as other operating expenses. 
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position for all temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases as well as for unused tax 
credits and unused tax losses carried forward. However, deferred tax is not recognized for temporary differences on the initial 
recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable 
profit or loss, and if the temporary difference arose from the initial recognition of goodwill. Temporary differences relating to 
investments in subsidiaries are not recognized to the extent the Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences only to the extent 
that it is probable that future taxable income will be available against which they can be utilized. The carrying amount of deferred tax 
assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable 
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. 

For purposes of calculating deferred tax assets and liabilities, the Company applies tax rates that are expected to be applied to 
temporary differences when they reverse, based on tax rates that are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets and they 
relate to the same taxation authority or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net 
basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax 
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally 
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. For 
further details, refer to Note 11. 

2.10 Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are identifiable non-monetary assets without physical substance. An asset is a resource that is controlled by the entity 
as a result of past events (for example, purchased or self-created) and from which future economic benefits (inflows of cash or other 
assets) are expected. 

IAS 38 requires an entity to recognize an intangible asset, whether purchased or self-created (at cost) if, and only if: 

 it is probable that the future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity; and 

 the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. 

License agreements 

Sportradar typically enters into license agreements with sports leagues for the right to supply data and/or live video feeds to the betting 
industry and the media, among others. Those license agreements may include rights to live and past game data, live videos and 
marketing rights. Such license agreements fulfil the definition of an asset except where rights granted solely relate to live events (i.e., 
live data and/or videos). Such license agreements fulfil the definition of an intangible asset because they arise from contractual rights 
and are therefore considered identifiable non-monetary assets without physical substance. In addition, the Company also exercises 
control over the rights granted because the Company is able to obtain future economic benefits, such as income from selling official 
data and/or videos, among other items, and can restrict others from doing so. License agreements that meet the definition of an 
intangible asset and meet the recognition criteria are recognized as license intangible assets at commencement of the license term. 
License agreements that do not meet the definition of an intangible asset or do not meet the recognition criteria are recognized as 
expenses when they occur. 

At initial recognition, license assets are measured at cost. Costs include the contractually agreed and in-substance fixed minimum 
license payments over the non-cancellable contract term. These payments are discounted using the market interest rate at initial 
recognition. Furthermore, amounts arising from barter transactions are included in the cost of the license asset and recognized as 
contract liability. Variable payments determined to not represent minimum license payments over the non-cancellable contract term 
(e.g., based on revenues) are not part of the cost and are recognized as expenses when they occur. The fair value of equity instruments 
granted are part of cost of the license asset and the corresponding credit is recognized in additional paid-in capital. 
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After initial recognition, license assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment losses. The useful lives are 
based on the license term (2 – 10 years). 

The amortization method used reflects the pattern in which the asset’s future economic benefits are expected to be consumed. If that 
pattern cannot be determined reliably, the straight-line method is used. The consumption of economic benefits is influenced by the 
license term as well as the underlying schedule for the respective sports league. 

The Company generally amortizes its license agreements on a straight-line basis over the respective seasons. Amortization expense is 
recorded under sport rights expenses (including amortization of capitalized sport rights licenses) in the consolidated statements of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

For changes in payments resulting from re-negotiations due to reduced benefits from the license management, credit notes received 
from the sport rights holders are recognized against license fees payables included within trade payables in the consolidated statements 
of financial position. The same amount is then recognized as a disposal of the respective intangible asset considering the lower service 
potential due to suspension and cancellation of sporting events. 

Internally-developed software 

Research costs are expensed as incurred, and development costs are only recognized as internally-developed software (internally 
generated intangible assets) if all recognition criteria stipulated in IAS 38 are met. Only expenses that can be directly allocated to 
development projects are capitalized. The amount initially recognized for internally-developed software is the sum of the expenditure 
incurred from the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria. Subsequent to initial recognition, development 
costs are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses. Internally-developed software is 
amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the assets ranging from 3-5 years. The amortization expense is 
recorded under depreciation and amortization (excluding amortization of capitalized sport rights licenses) in the consolidated 
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

Goodwill 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate consideration transferred and the amount recognized for non-
controlling interests, and any previous interest held, over the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the 
fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Company reassesses whether it 
correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts 
to be recognized at the acquisition date. If the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the 
aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognized in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income of the year. 

Goodwill arising from acquisition of subsidiaries is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 

Other intangible assets 

Other intangible assets with definite useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment 
losses. Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to 
which it relates. All other expenditure is recognized in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
as incurred. 

Generally, intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of their contractual term or their estimated useful 
lives (5 years for brand names, 5-10 years for customer base, and 2-10 years for technology). The amortization expense is recorded 
under depreciation and amortization (excluding amortization of capitalized sport rights licenses) in the consolidated statements of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The expense of low value assets is recorded in other operating expenses. 

Other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives as well as goodwill are not amortized but tested for impairment annually. 
Impairment losses on these assets are presented as a separate line in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income. 
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2.11 Property and equipment 

Items of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Property 
and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the assets (ranging from 5-12 years for office 
buildings and 3-15 years for other facilities and equipment). Depreciation expense of property and equipment is recorded under 
depreciation and amortization (excluding amortization of capitalized sport rights licenses) in the consolidated statements of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income. 

2.12 Impairment of non-financial assets 

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is a trigger that non-financial assets might be impaired. If any such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). 
Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the Company tests goodwill acquired in a business combination, 
intangible assets not yet available for use and intangible assets with an indefinite useful life for impairment at least annually during its 
fourth quarter. 

For impairment testing, assets other than goodwill are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generate cash inflows 
from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or cash generating units (“CGU”). For the 
purposes of goodwill impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated so that the level at which impairment testing is performed 
reflects the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal reporting purposes. In January 2024 the Company completed a 
series of strategic actions to streamline its organizational structure, which resulted in certain changes to its operating segments. Refer 
to Note 5 for further information. Effective for the year ended December 31, 2024, for the purposes of goodwill impairment testing, 
the Company allocates all of its goodwill to the Company as a whole, since this is the level at which goodwill is monitored for internal 
management purposes. For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company was subject to the operating segment ceiling test, 
resulting in goodwill being measured and tested at the segment level which was consistent with its CGUs. Refer to Note 13.1.  

An impairment loss is recognized when an asset’s or CGU’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount 
is the greater of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. The Company determines the recoverable amount of a CGU on the 
basis of its value in use. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows expected to arise from the continued use of the asset 
or from its eventual disposal, discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. The determination of a recoverable amount includes management’s 
consideration of key internal inputs and external market conditions such as future prices, growth rate, and customer demand, which 
impact future cash flows and the determination of the most appropriate discount rate.  

Impairment tests of goodwill are performed based on the financial budgets most recently prepared by the Company. The budgets are 
based on historical experience and represent management’s best estimates about future developments. Budgeted adjusted EBITDA is 
estimated taking into account the average cash flow growth levels experienced over the past years and the estimated sales volume and 
price growth for the next two years. Sales volumes, sales prices and variable cost assumptions are derived from industry forecasts, 
forecasts for the regions in which the Company operates, internal management projections and past performance. Cash flow 
projections beyond the budget period are applied based on internal management projections for the remainder of the five-year period. 
The cash flows are initially discounted at a rate corresponding to the post-tax cost of capital. Pre-tax discount rates are then 
determined iteratively for disclosure purposes. The resulting value in use is then compared to the carrying amount. The key 
assumptions used in the annual impairment test are disclosed in Note 13.1. 

If these tests result in an impairment, the relating loss is reported as a separate line in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income.  

If there is any indication that the considerations which led to an impairment no longer exists, the Company will consider the need to 
reverse all or a portion of the impairment charge except for goodwill. This reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset 
does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or 
amortization, had no impairment loss been recognized in prior years. 
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2.13 Leases 

The Company leases property, primarily office buildings. The leases are individually negotiated and include a variety of different 
terms and conditions in different countries and run for a period of one to 18 years. The period, where applicable, includes extension 
options in accordance with the applicable lease contract. 

When entering into a contract, the Company determines whether an arrangement contains a lease at its inception. An arrangement 
contains a lease if it conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Right-
of-use (“ROU”) assets are presented within property and equipment while lease liabilities are presented within loans and borrowings 
on the consolidated statements of financial position. 

At the lease commencement date, the Company recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. ROU assets and lease liabilities 
are recorded at the present value of the lease payments over the lease term, adjusted for lease payments at or before the 
commencement date. ROU assets are also adjusted for any initial direct costs incurred. In determining the present value of lease 
payments, the Company generally uses its borrowing rate, as the implicit rate is not available for most leases. Lease payments 
included in the measurement of the lease liability are made up of fixed payments (including in substance fixed payments), variable 
payments based on an index or rate, and payments arising from options reasonably certain to be exercised. 

The Company depreciates the right-of-use asset on a straight-line basis from the commencement date to the end of the lease term. The 
Company also assesses the right-of-use asset for impairment if any indicators exist. 

The Company has elected not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value assets and short-term leases, 
including other facilities and equipment. The payments in relation to these leases are recognized in the consolidated statements of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

2.14 Financial instruments 

Initial recognition and derecognition 

Trade receivables and debt securities are initially recognized on their date of origination. All other financial assets and financial 
liabilities are initially recognized when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or financial liability is initially measured at 
fair value plus (for financial assets) or minus (for financial liabilities), for an item not at measured at fair value through profit or loss 
(“FVTPL”), transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing 
component is initially measured at the transaction price. 

The Company derecognizes financial assets when the contractual right to the cash flows expires or the assets are transferred, and the 
Company has neither retained the contractual rights to receive cash nor assumes any obligations to pay cash from the assets. 

Classification and measurement 

Financial Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term (maximum 3 months), highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash and cash 
equivalents include bank accounts, petty cash and cash held by the Company.  
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Financial assets measured at amortized cost 

Loans, receivables and cash accounts are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. The 
amortized cost is reduced by impairment losses, if any. Gains and losses are recognized in the consolidated statements of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income when the asset is derecognized, modified or impaired. 

Financial assets measured at fair value 

On initial recognition, all financial assets are either classified as asset measured at amortized cost or fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), otherwise the financial asset is measured at FVTPL. Financial assets measured at FVOCI 
comprise equity investments and are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses from remeasurement of fair value are 
recognized in other comprehensive income. Financial assets measured at FVTPL are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains 
and losses from remeasurement of fair value are recognized in profit or loss. 

Financial and other liabilities 

The Company’s financial liabilities include borrowings, trade payables, lease liabilities and other liabilities which are financial 
instruments. Financial liabilities are classified as liabilities measured at amortized cost or at FVTPL.  

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost 

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and foreign 
exchange gains and losses are recognized in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Any gain 
or loss on derecognition is also recognized in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

Financial liabilities measured at FVTPL 

A financial liability is classified as a liability measured at FVTPL if it is designated as such on initial recognition. These are measured 
at fair value and net gains and losses, including any interest expense, are recognized in the consolidated statements of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income.  

Impairment for financial assets and contract assets 

Trade receivables and contract assets 

Impairment is measured based on an expected credit loss (“ECL”) model. The Company measures loss allowances for trade 
receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. The Company considers a financial asset to be in default if the 
borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Company in full or the financial asset is more than 90 days overdue. 

The Company applies a practical expedient to calculate ECLs on receivables and contract assets that do not contain a significant 
financing component using a provision matrix. This matrix is based on information such as delinquency status and actual credit loss 
experience over the last four years of historical data and based on current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors. 
The provision matrix is applied to all outstanding trade receivables by aging group to determine the actual ECL. The Company 
considers the contract assets to be current and use the same default rate as the “not overdue” trade receivables aging bucket to 
calculate the ECL provision. 

The provision matrix is not applied to financial assets which are already impaired by individual allowances. 
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Credit-impaired financial assets 

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether a financial asset carried at amortized cost is credit impaired. A financial asset is 
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have 
occurred. The Company considers the change in the risk of a default occurring over the expected life of the financial asset instead of a 
change in the ECL. The Company’s assessment uses the lifetime probability of default method. A credit loss will be calculated as the 
difference between the cash flows that are due in accordance with the contract/agreement and the cash flows that the Company expects 
to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate of the financial instrument. 

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the consolidated statements of financial position 

The expected credit loss allowance for each type of financial asset (i.e., trade receivables) is deducted from the gross carrying amount 
of the assets (i.e., contra-asset). Impairment losses are shown separately on the face of the consolidated statements of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income. 

Write-off 

Write-offs are recognized when the Company has no reasonable expectations of recovering a financial asset either in its entirety or a 
portion thereof. The Company assesses after 180 days whether or not a trade receivable needs to be written off. 

2.15 Share-based payments 

Employees and directors of the Company and third parties receive remuneration in the form of share-based compensation awards. The 
cost of equity-settled awards is measured at fair value at the date of grant using an appropriate valuation model. The cost is recognized 
in personnel expenses (for employees and directors of the Company) and other expenses (for third parties) in the consolidated 
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, respectively, as an asset for goods received in case of equity grants for 
goods, together with a corresponding credit to additional paid-in capital. The cost related to employees and directors of the Company 
is recognized on a graded vesting basis over the vesting period. The cost related to third parties is recognized on a straight-line basis 
over the period in which goods or services are received.  

The cumulative expense recognized for equity-settled awards at each reporting date until the applicable vesting date(s) reflects the 
Company’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. At each reporting date, the Company revises its 
estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is 
recognized in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income such that the cumulative expense reflects 
the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to equity reserves. 

For further details on share-based payments, refer to Note 29. 

2.16 Earnings per share 

Basic earnings available to ordinary shareholders per share is computed based on the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding, net of weighted average treasury shares held during the period. 

For diluted earnings per share, the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period, net of weighted average 
treasury shares held during the period, is adjusted to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. At present these 
include share awards granted to employees, directors, and non-employees.  
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Note 3. Business combinations 

Business combinations during the year ended December 31, 2024 

Acquisition of XL Media 

On November 13, 2024, the Company acquired certain assets from XLMedia PLC (“XL Media”), a global digital media company 
which creates online content to attract audiences and connect them to relevant advertisers. The assets acquired were transferred to 
existing subsidiaries of the Company and comprise XL Media’s operations in the US gambling affiliates market, enabling the 
Company to expand into this market. Included in the assets acquired are inputs (intellectual property rights and media contracts) and 
an assembled workforce. The Company has concluded that the acquired assets, together with the processes the assembled workforce 
can provide, are capable of generating revenue, and therefore constitute a business. The final purchase price consisted of cash 
consideration totaling €16.2 million, which has been included in cash used in investing activities in the consolidated statement of cash 
flows for the year ended December 31, 2024. The fair value of the contingent consideration as of November 13, 2024 was €2.6 
million.  

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of XL Media as of the date of acquisition are as follows: 
   

in €‘000      As of November 13, 2024
Brand Name    4,810 
Customer Base    3,392 
Technology    231 
Total assets acquired    8,433 
Goodwill    10,387 
Consideration transferred    18,820 

 
The fair value of tangible and intangible assets and liabilities was based on significant inputs not observable in the market and thus 
represent Level 3 measurements within the fair value measurement hierarchy. Level 3 fair market values were determined using a 
variety of information, including estimated future cash flows, appraisals and market comparables. 

The goodwill mainly reflects XL Media`s workforce and synergies to complement and extend Sportradar`s product suite and strategic 
growth. Goodwill is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes. 

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the seller achieved contingent consideration milestones totaling €1.0 million to be paid in 
2025. All contingent consideration was determined as of December 31, 2024, and as such the change in fair value between the 
consideration achieved and the initial fair value as of November 13, 2024 has been recognized in profit from continuing operations 
during the year.  

Transaction costs of €0.5 million were incurred and included in other operating expenses for the years ended December 31, 2024. 

Business combinations during the year ended December 31, 2023 

Acquisition of Aforoa Ltd 

On January 12, 2023, the Company acquired 100% of the voting interest in Aforoa Ltd (“Aforoa”, whose name was subsequently 
changed to Sportradar Cyprus Limited), a Cyprus based provider of software solutions which uses AI, machine learning and computer 
vision to collect and analyze data from live sports streams and videos. The final purchase price consisted of cash consideration totaling 
€4.9 million. The fair value of the contingent consideration as of January 12, 2023 was €1.4 million.  
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The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Aforoa as of the date of acquisition are as follows: 
 

   

in €‘000      As of January 12, 2023 
Technology    2,718 
Other tangible assets    6 
Cash    48 
Liabilities    (345)
Deferred tax liability, net    (340)
Net assets acquired    2,087 
Goodwill    4,236 
Consideration transferred    6,323 

 
The fair value of tangible and intangible assets and liabilities was based on significant inputs not observable in the market and thus 
represent Level 3 measurements within the fair value measurement hierarchy. Level 3 fair market values were determined using a 
variety of information, including estimated future cash flows, appraisals and market comparables. 

The goodwill mainly reflects Aforoa`s workforce and synergies to complement and extend Sportradar`s product suite and strategic 
growth. Goodwill is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes. 

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the seller achieved contingent consideration milestones totaling €0.8 million to be paid in 
2025. 

The change in the fair value measurement of the contingent consideration liability (level 3) is summarized as follows: 
   

in €‘000         
As of January 12, 2023    1,400 
Net fair value changes recognized in profit from continuing operations during the year    214 
As of December 31, 2023   1,614 
Payments during the year   (802)
Net fair value changes recognized in profit from continuing operations during the year   (49)
As of December 31, 2024    763 

 
The cash flows arising from the acquisition of Aforoa during the year ended December 31, 2023 were as follows: 
 

   

  Year Ended 
in €‘000      December 31, 2023
Cash consideration paid for acquisition of subsidiary    (4,968)
Cash acquired with the subsidiary    48 
Net cash paid for acquisition (included in cash used in investing activities)    (4,920)

 
Transaction costs of €0.1 million were incurred and included in other operating expenses for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 
2022. 

Acquisitions during the year ended December 31, 2022 

Acquisition of additional interest in Sportradar US, LLC 

On March 29, 2022, the Company purchased an additional 7% non-controlling interest in its subsidiary Sportradar US, LLC, a 
Delaware limited liability company, for €28.2 million in cash. Following this transaction, Sportradar US, LLC became a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company. The additional interest acquired resulted in a negative non-controlling interest balance of €3.2 
million being reclassified to additional paid in capital in the consolidated statements of changes in equity during the year ended 
December 31, 2022. Together with the purchase price of €28.2 million, that led to a total decrease in Additional paid in capital in the 
amount of €31.4 million. 
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Acquisition of Vaix Limited 

On April 6, 2022, the Company acquired 100% of the voting interest in Vaix Limited (“Vaix”), a private company incorporated in 
England and Wales with a wholly-owned subsidiary incorporated in Greece, Vaix Greece IKE. Vaix develops AI solutions for the 
iGaming Industry. Vaix’s innovative AI technology allows betting and gaming operators to gain a personalized view of their 
customers, which provides a more targeted, player-friendly experience. The Company paid at closing a purchase price in cash of €21.7 
million. If certain milestones stipulated in the purchase agreement are achieved, the seller will receive up to €23.4 million as cash 
payments to be paid in three tranches in addition to the initial purchase consideration. The fair value of the contingent consideration as 
of April 6, 2022 was €18.8 million. 

Transaction costs of €0.4 million were incurred and included in other operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2022. 

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Vaix as of the date of acquisition are as follows: 
 

   

in €‘000      As of April 6, 2022 
Customer base    1,630 
Technology    6,785 
Brand    1,006 
Other tangible assets    539 
Cash    689 
Liabilities    (1,791)
Deferred tax liability, net    (1,298)
Net assets acquired    7,560 
Goodwill    32,766 
Consideration transferred    40,326 

 
The fair value of tangible and intangible assets and liabilities was based on significant inputs not observable in the market and thus 
represent Level 3 measurements within the fair value measurement hierarchy. Level 3 fair market values were determined using a 
variety of information, including estimated future cash flows, appraisals and market comparables. 

The goodwill mainly reflects Vaix`s workforce and synergies to complement and extend Sportradar`s product suite and strategic 
growth. Goodwill is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes. 

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the seller achieved contingent consideration milestones totaling €7.6 million to be paid in 
2025. 

The change in the fair value measurement of the contingent consideration liability (level 3) is summarized as follows: 
 

   

in €‘000        
As of April 6, 2022    18,800 
Net fair value changes recognized in profit from continuing operations during the year    739 
As of December 31, 2022    19,539 
Payments during the year    (5,800)
Net fair value changes recognized in profit from continuing operations during the year    (2,065)
As of December 31, 2023   11,674 
Payments during the year   (5,500)
Net fair value changes recognized in profit from continuing operations during the year   1,459 
As of December 31, 2024    7,633 
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The cash flows arising from the acquisition of Vaix during the year ended December 31, 2022 were as follows: 
 

   

  Year Ended 
in €‘000      December 31, 2022 
Cash consideration paid for acquisition of subsidiary    (21,681)
Cash acquired with the subsidiary    689 
Net cash paid for acquisition (included in cash used in investing activities)    (20,992)
Transaction costs of the acquisition (included in cash from operating activities)    (373)
Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiary    (21,365)

 
Since the acquisition, the revenue, net loss before tax and net loss amounts included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2022 are €3.3 million, €0.4 million and €0.2 million, respectively. 

Acquisition of Ortec Sports B.V. 

On April 28, 2022, the Company acquired 100% of shares in Ortec Sports B.V., a Dutch limited liability company, whose name was 
subsequently changed to Sportradar B.V., for the cash purchase price of €5.7 million. The acquired business was a provider of 
technology and analytics for professional teams, national associations, and commercial organizations. 

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquired business as of the date of acquisition are as follows: 
 

   

in €‘000     As of April 28, 2022 
Customer base    582 
Technology    1,978 
Brand    383 
Other tangible assets    696 
Liabilities    (255)
Deferred tax liability, net    (746)
Net assets acquired    2,638 
Goodwill    3,079 
Consideration transferred    5,717 

 
The fair value of tangible and intangible assets and liabilities was based on significant inputs not observable in the market and thus 
represent Level 3 measurements within the fair value measurement hierarchy. Level 3 fair market values were determined using a 
variety of information, including estimated future cash flows, appraisals and market comparables. 

The goodwill mainly reflects the acquired business’s workforce and synergies to complement and extend Sportradar`s product suite 
and strategic growth. Goodwill is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes. 

The cash flows arising from this acquisition during the year ended December 31, 2022 were as follows: 
 

   

  Year Ended 
in €‘000      December 31, 2022 
Cash consideration paid for acquisition of subsidiary    (5,717)
Cash acquired with the subsidiary    25 
Net cash paid for acquisition (included in cash used in investing activities)    (5,692)
Transaction costs of the acquisition (included in cash from operating activities)    (235)
Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiary    (5,927)

 
During the year ended December 31, 2023, an additional deferred consideration of €0.6 million, which was withheld for any possible 
claims, was paid in cash and is included in cash used for investing activities in the consolidated statement of cash flows. 

Since the acquisition, the revenue, net loss before tax and net loss amounts included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2022 are €1.7 million, €0.7 million and €0.6 million, respectively.  
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Acquisition of additional interest in NSoft Group 

The NSoft Group, comprising NSoft d.o.o. (“NSoft”), Mostar, Bosnia and Herzegovina and its wholly-owned subsidiaries STARK 
Solutions d.o.o., a company incorporated in Bosnia and Herzegovina, and N-Soft Solutions d.o.o., a company incorporated in Croatia, 
traditionally acted as a partner for Sportradar. The NSoft group is a leading provider of betting software and offers a retail portfolio of 
games to bookmakers operating in the Eastern European market. Until April 28, 2022, Sportradar held 40% of the shares of NSoft. On 
April 29, 2022, the Company acquired an additional 30% for cash consideration of €12.0 million, increasing its ownership to 70%. As 
of December 31, 2022, NSoft was a consolidated entity of the Company. 

Transaction costs of €0.3 million were incurred and included in other operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2022. 

For the year ended and as of December 31, 2021, NSoft was an associate and accounted for using the equity method of accounting. 
The fair value of the previous held interest in NSoft on the date of acquisition was €16.2 million. The Company’s carrying value on 
the date of acquisition of the additional interest was €8.3 million. A gain of €7.7 million has been recognized on the remeasurement of 
the previously held equity-accounted investee within the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for 
the year ended December 31, 2022. 

In October 2024, the Company entered into a call option agreement with the minority owner of NSoft, giving the Company the right to 
purchase the remaining 30% of NSoft. No cash consideration was exchanged at the time of entering this agreement, and there is no 
obligation of the Company to exercise its option. As of December 31, 2024, the option had not been exercised, nor had any payments 
been made, therefore there are no transactions to recognize as of or for the year-ended December 31, 2024. 

The Company elected to measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree at the proportionate share of its interest in the acquiree’s 
identifiable net assets. The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of NSoft as of the date of acquisition of the additional 
interest are as follows: 
 

   

in €‘000      As of April 29, 2022 
Customer base    4,509 
Technology    8,706 
Brand    2,513 
Property and equipment    2,624 
Other tangible assets    5,155 
Cash    1,868 
Other liabilities    (3,523)
Deferred tax liability, net    (1,096)
Net assets acquired    20,756 
Goodwill    13,471 
Non-controlling interest (30%)    (6,227)
Consideration transferred    28,000 

 
The fair value of tangible and intangible assets and liabilities was based on significant inputs not observable in the market and thus 
represent Level 3 measurements within the fair value measurement hierarchy. Level 3 fair market values were determined using a 
variety of information, including estimated future cash flows, appraisals and market comparables. 

The goodwill mainly reflects NSoft`s workforce and synergies to complement and extend Sportradar`s product suite and strategic 
growth. Goodwill is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes. 
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The cash flows arising from the acquisition of NSoft during the year ended December 31, 2022 were as follows: 
 

   

  Year Ended 
in €‘000      December 31, 2022
Cash consideration paid for acquisition of subsidiary    (12,000)
Cash acquired with the subsidiary    1,868 
Net cash paid for acquisition (included in cash used in investing activities)    (10,132)
Transaction costs of the acquisition (included in cash from operating activities)    (261)
Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiary    (10,393)

 
Since the acquisition, the revenue, net loss before tax and net loss amounts included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2022 are €14.4 million, €1.5 million and €1.3 million, respectively.  

Acquisition of Bettech Gaming (PTY) LTD 

On August 4, 2022, Sportradar acquired 100% of the shares of Bettech Gaming (PTY) LTD (“BetTech”), a betting platform based in 
Cape Town, South Africa from the Company’s Chief Executive, Carsten Koerl, and minority shareholders for consideration of €7.0 
million. The Company’s acquisition of BetTech was an acquisition under common control and was a related party transaction (refer to 
Note 26). 

Immediately upon closing of the Company’s acquisition of BetTech, the Company contributed 100% of the shares of BetTech based 
on an enterprise value of €10.0 million to SportTech AG (SportTech), in addition to cash payments totaling €27.9 million, for a 49% 
ownership in SportTech. The Company recorded a €3.0 million gain upon contribution of BetTech as part of additional paid-in capital 
for the year ended December 31, 2022. As SportTech was an associate of the Company, the contributions in 2022 were a related party 
transaction (refer to Note 26). 

On May 31, 2023, the Company sold its 49% interest in SportTech to the majority shareholder, Ringier AG (“Ringier”), at which time 
BetTech was acquired and became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The Company’s board of directors simultaneously 
approved a plan to sell BetTech and BetTech was classified as disposal group held for sale until the date it was sold. BetTech was sold 
to a third party on November 30, 2023 and is not a subsidiary of the Company as of December 31, 2023 (refer to Note 27). 
 
Note 4. Revenue from contracts with customers 

Revenue for the Company’s major product groups consists of the following for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022: 
       

  Years Ended December 31, 
in €‘000      2024      2023      2022 
Betting Technology & Solutions     

Betting and Gaming Content    707,119    530,099    444,280 
Managed Betting Services    199,871    173,391    135,157 

Total Betting Technology & Solutions    906,990    703,490    579,437 
Sports Content, Technology & Services       

Marketing & Media Services   146,919   126,629   105,478 
Sports Performance    40,366    39,758    37,412 
Integrity Services    12,281    7,744    7,861 

Total Sports Content, Technologies & Services    199,566    174,131    150,751 
Total Revenue    1,106,556    877,621    730,188 
 
Performance obligations and revenue recognition policies 

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer. The Company recognizes revenue when it 
provides a service to a customer. 



F-27 

Betting Technology & Solutions: 

Betting Technology & Solutions primarily serve betting operator clients by providing reliable and comprehensive sports data and 
content from sporting events across the world, as well as virtual sports and games, along with liability and player, trading, and risk 
management via our managed trading platform. These solutions are comprised of Betting and Gaming Content and Managed Betting 
Services. Betting and Gaming Content is further comprised of Live Data and Odds Services, Streaming & Betting Engagement 
solutions, and iGaming solutions.  

Live Data and Odd Services: 

For live data and odd services clients, a service is provided for an agreed number of matches, with sports data to be retrieved on 
demand over a contract period (referred to as the stand ready service). Customers also have the ability to select additional matches 
(“single match booking” or “SMB”) over and above the agreed upon package. The SMBs are a separate contract for distinct services 
sold at their stand-alone prices. 

The stand ready service is provided over a period of time. As the performance obligations and associated method of satisfaction 
measurement are substantially the same, the stand ready service represents a series. In general, there is one performance obligation for 
the series and therefore, revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the contract period. The data and service level 
commitments are generally consistent on a monthly basis over the term of the arrangement. As the service is provided evenly over the 
contract term, a straight-line measure of progress is appropriate for recognizing revenue. Revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis 
consistent with the entity’s efforts to fulfill the contract which are even throughout the period. In assessing the nature of the obligation, 
the Company considered all relevant facts and circumstances, including the timing of transfer of goods or services, and concluded that 
the entity’s efforts are expended evenly throughout the contract period. 

SMBs are provided on request from customers and result in separate contracts. The price for each match is determined on a stand-
alone basis and revenue relating to SMBs is recognized at a point in time, which generally coincides with the performance of the 
actual matches. 

There are certain sport betting contracts with customers that incorporate a revenue share scheme. The Company receives a share of 
revenue based on the gaming revenue generated from the betting activity on the match. The revenue share gives rise to variable 
consideration for each match, which is initially constrained until the point in time when the customer generates gaming revenue. The 
revenue share is generated from live betting events and recognized at the point in time of the actual customer sale performance. The 
Company’s fee on the revenue share is recognized at the point of time the customer has itself generated gaming revenue from an 
individual bet, which is the difference between the bet and the payout. 

Streaming & Betting Engagement:  

Streaming & Betting Engagement solutions generates revenue from the sale of a live streaming solution for online, mobile and retail 
sport betting offers. The stand ready service is provided over a period of time. As the performance obligations and associated method 
of satisfaction measurement are substantially the same, the stand ready service represents a series. In general, there is one performance 
obligation for the series and, therefore, revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the contract term. Should the customer have 
demand that exceeds the level of performance in the contract, Sportradar provides this additional service level at the standalone market 
selling price. The additional obligation is satisfied, and the revenue recorded in the period of over performance.  

iGaming:  

For Virtual gaming, the Company receives income from a revenue share arrangement with clients in exchange for the provision of 
virtual sports data. The Company receives a share of revenue based on the income generated from the betting activity on the virtual 
game. The customer is not obliged to pay until it has itself generated income from the online betting activity. This results in variable 
consideration that is initially constrained and recognized on the basis of actual customer sale performance. 

Managed Betting Services (“MBS”): 

MBS includes Managed Trading Services (“MTS”) and Sports Betting & iGaming Platform (formerly Managed Sportsbook Services 
or MSS). 
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MTS revenue consists of the percentage of winnings and fees charged to clients if a “bet slip” is accepted. MTS clients forward their 
proposed bets, known as “bet slips”, to the Company for consideration as to whether or not the bet is advisable. The Company has the 
ability to accept or decline this bet slip. If a bet slip is accepted, the Company will receive a share of the revenue or loss made by the 
client on the bet. MTS agreements typically specify an agreed minimum fee and revenue share percentage, and the actual fee is 
determined as the higher of the minimum fee and revenue share. The revenue share is based on gross or net gaming revenue. Gross 
gaming revenue is the total volume of stakes in excess of the total amount of payouts to betting customers. Net gaming revenue is 
gross gaming revenue less applicable taxes and other contractually agreed adjustments. Most MTS contracts also include a loss 
participation clause (i.e., in case the Gross/Net gaming revenue is negative). The Company is exposed to losses by the agreed loss 
participation percentage (typically the same percentage as the revenue share). Revenue is recognized monthly on the basis of actual 
performance (revenue share or minimum fee, if the revenue share is below agreed minimum fee).  

Sports Betting & iGaming Platform provides a complete turnkey solution (including platform set-up and continuous access support). 
The platform set-up fee is recognized over the time the platform is built. Access fees are recognized on a monthly basis or on the basis 
of actual performance for revenue share arrangements. 

Sports Content, Technology & Solutions:  

These services consist of Marketing & Media services, Sports Performance and Integrity services: 

Marketing & Media services revenue: 

The Company provides marketing solutions and technology including services for brands, rightholders, betting and gaming operators 
and media companies. Customers generally agree to marketing commitments, either on a per campaign basis or for a fixed period 
commitment. Revenue is recognized over the time when the services are performed or equally over the contract term. Marketing 
services also include digital advertising services where the Company is buying advertising inventory and reselling inventory to its 
customers. Under these arrangements, the Company may act as either a principal or as an agent which may require judgement to 
determine if the nature of the Company’s obligation to the customer is to provide the specified goods or services, or to arrange for 
those goods or services to be provided by the other party. 

Sports Performance revenue:  

Sports Solutions generate revenue from subscription based arrangements. The customer, either professional or college sports teams, 
purchases access to proprietary technology which links meaningful sports data and video clips to create visual statistics and analytics 
about players, teams, and specific games. Teams can sort and filter statistics and video clips in real time to better understand player 
and team strengths and weaknesses. Subscription is billed in advance for the entire service period, typically one year. Revenue is 
recognized equally over each month over the service period.  

Integrity services revenue:  

Integrity services consists of monitoring, intelligence, education, and consultancy solutions for sports organizations, state authorities, 
and law enforcement agencies to support them in the fight against match-fixing and corruption. Revenue is primarily recognized on a 
straight-line basis over the contract term.  

Transaction price considerations 

Variable consideration: If consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the Company estimates the amount of consideration 
to which it will be entitled in exchange for services rendered to the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract 
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal will not occur when the related uncertainty is 
subsequently resolved. The revenue sharing and discounts give rise to variable consideration. 

Non-cash consideration: Where the transaction price in a contract with a customer includes non-cash consideration, the Company 
measures that non-cash consideration at fair value. If the fair value of the non-cash consideration cannot be reasonably estimated, the 
Company measures it indirectly, by reference to the stand-alone selling price of the goods or services promised to the customer in 
exchange for the consideration. 
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Allocation of transaction price to performance obligations: Contracts with customers as described above may include multiple 
performance obligations. For such contracts, the transaction price is allocated to performance obligations on a relative standalone 
selling price basis. Standalone selling prices are estimated based on observable data of the Company’s sales for services sold 
separately in similar circumstances and to similar customers. If the standalone selling price cannot be determined based on observable 
data, the Company will apply a cost plus mark-up approach. 

Price adjustments or discounts: Contractually agreed price adjustments or discounts are taken into consideration for revenue 
recognition over the service period on a straight-line basis for contracts in which revenue is recognized over time. 

Certain costs to obtain or fulfill contracts 

IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers notes that incremental costs of obtaining a contract and certain costs to fulfil a 
contract must be recognized as an asset if certain criteria are met. Any capitalized costs must be amortized on a basis which is 
consistent with services rendered to the customer. The Company did not identify significant incremental costs (i.e. costs that the 
Company would not incur if the contract is not signed). Main costs to fulfil the contracts relate to sport rights and licenses, and 
software, which are capitalized as intangible assets and amortized over their useful life. 

Significant payment terms 

Stand ready services such as Betting data / Betting entertainment tools, and Betting AV are billed in advance periodically (typically 
monthly or quarterly). Other services such as MBS, Virtual gaming, Media and advertising are billed in arrears. Payment terms are 
typically net 10 days. 

Contract assets and liabilities 

The timing of revenue recognition may differ from the timing of invoicing to customers. These timing differences, and barter deals 
with sport rights licensors, result in contract assets or contract liabilities. Refer to Note 16 and Note 23 for further details. 

Note 5. Segmental information 

The Company’s chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) is the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”). The CODM monitors the 
operating results of the Company for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment.  

In October 2023, the Company initiated several measures to ensure greater efficiency and to realign its business and strategic 
priorities. The restructuring measures were completed in January 2024 upon announcement of the new global organization and 
leadership structure. In light of these organizational changes, the Company reassessed its segment identification analysis under this 
guidance, and concluded that effective January 1, 2024, discrete financial information was available and used by the CODM to 
allocate resources solely on a consolidated basis, therefore the Company has only one operating and reporting segment. In accordance 
with IFRS 8, due to the change in segments, the corresponding information for historic periods has been restated for comparability 
with the current presentation. Operating results of the Company can be seen in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income. 
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Geographic information 

The geographic information analyzes the Company’s revenue by region, country of domicile (Switzerland) and any country that 
accounts for more than 10% of revenue during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022. Revenue for Switzerland was €9.6 
million, €9.2 million and €10.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Revenue for United 
States was €262.8 million, €166.0 million and €127.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. In 
presenting the geographic information, revenue is attributed based on the geographic billing location of customers, aligned with the 
primary economic environment in which they operate. 

       

Revenue     Years Ended December 31, 
in €‘000   2024     2023      2022 
North America   301,269   195,883   151,781 
Africa   26,918   23,308   26,292 
AsiaPac & Middle East   116,466   108,412   82,591 
Europe   562,024   464,012   400,798 
LATAM & Caribbean   99,879   86,006   68,726 
Total    1,106,556    877,621    730,188 

 
The geographic information analyzes the Company’s non-current assets by the Company’s country of domicile (Switzerland) and 
other countries. In presenting the geographic information, the non-current assets are based on the entity that holds the associated 
assets. Non-current assets exclude deferred tax assets and other financial assets. 

     

Non-current assets     As of December 31, 
in €‘000   2024      2023 
Switzerland    1,218,323    1,307,794 
Germany    57,790    59,535 
United States    230,903    225,759 
Other countries1    173,028    183,351 
Total    1,680,044    1,776,439 

 
1 No individual country represented more than 10% of the total. 

Major customer 

The Company did not have any individual customer that accounted for more than 10% of revenue during the years ended December 
31, 2024, 2023 and 2022. 

Note 6. Purchased services and sport rights expenses 

Reclassification of sport rights expenses 

The following tables shows the reclassification of sport rights expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income as described in Note 1.5: 

       

     Year-Ended 
  December 31, 2023 

     Previously           
  reported in    Currently 
in €‘000  Form 20-F  Reclassifications reported 
Purchased services and licenses (excluding depreciation and 

amortization)1    (205,876)   54,171    (151,705)
Depreciation and amortization2    (206,362)   160,018    (46,344)
Sport rights expenses    —    (214,189)   (214,189)

 
1 - This line is now “Purchased services” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
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2 - This line is now “Depreciation and amortization (excluding amortization of capitalized sport rights licenses)” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income 

       

     Year-Ended 
  December 31, 2022 

     Previously           
  reported in    Currently 
in €‘000  Form 20-F  Reclassifications reported 
Purchased services and licenses (excluding depreciation and 

amortization)1    (175,997)   46,812    (129,185)
Depreciation and amortization2    (184,813)   140,200    (44,613)
Sport rights expenses   —    (187,012)   (187,012)

 
1 - This line is now “Purchased services” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

2 - This line is now “Depreciation and amortization (excluding amortization of capitalized sport rights licenses)” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income 

The following tables shows the reclassifications of the related amounts in the consolidated statement of cash flows as described in 
Note 1.5: 

       

     Year-Ended 
  December 31, 2023 

     Previously            
  reported in    Currently 
in €‘000  Form 20-F  Reclassifications reported 
Amortization and impairment of intangible assets    201,620    (201,620)   — 
Depreciation of property and equipment    14,596    (14,596)   — 
Amortization of capitalized sport rights licenses    —    160,018    160,018 
Depreciation and amortization (excluding amortization of 

capitalized sport rights licenses)    —    46,344    46,344 
Impairment losses on goodwill and intangible assets    —    9,854    9,854 
Net cash from operating activities    258,645    —    258,645 

 
       

     Year-Ended 
  December 31, 2022 

     Previously            
  reported in    Currently 
in €‘000  Form 20-F  Reclassifications reported 
Amortization and impairment of intangible assets    172,831    (172,831)  — 
Depreciation of property and equipment    11,982    (11,982)  — 
Amortization of capitalized sport rights licenses   —    140,200    140,200 
Depreciation and amortization (excluding amortization of 

capitalized sport rights licenses)   —    44,613    44,613 
Net cash from operating activities    168,077    —    168,077 
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The following table represents purchased services after the above reclassifications: 
       

      Years Ended December 31, 
in €‘000  2024      2023      2022 
Production costs   69,379   40,742   40,249 
Ads costs and operational fees   40,115   32,049   27,665 
Consultancy fees   24,120   27,694   19,426 
Data journalist and freelancer fees   22,352   24,148   23,650 
Variable service fees   8,854   6,251   5,505 
Cost of materials and goods   2,808   13,682   3,207 
Sales agents   2,042   2,694   2,987 
Other costs   5,912   4,445   6,496 
Total    175,582    151,705    129,185 
 
The following table shows the composition of sport rights expenses after the above reclassifications: 
       

  Years Ended December 31, 
in €‘000      2024      2023      2022 
Non-capitalized sport rights expenses    118,490    54,171    46,812 
Amortization of capitalized sport rights    233,945    160,018    140,200 
Total sport rights expenses    352,435    214,189    187,012 
 

 
 

Note 7. Other operating expenses 

The following table represents other operating expenses: 
       

      Years Ended December 31, 
in €‘000  2024      2023      2022 
Legal and other consulting expenses    29,912    28,778    42,952 
Software-as-a Service and similar rights    20,398    17,614    13,664 
Travel expenses    10,082    8,742    6,524 
Marketing expenses    9,193    7,830    7,798 
Insurance    4,342    6,618    12,225 
Office expenses    5,403    5,082    3,772 
Telecommunication and IT expenses    2,891    4,994    4,652 
Other external and administrative costs    11,316    9,785    4,304 
Total    93,537    89,443    95,891 
 

 
Note 8. Foreign currency (losses) gains, net 

The following table represents foreign currency losses and gains, net: 
       

      Years Ended December 31, 
in €‘000   2024      2023      2022 
Foreign currency gains    50,707    65,594    101,627 
Foreign currency losses    (88,930)   (42,389)   (74,937)
Total    (38,223)   23,205    26,690 
 
For additional information related to the Company’s exposure to foreign currency, refer to Note 24.6. 
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Note 9. Finance income 

The following table represents finance income: 
       

      Years Ended December 31, 
in €‘000   2024      2023      2022 
Interest income    9,285    7,683    5,250 
Other finance income    1,667    5,165   — 
Total    10,952    12,848    5,250 
 
 

 
Note 10. Finance costs 

The following table represents finance costs: 
       

      Years Ended December 31, 
in €‘000   2024      2023      2022 
Interest expense             
Accrued interest on license fee payables    71,892    27,369    17,282 
Interest on loans and borrowings    5,280    3,745    22,121 
Other interest expense    298    337    634 
Other finance costs       
Other finance costs    1,400    2,280    1,410 
Total    78,870    33,731    41,447 
 

 
Note 11. Income taxes 

The following income taxes are recognized in profit from continuing operations: 
       

Income taxes       Years Ended December 31, 
in €‘000   2024      2023      2022 
Current tax expense:             
Current year    12,277    9,251   11,540 
Changes in estimates related to prior years    (547)   (1,245)  (187)
Deferred tax expense:      
Origination and reversal of temporary differences    (9,922)   1,545   (9,354)
Tax step-up write-down    2,200    3,000   5,300 
Recognition of previously unrecognized deferred tax assets    (15,066)   —   — 
Income tax (benefit) expense reported in profit from continuing operations    (11,060)   12,551   7,299 
 
International Tax Reform—Pillar Two Model Rules 

The Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (“OECD”) has published Global Anti-Base Erosion (“GloBE”) Model 
Rules, which include a minimum 15% tax rate by jurisdiction (“Pillar Two”). Pillar Two legislation has been enacted or substantively 
enacted in certain jurisdictions in which the Company operates. The Company is not in scope of the enacted or substantively enacted 
legislation as its consolidated revenue does not exceed €750 million in at least two of the four years preceding the year ended 
December 31, 2024. 

As the Company will be in scope of the new Pillar Two regulation for the year ending December 31, 2025, it has initiated a specific 
project to implement Pillar Two model rules. The relevant set of Pillar Two rules provides for a transition period in which the in-scope 
multinational groups may avoid performing the complex GloBE calculations required by the new legislation. In particular, Pillar Two 
legislation provides for transitional safe harbor (“TSH”) rules that apply to the first three fiscal years following the entry into force of 
the relevant regulation. Based on the analysis in progress, the Company should benefit from the TSH rules in 2025 in the jurisdictions 
it operates in, therefore, the Company is not expecting any material impact of the Pillar Two rules in 2025. The Company is 
continuing to follow Pillar Two legislative developments to evaluate the potential future impact on the Company’s consolidated 
results of operations, financial position and cash flows beginning in 2025. 
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Income tax regulations for Switzerland: 

The effective tax rate for Sportradar increased from 9.0% to 14.5% as of January 1, 2020. Because of this, entities including 
Sportradar AG, the Company’s primary operating company, which previously benefited from the 9% rate due to their international 
activities, are deemed to dispose and reacquire their overseas operations free of tax. The uplift in value of these operations is then 
deductible for tax purposes over the next ten years (Tax-step up). Within Sportradar AG this tax-free step-up amount totals €1,948.0 
million. This represents a deductible temporary difference as this is a tax basis for an asset which has no carrying value on the 
Company balance sheet. In 2022, 2023, and 2024 write-downs on the previously recognized deferred tax asset were recognized in the 
amount of €5.3 million, €3.0 million and €2.2 million, respectively, given the expectation on the usage of the expected tax benefits in 
Switzerland were reduced. As of December 31, 2024 the deferred tax asset amounts to €5.1 million. 

The reconciliation of the changes in the net deferred tax asset (liability) recognized in the consolidated statements of financial 
position: 

     

in €‘000      2024      2023 
Net deferred tax asset as of January 1,    (4,932)   966 
Additions from business combinations   —    (340)
Recognized in other comprehensive income    26    130 
Recognized in profit from continuing operations    22,789    (4,545)
Foreign currency translation adjustment    (549)   (1,143)
Net deferred tax asset (liability) as of December 31,    17,333    (4,932)

 
The changes during the year ended December 31, 2024 are primarily attributable to recognition of deferred tax assets on unused tax 
losses in Sportradar Group AG and temporary differences on unrealized foreign exchange rate losses on license payables. The changes 
during the year ended December 31, 2023 are primarily attributable to additions due to the acquisition of Aforoa during the year (refer 
to Note 3), the impairment of intangible assets, and the additional write-off of the tax step-up during the year ended December 31, 
2023. 

The deferred tax assets and (liabilities) relate to the following items: 
         

      December 31,  
  2024  2023 
   Consolidated      Consolidated    
    statement of   Consolidated    statement of   Consolidated 
    financial    statement of    financial    statement of 
in €‘000    position      profit or loss      position      profit or loss 
Other assets and prepayments    9,397    (1,604)  11,001   1,015 
Intangible assets    (19,907)   11,903   (31,261)  (5,057)
Trade and other payables    1,232    (7,804)  9,036   848 
Tax loss carry-forward    16,254    11,411   4,843   230 
Tax step-up (write-down)    5,100    (2,200)  7,300   (3,000)
Other assets non-current    (1,781)   (1,240)  (541)  5,401 
Other    7,038    12,323   (5,310)  (3,982)
Deferred tax income (expense)       22,789       (4,545)
Net deferred tax asset (liability)    17,333       (4,932)    
Reflected in the consolidated statements of financial position as follows:             
Deferred tax assets    36,376       16,383     
Deferred tax liabilities    (19,043)      (21,315)    
Deferred tax asset (liability), net    17,333       (4,932)    
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The applicable tax rate for the tax expense reconciliation below is taken from the income tax rate for the holding entity Sportradar 
Group AG at 14.3%, 14.3% and 14.4% for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The differences between 
the income tax expense calculated by the applicable tax rate and the effective income tax are as follows: 
        

      Years Ended December 31,   
in €‘000   2024      2023      2022  
Net income before tax    22,552    47,196    17,790  
Applicable tax rate    14.3 %   14.3 %   14.4 %
Tax expense applying the Company tax rate    (3,223)   (6,744)    (2,562) 
Effect of tax losses and tax offsets not recognized as deferred tax assets    2,725    (2,276)    1,134  
Effect on recognition of deferred tax assets, on previous unused tax losses and tax offsets    15,066   —   —  
Changes in estimates related to prior years    547    1,245    187  
Effect of non-deductible expenses    (779)   (1,337)    (3,020) 
Effect of non-taxable remeasurement of previously held equity-accounted investee  —  —   1,116  
Effect of difference to the Company tax rate    (1,752)   517    854  
Other effects    675    (956)    292  
Tax step-up write-down    (2,200)   (3,000)    (5,300) 
Income tax benefit (expense)    11,060    (12,551)    (7,299) 
Effective tax rate    (49.0)%   26.6 %   41.0 %
 
For the year ended December 31, 2022, the effect of tax losses primarily relates to gains in the Company’s Luxembourg subsidiary 
and Sportradar Group AG in which unused tax losses are yet to be recognized. The effect of tax losses is partially offset by losses 
attributable to Atrium Sports Inc. (“Atrium”) not recognized as deferred tax assets. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024, 
the effect of tax losses relates mainly to losses at Atrium not recognized as deferred tax assets, which is partially offset gains in other 
entities. The significant positive effect on recognition of deferred tax assets, on previous unused tax losses and tax offsets are mainly 
coming from Sportradar Group AG. With the final tax assessments for prior years from the tax authorities confirming the amount of 
tax losses carried forward to be definitive, the expected profits in Sportradar Group AG, given the operational transfer pricing, lead to 
tax losses becoming recoverable. 

For the years ended December 31, 2023, the changes in estimates related to prior years mainly relate to an expected tax refund which 
is connected to the prior tax litigation in Norway. 

Effect of non-deductible expenses for the year ended December 31, 2022 were the share-based compensation relating to the MPP 
share awards, awards granted to the sellers of Atrium and the participation certificates issued to a director of the Company, which are 
non-tax deductible. In 2022 the remeasurement of previously held equity-accounted investee is non-taxable. 

The periods in which the tax loss carryforwards that are not recognized as deferred tax assets may be used are as follows: 
     

Periods in which tax loss carry-forwards not recognized as deferred tax assets may be used      As of December 31, 
in €‘000   2024      2023 
Unlimited    90,257    105,143 
will expire within 5 years    2,350,223    2,470,875 
will expire thereafter   40,428   25,295 
Tax loss carry-forward    2,480,908    2,601,313 
 
The majority of the non-recognized tax loss-carry forwards relates to Sportradar Group AG, Atrium, and Sportradar Americas Inc, 
where part of the accumulated tax losses is not expected to be recoverable. The €2.1 billion tax losses not recognized as deferred tax 
assets in the year ended December 31, 2021 (revalued as €2.3 billion for the year ended December 31, 2024) relate to Sportradar 
Group AG and the partially written off investment in Sportradar Holding AG and Slam InvestCo S.à r.l. in statutory accounts as a 
result of a decline in the Company’s share price compared to the Company’s share price on the date of the Company’s initial public 
offering. 
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Note 12. Earnings per share (EPS) 

Basic earnings available to ordinary shareholders per share is computed based on the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the period, net of weighted average number of treasury shares held during the period. Exercisable warrants with an 
exercise price for little to no consideration are included in basic EPS. 

Diluted earnings per share reflects potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue Class A shares were 
issued but not securities that are anti-dilutive. RSUs, options and warrants with time-based only service requirements are considered 
outstanding for dilutive EPS until the earlier of vest date or forfeiture date.  

Class A and Class B shareholders are entitled to dividends based on the nominal value of the ordinary shares. As the Class B shares 
have lower nominal value, the shares are entitled to 1/10 of the dividends attributable to Class A shares. 

The following table reflects the share data used for the weighted-average number of Class A shares (basic): 
 
       

  Years Ended December 31, 
in thousands of shares      2024      2023      2022 
Issued Class A shares as of January 1    207,794    206,849    206,572 
Effect of Class A shares issued   978   346   222 
Effect of options and warrants exercised or exercisable    2,654    519   — 
Effect of treasury shares held    (1,157)   (197)   (246)
Weighted-average number of Class A shares as of December 31 (basic)    210,269    207,517    206,548 
 
The following table reflects the share data used for the weighted-average number of Class A shares (diluted): 
       

  Years Ended December 31, 
in thousands of shares      2024      2023      2022 
Weighted-average number of Class A shares as of December 31 (basic)    210,269    207,517    206,548 
Effect of unvested RSUs, PSUs, options, and warrants      17,211    19,129    15,619 
Weighted-average number of Class A shares as of December 31 (diluted)    227,480    226,646    222,167 
 
The following table reflects the share data used for the weighted-average number of Class B shares (basic and diluted): 
       

  Years Ended December 31, 
in thousands of shares      2024      2023      2022 
Issued Class B shares as of January 1    903,671    903,671    903,671 
Weighted-average number of Class B shares as of December 31 (basic and diluted)    903,671    903,671    903,671 
 
The following tables reflect the income data used in the basic and diluted EPS calculations for profit attributable to owners of the 
Company: 
       

  Years Ended December 31, 
in €‘000      2024      2023      2022 
Profit attributable to Class A shares owners    23,845    24,152    7,580 
Profit attributable to Class B shares owners    10,305    10,503    3,311 
Profit attributable to owners of the Company     34,150    34,655    10,891 
 
       

      Years Ended December 31, 
  2024      2023      2022 
Basic EPS from profit attributable to Class A shares owners    0.11    0.12    0.04 
Diluted EPS from profit attributable to Class A shares owners   0.10   0.11   0.03 
Basic and diluted EPS from profit attributable to Class B shares owners    0.01    0.01    0.00 
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The following tables reflect the income data used in the basic and diluted EPS calculations for loss from discontinued operations 
attributable to owners of the Company for the years presented: 
 
       

      Years Ended December 31, 
in €‘000  2024      2023      2022 
Loss from discontinued operations attributable to Class A shares owners    —    (524)    — 
Loss from discontinued operations attributable to Class B shares owners    —    (227)    — 
Loss from discontinued operations attributable to owners of the Company    —    (751)    — 
 
       

      Years Ended December 31, 
  2024      2023      2022 
Basic EPS from discontinued operations attributable to Class A shares owners    —   0.00    — 
Diluted EPS from discontinued operations attributable to Class A shares owners    —   0.00    — 
Basic and diluted EPS from discontinued operations attributable to Class B shares owners    —   0.00    — 
 
The following tables reflect the income data used in the basic and diluted EPS calculations for profit from continuing operations 
attributable to owners of the Company for the years presented: 
       

  Years Ended December 31, 
in €‘000      2024      2023      2022 
Profit for the year from continuing operations attributable to Class A shares owners   23,845   24,675   7,580 
Profit for the year from continuing operations attributable to Class B shares owners    10,305    10,731    3,311 
Profit for the year from continuing operations attributable to owners of the Company    34,150    35,406    10,891 
 
       

  Years Ended December 31, 
      2024      2023      2022 
Basic EPS from profit for the year from continuing operations attributable to Class A 

shares owners   0.11   0.12   0.04 
Diluted EPS from profit for the year from continuing operations attributable to Class A 

shares owners    0.10    0.11    0.03 
Basic and diluted EPS from profit for the year from continuing operations attributable to 

Class B shares owners    0.01    0.01    0.00 
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Note 13. Intangible assets and goodwill 
               

                            Internally-           
Cost  Brand  Customer      developed     
in €‘000  name  base  Licenses  Technology  software  Goodwill  Total 
Balance as of January 1, 2023    13,177    75,970   741,626   107,601   64,939   315,814   1,319,127 
Additions   —   —   1,023,457   6,324   28,301  —   1,058,082 
Additions through business combinations (Note 3)   —   —  —   2,718  —   4,236   6,954 
Disposals    (71)   (776)  (226,020)  (3,000)  (5,170) —   (235,037)
Disposal due to reduction in service potential   —   —   (4,077) —  —  —   (4,077)
Translation adjustments    (78)   (619)  (127)  (2,258)  (1,545)  (5,652)  (10,279)
Balance as of December 31, 2023    13,028    74,575   1,534,859   111,385   86,525   314,398   2,134,770 
Additions   —   —   96,627   1,773   50,008  —   148,408 
Additions through business combinations (Note 3)    4,810    3,392  —   231  —   10,388   18,821 
Disposals    (70)   (768)  (189,266)  (1,156)  (5) —   (191,265)
Disposal due to reduction in service potential   —   —   (4,476) —  —  —   (4,476)
Translation adjustments    233    1,527   928   4,540   380   12,328   19,936 
Balance as of December 31, 2024    18,001    78,726   1,438,672   116,773   136,908   337,114   2,126,194 
        
Accumulated amortization and impairment          
€‘000        
Balance as of January 1, 2023    (7,709)   (34,973)  (367,405)  (26,444)  (27,139)  (11,825)  (475,495)
Amortization    (1,246)   (6,664)  (161,279)  (13,728)  (8,849) —   (191,766)
Impairment (Note 13.1)   (311)  (1,142) —   (1,908) —   (6,493)  (9,854)
Disposals    71    776   227,800   3,000   5,170  —   236,817 
Translation adjustments    60    144   569   864   901   321   2,859 
Balance as of December 31, 2023    (9,135)   (41,859)  (300,315)  (38,216)  (29,917)  (17,997)  (437,439)
Amortization    (1,258)   (6,079)  (236,557)  (12,348)  (11,923) —   (268,165)
Impairment (Note 13.1)   —   —  —   (167) —  —   (167)
Disposals    70    768   189,266   1,156   5  —   191,265 
Translation adjustments    (170)   (529)  (248)  (2,832)  (143)  (709)  (4,631)
Balance as of December 31, 2024    (10,493)   (47,699)  (347,854)  (52,407)  (41,978)  (18,706)  (519,137)
Carrying amount          
As of January 1, 2023   5,468   40,997   374,221   81,157   37,800   303,989   843,632 
As of December 31, 2023    3,893    32,716   1,234,544   73,169   56,608   296,401   1,697,331 
As of December 31, 2024    7,508    31,027   1,090,818   64,366   94,930   318,408   1,607,057 
 
Brand name 

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, brand names with a carrying amount of €0.9 million, have indefinite useful lives. These are 
classified as intangible assets with indefinite useful lives based on an analysis of the product life cycles and other relevant factors 
indicating that the future positive cash flows are expected to be generated for an indefinite period of time. 

Internally-developed software 

During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Company capitalized internally-developed software costs of €50.0 
million, €28.3 million and €17.7 million, respectively, which are shown separately on the consolidated statements of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income in the following line items: 
 
       

      Years Ended December 31, 
in €‘000  2024      2023      2022 
Personnel expenses    28,392    21,773    15,560 
Purchased services     21,616    6,528    2,170 
Internally-developed software cost capitalized    50,008    28,301    17,730 
 



F-39 

Licenses 

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, additions to licenses in the amount of €86.1 million and €882.2 million, respectively, were unpaid 
and recognized as liabilities. Included in these amount are €1.5 million and €46.0 million related to barter transactions as of December 
31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

There were no additions resulting from granted equity instruments for the year ended December 31, 2024. As of December 31, 2023, 
additions of €87.3 million relate to a recognized asset resulting from granted equity instruments and a warrant to a licensor. 

During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Company settled €161.4 million, €143.1 million and €117.7 million, 
respectively, of prior years’ liabilities related to the acquisition of intangible assets. 

During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the cash outflows for acquisitions of intangible assets amounted to €222.3 
million, €185.5 million and €154.3 million, respectively. 

There are five individual sport rights included within licenses which represent greater than approximately 5% of the overall balance 
and these have a cumulative net book value of €974.5 million and constitute 90% of the balance as of December 31, 2024. The 
weighted average remaining useful life of these licenses is 6.2 years. The remaining cumulative net book value has a weighted average 
useful life of 3.1 years. 

13.1 Impairment test 

Goodwill 

In January 2024, the Company completed a series of strategic actions to streamline its organizational structure, which resulted in 
certain changes to its operating segments. Refer to Note 5 for further information. Effective for the year ended December 31, 2024, for 
the purpose of goodwill impairment testing, the Company allocates all of its goodwill to the Company as a whole, since this is the 
level at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.  

For the year-ended December 31, 2023, goodwill impairment testing was performed across four CGUs: Rest of World (“RoW”) 
Betting, RoW Betting AV, RoW Other, and United States. Allocation of the carrying amount of goodwill to the respective CGUs for 
the year ended December 31, 2023 was as follows: 
 
            

Goodwill per CGU      RoW      RoW      RoW      United     
in €‘000  Betting  Betting AV Other  States      Total   
Goodwill as of January 1, 2023    73,896   110,171   20,527   99,395  303,989  
Acquisition    4,236  —  —  —  4,236  
Impairment  —  —   (6,493) —  (6,493) 
Foreign currency translation effect    424   (2,463)  (140)  (3,152)  (5,331) 
Goodwill as of December 31, 2023    78,556   107,708   13,894   96,243  296,401  
 
The key assumptions used in the estimation of the recoverable amount during the years ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 
2023, were as follows: 
 

    

Key assumptions used for 2024:           
Terminal value growth rate    2.0 %
Budgeted adjusted EBITDA margin    26.2 %
Discount rate —WACC (before taxes)    14.7 %

 
          

Key assumptions used for 2023      RoW Betting      RoW Betting AV      RoW Other      United States   
Terminal value growth rate    2.0 %   2.0 %    2.0 %    2.0 %
Budgeted adjusted EBITDA margin 1    33.6 %   13.1 %    12.5 %    25.0 %
Discount rate —WACC (before taxes)    13.2 %   13.2 %    15.7 %    15.7 %

 
1 The budgeted adjusted EBITDA margin for the RoW Betting CGUs represents an average margin, whereas the budgeted adjusted 

EBITDA margin for the RoW Other and United States CGUs represents the assumption for the last year of the budget period. 
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An impairment is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable 
amount is the higher of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. Management determines the recoverable amount of a CGU 
on the basis of its value in use. 

For each of the years presented in these consolidated financial statements, management assessed with careful consideration the 
recoverable amount of the applicable CGUs. 

As of December 31, 2024, no impairment of goodwill was identified, as the recoverable value of the CGU exceeded the carrying 
value. Management believes that there are no reasonable changes in the underlying assumptions that would cause the carrying value to 
exceed its recoverable value and lead to an impairment of goodwill. 

In 2023, an impairment test performed for RoW Other cash generating unit resulted in a goodwill impairment charge. As the carrying 
amount of the CGU Other was €39.0 million, which was determined to be higher than its recoverable amount and an impairment loss 
related to goodwill of €6.5 million was recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
during the year ended December 31, 2023. The impairment was related to the impact of changes related to the Company’s business 
strategies. As of December 31, 2023, no impairment of goodwill was identified for the RoW Betting, RoW AV or United States 
CGUs, as the recoverable value of the CGUs exceeded the carrying value. 

Sensitivity analyses of reasonably possible changes in the underlying assumptions for the CGUs as of December 31, 2023 were as 
follows: 

 0% terminal value growth rate; 

 2% decrease in sustainable EBITDA margin 

 1% increase in discount rate 

 1% decrease in discount rate in combination with another change in underlying assumption 

None of these sensitivity analyses in isolation or in combination indicated the RoW Betting, RoW AV and United States CGU’s 
recoverable amount would fall below their carrying amount in 2023. 

If the sustainable EBITDA margin and discount rate assumptions used in the impairment test for RoW Other CGU as of December 31, 
2023 were changed to a greater extent than as indicated above, the changes would, in isolation and in combination, lead to a further 
impairment loss being recognized for the year ended December 31, 2023 in the amounts as follows: 

   

  Further 
in €‘000      impairment 

Decrease terminal value growth rate to 0%   (4,511)
Decrease sustainable EBITDA margin by 2%   (14,041)
Increase discount rate by 1%   (5,147)
Decrease discount rate by 1% and decrease sustainable EBITDA margin by 2%   (9,765)

 
Other intangible assets 

In 2024 and 2023, the Company assessed whether there was any indication that other intangible assets may be impaired, considering 
external and internal sources of information and concluded that, other than those discussed below, no indicators of impairment were 
identified. 

In 2023, the Company committed to a plan to retain and divest certain elements of Interact Sport Pty Ltd. and its subsidiaries 
(together, “Interact”) following a strategic review. Interact was a business acquired in 2021. As a result of this strategic review, 
management performed an impairment assessment of the assets held by Interact. The carrying value of the assets held by Interact 
which were divested were a customer base of €0.7 million, technology of €0.5 million and a brand name of €0.1 million. As a result, 
the intangible assets related to the Interact business were fully impaired by €1.2 million, which is recognized as impairment on 
intangible assets on the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 
2023. 
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In 2023, the Company committed to ramp-down business activities related to Sportradar B.V. (formerly Ortec Sports B.V.), which 
was acquired in 2022, following a strategic review. As a result of this strategic review, management performed an impairment 
assessment of the assets held by Sportradar B.V. The carrying value of the assets held by Sportradar B.V. which were ramped-down 
consisted of technology of €1.4 million, a customer base of €0.5 million and a brand name of €0.2 million. As a result, these assets 
were fully impaired by €2.2 million, which is recognized as impairment on intangible assets on the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2023. 

The changes in business strategy related to Interact and Sportradar B.V. impacted the recoverable amount of CGU Other RoW, which 
had a goodwill impairment charge of €6.5 million recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income during the year ended December 31, 2023 as described above. 
 
Note 14. Property and equipment 
 
         

            Other             
Cost  Office  facilities and  Work in   
 in €‘000  buildings  equipment  progress  Total 
Balance as of January 1, 2023    47,866   38,212   473   86,551 
Additions    40,693   9,621   1,020   51,334 
Additions through business combinations   —   6  —   6 
Transfers in/(out)   302   774   (1,076) — 
Disposals    (3,440)  (388) —   (3,828)
Translation adjustments    (682)  (631)  15   (1,298)
Balance as of December 31, 2023    84,739   47,594   432   132,765 
Additions    3,865   5,622  —   9,487 
Additions through business combinations   —  —  —  — 
Transfers in/(out)   337   68   (405)  — 
Disposals    (6,407)  (3,310) —   (9,717)
Translation adjustments    676   933   (12)  1,597 
Balance as of December 31, 2024    83,210   50,907   15   134,132 
         
Accumulated depreciation     
in €‘000     
Balance as of January 1, 2023    (24,498)  (24,166) —   (48,664)
Depreciation    (8,107)  (6,489) —   (14,596)
Disposals    2,129   388  —   2,517 
Translation adjustments    396   344  —   740 
Balance as of December 31, 2023    (30,080)  (29,923) —   (60,003)
Depreciation    (9,615)  (6,947) —   (16,562)
Disposals    6,407   3,310  —   9,717 
Translation adjustments    (453)  (591) —   (1,044)
Balance as of December 31, 2024    (33,741)  (34,151) —   (67,892)
         
Carrying amount      
As of January 1, 2023   23,368   14,046   473   37,887 
As of December 31, 2023    54,659   17,671   432   72,762 
As of December 31, 2024    49,469   16,756   15   66,240 
 
 

 
Note 15. Leases 

The Company has entered into various lease agreements. With the exception of short-term leases and leases of low-value underlying 
assets, each lease is reflected on the balance sheet as right-of-use asset and a lease liability. The Company classifies its right-of-use 
assets in a consistent manner to its property and equipment. 
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Rights-of-use assets and lease liabilities are presented in the consolidated statements of financial position as follows: 
     

  As of December 31, 
in €‘000      2024      2023 
Right-of-use assets – Property and equipment       
Buildings    46,369    51,394 
Other facilities and equipment    500    318 
Lease liabilities – Loans and borrowings       
Current    9,968    9,537 
Non-current    36,697    40,414 
 
Generally, the office building lease contracts have fixed payments. Leases are either non-cancellable or may be cancelled by incurring 
a substantive termination fee. Further, the Company is prohibited from selling or pledging the underlying leased assets as security. For 
leases over office buildings the Company must keep those properties in a good state of repair and return the properties in their original 
condition at the end of the lease. 

Information about leases for which the Company is a lessee is presented below. 

15.1 Right-of-use assets 

Additional information on the significant right of use assets by class of assets and the movements during the period are as follows: 
     

      Office buildings 
in €‘000   2024      2023 
Balance as of January 1,    51,394    20,409 
Depreciation charge for the year    (8,828)   (7,181)
Additions     3,845    39,727 
Derecognition due to lease termination    (233)   (1,311)
Foreign currency effects    191    (250)
Balance as of December 31,    46,369    51,394 

 
15.2 Lease liabilities 

Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements during the period: 
     

in €‘000      2024      2023 
Balance as of January 1,    49,951    22,014 
Additions to lease liabilities    4,281    38,209 
Accretion of interest    2,797    1,149 
Interest paid    (2,797)   (1,149)
Payments    (7,830)   (7,983)
Rent concessions    (53)   (30)
Derecognition due to lease termination    (233)   (1,323)
Foreign currency effects    549    (936)
Balance as of December 31,    46,665    49,951 
Current    9,968    9,537 
Non-current    36,697    40,414 

 
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in Note 24. 
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15.3 Amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of profit or loss 
       

      Years Ended December 31, 
in €‘000  2024      2023      2022 
Interest on lease liabilities    2,797    1,149    661 
Depreciation    9,038    7,181    5,913 
Income from sub-leasing right-of-use assets    (112)   (14)  — 
Expenses relating to short-term or low value leases1    844    941    682 
Rent concessions    (53)   (30)   (38)

Total amount recognized in profit from continuing operations    12,514    9,227    7,218 
 

1 The Company has elected not to recognize a lease liability for short term leases (leases with an expected term of 12 months or 
less) or for leases of low value assets. Payments made under such leases are expensed on a straight-line basis. 

15.4 Amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of cash flows 

Total cash outflow for leases for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 are as follows: 
       

      Years Ended December 31, 
in €‘000  2024      2023      2022 
Operating activities - cash outflow for leases             

-Short-term and low-value lease payments    831    938    682 
-Interest paid on lease liabilities    2,797    1,149    661 

Financing activities – Principal payment on lease liabilities    7,830    7,983    5,958 
Total cash outflow for leases    11,458    10,070    7,301 
 
15.5 Extension options 

Some leases over office buildings contain extension options exercisable by the Company. Where practicable, the Company seeks to 
include extension options in new leases to provide operational flexibility. Most of the extension options held are exercisable only by 
the Company. The Company assesses at lease commencement date whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the extension options. 
The Company reassesses whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the options if there is a significant event or significant changes in 
circumstances within its control. 
 
Note 16. Trade receivables and contract assets 

The following table represents the composition of trade receivables: 
     

Trade receivables      As of December 31, 
in €‘000  2024      2023 
Trade receivables    88,719    80,861 
Allowance for expected credit losses    (11,613)   (9,615)
Total    77,106    71,246 

 

 
The following table represents the composition of contract assets: 

     

Contract assets  As of December 31, 
in €‘000      2024      2023 
Contract assets    94,686    61,220 
Allowance for expected credit losses    (1,124)   (351)
Total    93,562    60,869 

 
The increase in the contract assets is related to new and expanded services rendered to customers. 
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The movement in the allowance for expected credit loss (“ECL”) in respect of trade receivables and contract assets during the year are 
as follows: 

     

in €‘000      2024      2023 
Balance as of January 1,    (9,966)   (5,620)
Provision for expected credit losses    (7,402)   (7,160)
Net amounts recovered    1,086    183 
Write-offs   3,674   2,559 
Other   (129)  72 
Balance as of December 31,    (12,737)   (9,966)

 

 
Note 17. Other assets and prepayments 

Other assets and prepayments are comprised of the following items: 
     

Other assets and prepayments  As of December 31, 
in €‘000      2024      2023 
Prepaid expenses    33,839    22,358 
Other financial assets    3,673    688 
Taxes and fees    2,209    3,313 
Inventories   5,704   5,986 
Other    1,176    907 
Total    46,601    33,252 

 

 
Note 18. Capital and reserves 

The following table displays the composition and movements of capital and reserves: 
     

      Class A      Class B 
  ordinary  ordinary 
Capital and reserves  shares  shares 
Equity instruments as of January 1, 2022    206,571,517   903,670,701 
Issued during the year for vesting of shares    277,127  — 
Equity instruments as of December 31, 2022   206,848,644   903,670,701 
Issued during the year for vesting of shares   945,555  — 
Equity instruments as of December 31, 2023    207,794,199   903,670,701 
Issued during the year for vesting of shares    1,298,657  — 
Equity instruments as of December 31, 2024    209,092,856   903,670,701 

 
18.1 Ordinary shares 

As of December 31, 2024, the ordinary share capital of the Company amounted to €27.6 million, consisting of 209,092,856 Class A 
ordinary shares (nominal value CHF 0.1) and 903,670,701 Class B ordinary shares (nominal value CHF 0.01). As of December 31, 
2023, the ordinary share capital amounted to €27.4 million, consisting of 207,794,199 Class A ordinary shares (nominal value CHF 
0.1) and 903,670,701 Class B ordinary shares (nominal value CHF 0.01). As of December 31, 2022, the ordinary share capital 
amounted to €27.3 million, consisting of 206,848,644 Class A ordinary shares (nominal value CHF 0.1) and 903,670,701 Class B 
ordinary shares (nominal value CHF 0.01). Ordinary share capital is fully paid in. The holders of Class A and Class B shares are 
entitled to a single vote per share at shareholder meetings. 
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18.2 Additional paid-in capital 

Additional paid-in capital includes the excess over the par value paid by shareholders in connection with the issuance of ordinary 
shares or participation certificates as well as impacts of other transactions with shareholders, non-controlling interests and equity-
settled share-based payments. No other transactions occurred during the year ended December 31, 2024. The following is a summary 
of other transactions during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 which impacted additional paid-in-capital: 

During the year ended December 31, 2023, €52.0 million relate to recognized assets resulting from granted equity instruments to one 
licensor. 

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recorded a €3.0 million gain upon contribution of BetTech to SportTech as 
part of additional paid-in capital (refer to Note 3 and Note 26). 

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company purchased a non-controlling interest in the subsidiary Sportradar US, LLC, a 
Delaware limited liability company, for €28.2 million ($32.0 million) in cash. Following this transaction, Sportradar US, LLC is a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. 

18.3 Treasury shares 

From time to time, the Company repurchases its own shares, including for employee tax withholding purposes, and the shares may 
then be used for issuances under the Sportradar Group AG Omnibus Stock Plan (refer to Note 29). Upon the vesting of RSUs, the 
Company fulfills its obligations under the equity instrument agreements by either issuing new shares of authorized ordinary shares or 
by issuing shares from treasury. In addition, on March 18, 2024, the board of directors approved a $200 million share buyback 
program. For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company has repurchased 1.8 million shares under the plan for a total of 
approximately $20.3 million. Any shares repurchased by the Company are deposited in the Company’s treasury account. The treasury 
shares at December 31, 2024 and 2023 comprise the cost of the Company’s shares held by the Company. As of December 31, 2024 
and 2023, the Company held €18.8 million and €2.3 million in treasury shares, respectively. 

     

Movement in treasury shares     Number of shares      Cost €’000 
Treasury Shares as of  January 1, 2023    285,964   2,705 
Purchased during the year    787,776   9,022 
Surrendered during the year    (843,128)  (9,405)
Treasury shares as of December 31, 2023    230,612   2,322 
Purchased during the year   2,627,731   28,725 
Surrendered during the year   (931,057)  (12,234)
Treasury shares as of December 31, 2024   1,927,286   18,813 

 
18.4 Capital management 

The Company’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain 
future development of the business. The capital management of the Company comprises the management of cash and shareholders’ 
equity and debt. The primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to ensure the availability of funds within the 
Company and comply with any applicable financial covenants. Refer to Note 19. The majority of the Company’s operations are 
financed by the Company’s operating cash flows. The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of 
changes in economic conditions and the requirements of applicable financial covenants. The board of directors will determine whether 
to pay dividends in the future based on conditions existing at that time, including earnings, financial condition and capital 
requirements, as well as economic and other conditions as it may deem relevant. 

The Company has an active share buyback program, refer to Note 18.3. 
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Note 19. Loans and borrowings 
     

Loans and borrowings  As of December 31, 
in €‘000      2024      2023 
Current portion of loans and borrowings         

Bank loans and overdrafts    54    49 
Lease liabilities (Note 15)    9,968    9,537 

    10,022    9,586 
Non - current portion of loans and borrowings       

Bank loans   —    145 
Lease liabilities (Note 15)    36,697    40,414 

    36,697    40,559 
Total    46,719    50,145 

 
Senior Facilities Agreement: 

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company had access to €220.0 million in revolving credit facilities (“RCF”) through a credit 
agreement, together with its amendments (the “Credit Agreement”), with no outstanding commitments under the RCF. The 
Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Sportradar Capital S.à r.l., is the borrower under the Credit Agreement and the obligations are 
guaranteed by other subsidiaries of the Company and secured by certain assets of the borrower and its subsidiaries. 

For the unutilized RCF, a commitment fee of 0.825% is payable on 30% of the applicable margin for the RCF. The applicable margin 
for the RCF is 2.75% per annum and is determined based on the applicable senior secured net leverage ratio. 

Pursuant to the Credit Agreement, the Company is also subject to certain covenants. The Company was in compliance with all 
covenants of the Credit Agreement as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and expects to be in compliance with all covenants within 12 
months after the reporting date. 

Note 20. Employee benefits 

The defined contribution plans are related to various subsidiaries. The contributions are recognized as expenses in personnel expenses 
in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and amount to €6.4 million, €4.9 million, and €3.5 
million during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. No further obligation exists besides the contributions 
paid.  

The Company has four pension plans classified as defined benefit plans. These plans are held in Switzerland, Austria, Slovenia and 
the Philippines. Out of the four plans, only the Switzerland plan is partially funded. The contributions to the fund are based on the 
percentage of the insured salary, a part of which needs to be paid by the employees and a part by the employer. 

The amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position for the defined benefit pension plans as of December 31, 
2024 and 2023 are as follows: 

     

  As of December 31, 
in €‘000      2024      2023 
Defined benefit obligation    22,228    14,129 
Fair value of plan assets    (20,814)    (13,086)
Net defined benefit liability    1,414    1,043 

 
The net defined benefit liability is included in other non-current liabilities in the consolidated statements of financial position. 
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The movements in the defined benefit obligation are as follows: 
     

  Years Ended December 31,
in €‘000      2024      2023 
Defined benefit obligation as of January 1,    14,129    10,412 
Interest expense on defined benefit obligation    313    280 
Current service cost    943    558 
Contributions by plan participants    634    490 
Benefits (paid) / deposited    3,140    904 
Administration cost (excl. cost for managing plan assets)    7    6 
Actuarial loss (gain) on defined benefit obligation    2,660    967 
Exchange rate loss    402    512 
Defined benefit obligation as of December 31,    22,228    14,129 

 
The defined benefit obligations of the four plans as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 is as follows: Switzerland: (2024: €21.1 million; 
2023: €13.3 million), Austria (2024: €0.5 million; 2023: €0.4 million), Slovenia (2024: €0.3 million; 2023: €0.3 million) and the 
Philippines (2024: €0.3 million; 2023: €0.2 million). 

The movements in the fair value of plan assets are as follows: 
     

  Years Ended December 31,
in €‘000      2024      2023 
Fair value of plan assets as of January 1,    13,086    10,215 
Interest income on plan assets    267    275 
Contributions by the employer    743    628 
Contributions by plan participants    634    490 
Benefits deposited (paid)    3,149    909 
Return on plan assets excl. interest income    2,531    (182)
Exchange rate gain    404    509 
Adjustment to asset ceiling   —    242 
Fair value of plan assets as of December 31,    20,814    13,086 

 

 
Note 21. Trade payables 

The following table represents trade payables: 
     

  As of December 31, 
in €‘000     2024      2023 
License fee payables for capitalized sport rights licenses – current    178,296    202,013 
Other trade payables and accrued expenses – current    81,446    57,654 
Trade payables current    259,742    259,667 
License fee payables for capitalized sport rights licenses – non-current    895,679    908,437 
Other trade payables – non-current    —    62 
Trade payables non-current    895,679    908,499 
Total    1,155,421    1,168,166 
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Note 22. Other liabilities 

The following tables represent the composition of other liabilities: 
     

Other liabilities - current:  As of December 31, 
in €‘000      2024      2023 
Other financial liabilities:         
Deferred and contingent consideration (Note 3)    9,356    8,376 
Other liabilities    5,382    4,534 
Other non-financial liabilities:     
Payroll liabilities    47,209    30,176 
Taxes and fees    6,324    7,444 
Deposit liability (Note 3)    —    1,721 
Management restructuring   —   3,473 
Total other liabilities - current    68,271    55,724 

 
     

Other non-current liabilities:  As of December 31, 
in €‘000  2024  2023 
Other financial liabilities:               
Deferred and contingent consideration (Note 3)    —    6,993 
Other non-financial liabilities:         
Employee benefit liabilities (Note 20)    1,414    1,043 
Other    416    464 
Total other non-current liabilities    1,830    8,500 

 

 
Note 23. Contract liabilities 

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, current contract liabilities of €30.2 million and €26.6 million and non-current contract liabilities 
of €37.7 million and €39.5 million, respectively, either relate to services not yet rendered but already paid in advance by the customer 
or arise from barter deals with sport rights licensors. They will be recognized as revenue when the service is provided, which is 
expected to occur over the next eight years. 

Amounts from a customer contract’s transaction price that are allocated to the remaining performance obligations represent contracted 
revenue that has not yet been recognized. These amounts mostly comprise obligations to provide support or deliver data over a period 
of time, as the respective contracts typically have durations of one or multiple years. The amount of transaction price allocated to the 
remaining performance obligations, and changes in this amount over time, are impacted mainly by currency fluctuations and the future 
timing of the satisfaction of performance obligations. 

The full amount of contract liabilities as of December 31, 2023 relating to customer prepayments of €15.6 million has been recognized 
as revenue in 2024. An amount of €10.6 million of contract liabilities as of December 31, 2023 relating to barter deals has been 
recognized as revenue in 2024. 

The full amount of contract liabilities as of December 31, 2022 relating to customer prepayments of €20.0 million has been recognized 
as revenue in 2023. An amount of €3.1 million of contract liabilities as of December 31, 2022 relating to barter deals has been 
recognized as revenue in 2023. 

The full amount of contract liabilities as of January 1, 2022 relating to customer prepayments of €21.2 million has been recognized as 
revenue during the year ended December 31, 2022. An amount of €3.2 million of contract liabilities as of January 1, 2022 relating to 
barter deals has been recognized as revenue during the year ended December 31, 2022. 
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As of December 31, 2024, contract liabilities of €44.0 million, arising from barter deals with sport rights licensors, and €1,854.6 
million unsatisfied performance obligations to provide support or deliver data to customers, will be recognized as revenue in the 
respective year as follows: 

     

    Unsatisfied 
     performance 
in €‘000      Barter deals      obligations 
2025    7,240   1,030,799 
2026    5,492   547,348 
2027    4,931   147,783 
2028    4,674   77,729 
2029 and thereafter   21,657   50,906 
Total    43,994   1,854,565 

 
As of December 31, 2023, contract liabilities of €49.4 million arising from barter deals with sport rights licensors, and €1,701.9 
million unsatisfied performance obligations to provide support or deliver data to customers, will be recognized as revenue in the 
respective year as follows: 

     

    Unsatisfied 
     performance 
in €‘000      Barter deals      obligations 
2024    10,618   898,546 
2025    8,518   415,465 
2026    7,609   283,818 
2027    7,011   39,165 
2028 and thereafter   15,626   64,944 
Total    49,382   1,701,938 

 

 
Note 24. Financial instruments – fair values and risk management 

24.1 Measurement categories of financial instruments 

For financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis, fair value is the price the Company would receive to sell 
an asset or pay to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction with a market participant at the measurement date. In the absence of 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities, such measurements involve developing assumptions based on market observable data 
and, in the absence of such data, internal information that is consistent with what market participants would use in a hypothetical 
transaction that occurs at the measurement date. 

The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to 
measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs. 

Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques: 

 Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

 Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices). 

 Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (i.e., unobservable inputs). 

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables, deposits, trade payables except for those for capitalized sport rights licenses, and 
other financial liabilities included in other liabilities, all approximate their fair values due to the short maturities of these financial 
instruments. 
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Bank loans and borrowings bore interest at variable rates. The Company assessed that their carrying amount is a reasonable 
approximation of fair value. 

The fair values of interest-bearing financial assets measured at amortized cost equal the present values of their future estimated cash 
flows. These present values are calculated using market interest rates for the respective currencies and terms. 

The following tables show the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including their levels in the 
fair value hierarchy. They do not include fair value information for lease liabilities or for financial assets and financial liabilities not 
measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value. 
 
             

            As of December 31, 2024 
in €‘000  Financial statement  Carrying         
Description of Financial Instrument  classification      amount      Fair value      Level 1      Level 2      Level 3 
Financial assets at FVTPL             

Cash equivalents   
Cash and cash 
equivalents    142,969   142,969   142,969  —  — 

Financial assets at FVOCI        

Equity investments   

Other financial 
assets and other 
non-current 
assets    6,747   6,747  —  —   6,747 

Total financial assets       149,716   149,716   142,969  —   6,747 
Financial liabilities at FVTPL             

Contingent consideration   

Other liabilities 
and other non-
current liabilities    9,356   9,356  —  —   9,356 

Financial liabilities measured at 
amortized cost             

Capitalized sport rights licenses1  

Trade payables – 
current and Trade 
payables – non-
current   1,073,975   1,165,024  —   1,165,024  — 

Total financial liabilities      1,083,331   1,174,380  —   1,165,024   9,356 
 

1 - Fair value of capitalized sport rights licenses is determined by calculating the NPV of future payments using the latest IBR and CRP as of December 31, 2024. 
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            As of December 31, 2023 
in €‘000  Financial statement  Carrying         
Description of Financial Instrument  classification      amount      Fair value      Level 1      Level 2      Level 3 
Financial assets at FVTPL              

Cash equivalents   
Cash and cash 
equivalents    130,175   130,175   130,175  —  — 

Financial assets at FVOCI              

Equity investments   

Other financial 
assets and other 
non-current assets    6,346   6,346  —  —   6,346 

Total financial assets       136,521   136,521   130,175  —   6,346 
Financial liabilities at FVTPL        

Contingent consideration   

Other liabilities 
and other non-
current liabilities    15,369   15,369  —  —   15,369 

Financial liabilities measured at amortized 
cost             

Capitalized sport rights licenses1  

Trade payables – 
current and Trade 
payables – non-
current   1,110,450   1,096,688  —   1,096,688  — 

Total financial liabilities       1,125,819   1,112,057  —   1,096,688   15,369 
 

1 - Fair value of capitalized sport rights licenses is determined by calculating the NPV of future payments using the latest IBR and CRP as of December 31, 2023. 
 
There were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. 

Level 3 recurring fair values 

Following table shows a reconciliation from the opening balances to the closing balances for Level 3 fair values: 
     

      Equity      Contingent 
in €‘000   investments   consideration 
Balance as of January 1, 2023    2,820    23,201 
Additions    3,716    1,400 
Payments   —    (8,575)
Net change in fair value – unrealized (included in OCI)    (190)   — 
Net change in fair value – unrealized (included in Finance cost / income)   —  (657)
Balance as of December 31, 2023    6,346    15,369 
Additions  —  2,605 
Payments  —  (8,578)
Net change in fair value – unrealized (included in OCI)   401 — 
Net change in fair value – unrealized (included in Finance cost / income)  —  (40)
Balance as of December 31, 2024   6,747  9,356 

 
24.2 Financial risk management 

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including market risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. The Company’s 
senior management oversees the management of these risks. The Company’s senior management ensures that the Company’s financial 
risk activities are governed by appropriate processes and procedures and that financial risks are identified, measured and managed in 
accordance with the Company’s policies and risk objectives. The Company reviews and agrees on policies for managing each of these 
risks which are described below. 
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Financial risk management is carried out by the Company’s treasury department and the Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) under 
policies approved by the board of directors. They identify, evaluate and hedge financial risks in close co-operation with the 
Company’s management and in particular cover foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use or non-use of derivative 
financial instruments and non-derivative financial instruments, and investment of excess liquidity. 

24.3 Market risk 

Market risks expose the Company primarily to the financial risks of changes in both foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. 
The Company did not utilize derivative financial instruments to hedge risk exposures arising from its obligations denominated in non-
Euro currencies in 2024, 2023 or 2022. The Company’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial 
markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the Company’s financial performance. 

24.4 Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities 
that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure that it will 
have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when such liabilities become due. The Company’s finance function closely monitors the 
cash flow and the Company’s liquidity. 

The following tables show undiscounted contractual cash flows for financial liabilities as of December 31, 2024 and 2023: 
         

      As of December 31, 2024 
    Due between      Due after   
  Due less than  one to five  five   
in €‘000  one year  years   years   Total  
Trade payables    210,307   817,334   323,916   1,351,557 
Deferred & contingent consideration cash flows    9,356  —  —   9,356 
Bank debt - contractual cash flows1    1,840   3,680  —   5,520 
Lease liabilities cash flows    10,190   26,127   25,624   61,941 
Other financial liabilities    5,382  —  —   5,382 
Total    237,075   847,141   349,540   1,433,756 
 
         

  As of December 31, 2023 
   Due between  Due after  
  Due less than  one to five  five  
in €‘000   one year   years   years   Total 
Trade payables    231,582    705,753    497,514    1,434,849 
Deferred & contingent consideration cash flows    8,376    7,197    —    15,573 
Bank debt - contractual cash flows1    1,840    4,370    —    6,210 
Lease liabilities cash flows    10,470    27,358    29,359    67,187 
Other financial liabilities    4,553    —    —    4,553 
Total    256,821    744,678    526,873    1,528,372 

 
1 For the €220.0 million unutilized RCF, the foreseeable interest expense will be €1.84 million per annum, based on the assumption 

the RCF remains undrawn and the Senior Secured Net Leverage Ratio remains equal to or less than 3.00:1.00. Refer to Note 19. 

To service the above license payment commitments and other operational requirements, the Company is dependent on existing cash 
resources, cash generated from operations and borrowing facilities. 

24.5 Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to financial instruments fails to meet its 
contractual obligations. The Company is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade receivables), loans granted 
and its deposits with banks and financial institutions. 
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The carrying amounts of financial assets and contract assets represent the maximum credit exposure, refer to Note 24.1. At the 
reporting date, there are no arrangements which will reduce the maximum credit risk. 

Impairment losses on financial assets and contract assets recognized in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income are disclosed in Note 16. 

As the Company’s risk exposure is mainly influenced by the individual characteristics of each customer, it continuously analyzes the 
creditworthiness of significant debtors. Due to its international operations and expanding business based on a diversified customer 
structure, the Company experiences an increasing but still low concentration of credit risk arising from trade receivables. The 
Company had for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 no individual customer accounted for more than 10% of 
revenues. For banks and financial institutions, only parties with a high credit rating are accepted. Furthermore, the Company 
continuously tracks the financial information of the counterparties of loans granted. 

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for loans receivable as of December 31, 2024 and 
2023: 

Loans receivable: exposure to credit risk and ECLs 
         

            Weighted             
   Gross carrying   average loss   Impairment   Credit- 
in €‘000  amount   rate  loss allowance impaired 
Grades 1 - 6: Low risk (BBB- to AAA)    47    0.0 % —  no 
Grade 10: Substandard (B- to CCC-)    3,588    58.2 %  (2,087) no 
Grade 12: Loss (D)    12,258    100.0 %  (12,258) yes 
Total as of December 31, 2024    15,893      (14,345)  
Grades 1 - 6: Low risk (BBB- to AAA)    310    0.0 % —  no 
Grade 10: Substandard (B- to CCC-)    3,441    60.7 %  (2,087) no 
Grade 12: Loss (D)    12,258    100.0 %  (12,258) yes 
Total as of December 31, 2023    16,009        (14,345) 
 
Credit risk arising from billing sports betting client accounts is mitigated by billing and collecting monies in advance. Customer 
accounts are suspended if an invoice remains unpaid two weeks after the beginning of the billed month. Credit risk arising from sports 
media accounts is mitigated by customer credit checks before services are rendered. 

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables from individual customers 
as of December 31, 2024 and 2023: 

Trade receivables from individual customers: exposure to credit risk and ECLs 
         

            Weighted             
   Gross carrying   average loss   Impairment   Credit- 

in €‘000  amount   rate  loss allowance impaired 
Current (not past due)    40,596    3.4 %  (1,377)  no 
1 to 60 days past due    29,179    2.6 %  (763)  no 
61 to 90 days past due    2,640    12.3 %  (324)  no 
More than 90 days past due    16,305    56.1 %  (9,150)  yes 
Total as of December 31, 2024    88,720     (11,614) 
     
Current (not past due)    44,431    1.6 %  (726)  no 
1 to 60 days past due    20,279    2.8 %  (562)  no 
61 to 90 days past due    2,691    7.8 %  (211)  no 
More than 90 days past due    13,460    60.3 %  (8,116)  yes 
Total as of December 31, 2023    80,861        (9,615)    
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From 2023 to 2024, there is higher impairment loss allowance on trade receivables due to initiating credit risk management activities, 
which resulted in higher sales of past-due receivables to collection agencies. 

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, contract assets at the gross carrying amount of €94.7 million and €61.2 million, respectively, are 
measured at the same ECL probability as current, not past due trade receivables, which results in an ECL allowance of €1.1 million 
and €0.4 million, respectively, deducted from the contract assets. 

24.6 Foreign currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign 
exchange rates. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognized financial assets and liabilities. The 
Company invoices more than 71% of its business in its functional currency. However, sport rights licenses are often purchased in 
foreign currencies and this exposes the Company to a significant risk from changes in foreign exchange rates; in particular, against the 
U.S. Dollar following the purchase of sports data and media rights by Sportradar AG. Furthermore, some of the subsidiaries operate in 
local currencies, mainly AUD, GBP, CHF, NOK and USD. Exchange rates are monitored by the Finance Department on a monthly 
basis, to ensure that adequate measures are taken if fluctuations increase. 

The transaction risk on foreign currency cash flows is monitored on an ongoing basis by the Company’s treasury department. The 
main transaction risks are represented by the U.S. Dollar and Great Britain Pound, while other currencies pose minor sources of risk. 
As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company’s net liability exposure in U.S. Dollars was €543.5 million and €614.0 million, 
respectively. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company’s net asset exposure in Great Britain Pound was €143.0 million and 
€109.0 million, respectively. 

The following table provides the effects of a five and ten percent quantitative change of foreign currency exchange rates of the Euro 
against the exposed currencies as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, on profit or (loss): 
 

     

  Year Ended December 31, 
in €‘000     2024      2023 
€ exchange rate +10%   (41,011)    (47,960)
€ exchange rate +5%   (20,505)    (23,980)
€ exchange rate -5%   20,505    23,980 
€ exchange rate -10%   41,011    47,960 

 
24.7 Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
interest rates. The Company does not actively manage its interest rate exposure. 

The Company is mainly exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in conjunction with its borrowings, if any. The interest rate is based on 
market interest rate plus a margin which is based on the Senior Secured Net Leverage Ratio as defined in the Credit Agreement. 

For the €220.0 million unutilized RCF, the foreseeable annual financing cost will be €1.8 million, based on the assumption the RCF 
remains undrawn and the Company Leverage Ratio remains equal to or less than 3.00:1.00. 
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Note 25. Commitments 

The Company enters into commitments which may have a minimum guarantee per contractual year. Additionally, as of December 31, 
2024, Sportradar continues to have commitments relating to license payments for non-capitalized or not yet capitalized (i.e., license 
period has not started yet and advance payments have been already deducted) sports data or media rights licenses. License 
commitment payments will primarily be made in U.S. Dollars. The Company also has various contracts including one non-cancelable 
contractual commitment for five contractual years primarily related to network infrastructure and the Company’s data center 
operations. The following table shows commitments by the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023: 

     

  As of December 31, 
in €’000      2024      2023 
less than one year    61,358    41,165 
between more than one and less than two years    68,009    43,734 
between more than two and less than three years    72,074    46,477 
between more than three and less than four years    62,974    49,280 
more than four years    36,547    39,241 
Total    300,962    219,897 

 
Commitments for licenses not yet capitalized amount to €142.2 million and €16.3 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. 

Note 26. Related party transactions and key management personnel 

Shareholders 

During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, Carsten Koerl, CEO and founder of the Company, held more than 80% 
voting rights in the Company. 

Transactions with key management personnel 

Carsten Koerl holds 33% of the shares in UAB TV Zaidimai (“Zaidimai”) situated in Vilnius, Lithuania. During the years ended 
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Company generated revenue of €0.1 million, €0.1 million, and €0.1 million, respectively, 
with Zaidimai. 

Until May 2022, Carsten Koerl held a 23% beneficial ownership in OOO PMBK, which is associated with Interactive Sports Holdings 
Limited. The Company generated revenue of €1.2 million in year ended December 31, 2022 until the date Carsten Koerl no longer 
held any interest. 

During the year ended December 31, 2021, Carsten Koerl held more than 50% in BetTech based in Cape Town, South Africa, where 
he also acted as a director. On August 4, 2022, Sportradar acquired 100% of shares in BetTech from Carsten Koerl and minority 
shareholders for consideration of €7.0 million (refer to Note 3). The Company recorded a €3.0 million gain upon contribution of 
BetTech as part of additional paid-in capital for the year ended December 31, 2022. During the year ended December 31, 2022 until 
the date of the Company’s acquisition of BetTech, the Company generated revenue of €0.3 million with BetTech. Sportradar 
generated revenue of €0.2 million with BetTech in 2021. 

The Company’s acquisition of BetTech on August 4, 2022 was a related party transaction and an acquisition under common control in 
the context of the establishment of SportTech AG with Ringier and certain minority shareholders. Immediately upon closing of the 
Company’s acquisition of BetTech, the Company contributed 100% of the shares of BetTech for €10.0 million to SportTech in 
addition to a cash contribution of €13.7 million to SportTech and a cash equalization payment of €14.2 million to Ringier, for a 49% 
ownership in SportTech. Sportradar’s director Marc Walder served as a director for Ringier, a Swiss holding company which, together 
with two minority shareholders, held 51% ownership of SportTech prior to May 31, 2023.  
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The Company sold its 49% interest in SportTech on May 31, 2023. As part of this transaction, the Company received a cash payment 
of €15.2 million from Ringier which is included as proceeds from disposal of equity-accounted investee in investing activities in the 
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2023. The difference between the carrying amount of the 
investment on May 31, 2023 and the fair value of proceeds received resulted in a loss on disposal of equity-accounted investee in the 
amount of €13.6 million, recognized in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended December 
31, 2023. Additionally, BetTech became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company as a result of the sale of its interest in SportTech. 
On November 30, 2023, BetTech was sold to a third-party and is not a subsidiary of the Company as of December 31, 2023 (refer to 
Note 27). 

Compensation of Board of Directors and key management personnel 

During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the board of directors’ aggregate emoluments amounted to €0.6 million, 
€0.6 million and €0.6 million, respectively. Share-based compensation expense amounted to €1.1 million, €1.0 million, and €0.8 
million during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Key management personnel comprises members of 
the executive leadership team. 

Compensation expense included in personnel expense in the consolidated statements of profit or loss other comprehensive income 
related to directors and key management personnel is shown below: 
       

      Years Ended December 31, 
in €‘000  2024  2023  2022 
Short-term employee benefits    9,635    5,210    10,023 
Post-employment pension contributions    697    540    456 
Share-based compensation    6,629    11,377    3,232 
Termination benefits   311  —  — 
Total    17,272    17,127    13,711 
 
Management loans 

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company has outstanding loans that were issued to several members of middle management 
in prior years of €nil and €0.3 million, respectively. The loans have a fixed interest rate of 5%. The loans were granted to middle 
management to purchase participation shares of Slam InvestCo S.à.r.l. prior to the Company’s initial public offering. 

Transactions with associates 

During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the transactions with associates of the Company are shown below: 
             

  Year Ended December 31,  
   Revenue  Expenses 
in €’000      2024      2023      2022      2024      2023      2022 
NSoft1   —   —    824    —   —    274 
Bayes2    15    91   —    —    189    775 
SportTech3  —    413    613    —    388    150 
Total    15    504    1,437    —    577    1,199 

 
1 During 2021, and until April 28, 2022, NSoft was an associate of the Company, which is the date the Company acquired an 

additional 30% interest in NSoft and NSoft became a consolidated entity of the Company. 
2 During 2022, and until September 10, 2024, Bayes Esports Solutions GmbH (“Bayes”) was an associate of the Company. On this 

date the Company entered into an agreement to sell its shares in Bayes to other Bayes shareholders and agreed to make a 
settlement payment of €1.5 million, which has been recognized in the consolidated statement of profit and loss and other 
comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2024. 

3 SportTech was an associate of the Company from August 4, 2022 to May 22, 2023. 
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Note 27. Disposals and discontinued operations 

BetTech Gaming (PTY) Ltd 

On May 31, 2023, BetTech became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sportradar in connection with the Company’s exit from its 
investment in SportTech AG (refer to Note 16.3). The Company immediately committed to a plan to dispose of BetTech. In 
November 2023, the Company sold BetTech to a third party for cash consideration of €0.5 million. BetTech is presented as 
discontinued operations in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended December 
31, 2023. Net loss from discontinued operations was €0.8 million for the period of June 1, 2023 to November 30, 2023. 

Interact Sport Pty Ltd 

On December 30, 2023, the Company sold 100% of the voting interest in Interact Sport Pty Ltd. and its subsidiaries (together, 
“Interact”) for net cash consideration of €0.2 million. In 2023, the Company committed to a plan to retain and divest certain elements 
of the Interact business following a strategic decision related to the Company’s realignment of priorities. Interact was not classified as 
a discontinued operation during the year ended December 31, 2023. 
 
Note 28. Contingencies 

From time to time, and in the ordinary course of business, the Company may be subject to certain claims, charges and litigation. 
Management regularly analyzes current information pertaining to ongoing cases including, where applicable, the Company’s defense 
claims and insurance coverage of any potential liability. The Company recognizes provisions for potential liabilities if they have been 
advised by its legal counsel that it is probable the legal case against the Company will be successful. In some instances, the ultimate 
outcome of these cases may have a material impact on the Company’s financial position and earnings. 

The Company considers that no material loss to the Company is expected to result from these claims and legal proceedings. 
 
Note 29. Share-based payments 

Omnibus Stock Plan (the “2021 Plan”) 

In 2021, the Company established the 2021 Plan, under which employees, consultants and directors, and employees and consultants of 
subsidiaries are eligible to receive awards. The Company grants stock options and restricted stock units (RSUs) and other equity 
awards to key employees, collectively referred to herein as equity instruments. Annual grants under the 2021 Plan are generally made 
to the Company’s key employees during the first quarter of the Company’s fiscal year and to members of the Company’s Board of 
Directors during the second quarter of the Company’s fiscal year. The Company also issues equity instruments to strategic new hires 
and to employees who have demonstrated superior performance throughout the year. Upon the vesting of RSUs and options, the 
Company fulfills its obligations under the equity instrument agreements by either issuing new shares of authorized ordinary shares or 
by issuing shares from treasury. 

The RSUs generally only include a service-based component. The service-based component of the Company’s equity instruments 
generally vests over four years from the date of grant and for some cases less than one year. RSUs are also awarded to members of the 
Company’s Board of Directors. The Company recognizes a share-based payment expense on these restricted shares and options on a 
graded vesting basis. 

For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, total share-based payment expense of €35.0 million, €38.1 million, and €22.5 
million, respectively, relating to the 2021 Plan equity instruments has been recognized within personnel expenses and €0.9 million, 
€1.0 million, and €0.9 million, respectively has been recognized within operating expenses in the consolidated statements of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income and corresponding credit has been recognized in retained earnings within the consolidated 
statements of changes in equity.  
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Changes in the number of unvested RSUs during each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, 
together with the corresponding weighted-average fair values, are as follows: 
 

      

     Number of      Weighted average grant 
  RSU shares  date Fair Value 
Unvested restricted shares as of January 1, 2022    1,302,599  $  17.34 

Granted   3,159,725  $  14.02 
Vested   (373,739) $  17.45 
Forfeited    (426,831) $  16.03 

Unvested restricted shares as of December 31, 2022    3,661,754  $  14.69 
Granted    5,162,678  $  11.50 
Vested    (1,400,697) $  13.51 
Forfeited    (866,755) $  13.10 

Unvested restricted shares as of December 31, 2023   6,556,980  $  12.66 
Granted   6,527,305  $  11.05 
Vested   (2,024,893) $  12.81 
Forfeited   (1,227,397) $  12.56 

Unvested restricted shares as of December 31, 2024    9,831,995  $  11.57 
 
The grant date fair value of the RSUs is determined based on the closing price of the Company’s ordinary shares price on the day 
before grant. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the unrecognized compensation cost related to RSUs issued under the 2021 Plan 
will be recognized over 2.9 years and 2.8 years respectively. 

The following summarizes option activity during each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, 
together with the corresponding weighted-average fair values: 
 

      

      Number of     Weighted average exercise 
  options   price 
Outstanding as of  January 1, 2022    33,513  $  27.00 

Granted   —  $  — 
Exercised  —  $  — 
Cancelled/forfeited  —  $  — 

Outstanding as of December 31, 2022    33,513  $  27.00 
Granted   3,500,000  $  12.90 
Exercised   —  $  — 
Cancelled/forfeited   (33,513) $  27.00 

Outstanding as of December 31, 2023   3,500,000  $  12.90 
Granted  —  $  — 
Exercised  —  $  — 
Cancelled/forfeited   (3,500,000) $  12.90 

Outstanding as of December 31, 2024    —  $  — 
 
The following summarizes the assumptions used to value options granted during the years ended December 31, 2023: 

    

Valuation inputs:     2023 
Valuation model  Black-Scholes model 
Share price at grant date  $  12.90 
Exercise price1  $  12.90 
Expected volatility (average)2     47.00% 
Expected term (average)3     6.5 years 
Expected dividends4    — 
Risk-free interest rate5     3.50% 

 
1 Based on contractual terms 
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2 Calculated based on comparable companies’ historical volatilities based on industry and size over a time period commensurate 
with the options’ expected term 

3 Presumed to be the midpoint between the vesting date and the end of the contractual term 
4 Assumes a dividend yield of zero as the Company has no plans to declare dividends in the foreseeable future 
5 Based on the U.S. Constant Maturity Treasury yield curve equal or approximate to options’ expected term as of the valuation date 

Executive PSU Plan (the “Executive Plan”) 

The Company established the Executive Plan under the 2021 Plan to further incentivize performance and align the Company’s 
executive officers’ and senior managements’ interests with the interests of the Company’s shareholders. Under the Executive Plan, 
executive officers and certain members of senior management are eligible to receive awards known as performance stock units 
(PSUs), collectively referred to herein as equity instruments. Upon the vesting of PSUs, the Company fulfills its obligations under the 
equity instrument agreements by either issuing new shares of authorized ordinary shares or by issuing shares from treasury.  

The Company grants PSUs to executive officers and certain members of senior management on an annual basis as well as upon the 
hiring of new individuals eligible for this plan. The PSUs vest in one-third installments each year beginning on the second anniversary 
of the grant date. The three PSU tranches are contingent on the Company’s total shareholder return (“TSR”) performance relative to 
the constituents of the S&P 500 Information Technology index over a 2-year, 3-year or 4-year performance period. The Company 
recognizes a share-based payment expense on these restricted shares and options on a graded vesting basis. For the year ended 
December 31, 2024, total share-based payment expense was €3.5 million. 

Changes in the number of unvested PSUs during each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, 
together with the corresponding weighted-average fair values, are as follows: 

      

           Weighted 
  Number of  average grant 
  PSU shares  date Fair Value
Unvested restricted shares as of January 1, 2023    —  $  — 

Granted    145,900  $  11.40 
Unvested restricted shares as of December 31, 2023    145,900  $  11.40 

Granted    1,283,909  $  12.72 
Forfeited    (79,795) $  12.41 

Unvested restricted shares as of December 31, 2024    1,350,014  $  12.59 
 
The grant date fair value of the PSUs is determined based on the TSR market condition attached to each PSU tranche considering the 
probability of achieving different outcomes. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the unrecognized compensation cost related to PSUs 
issued under the Executive Plan will be recognized over 3.4 years and 3.3 years, respectively. 

Phantom option plan 

In December 2019, the Company established the Phantom Option Plan (the “POP”) to enable certain key employees, who are not 
executive officers, a plan under which participants are entitled to bonus payments calculated by reference to the value of a 
hypothetical option to purchase shares of Sportradar Holding AG. At the date of the IPO, the outstanding awards under the POP 
converted into 66,744 restricted stock units, which were granted to the POP participants pursuant to (and come out of the number of 
shares available for issuance under) the 2021 Plan. The Company recognizes a share-based payment expense on these restricted stock 
units on a graded vesting basis from grant date to 2024. 
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A summary of the Company’s POP plan activity for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 is as follows: 
      

    Weighted average grant 
  Number of  date Fair Value per 
      shares      option/share 
Outstanding options as of January 1, 2022    835,484  €  3.91 

Vested    (269,131) €  3.91 
Forfeited    (45,302) €  3.91 

Unvested restricted shares as of December 31, 2022    521,051  €  3.91 
Vested    (233,579) €  3.91 
Forfeited    (61,268) €  3.91 

Unvested restricted shares as of December 31, 2023    226,204  €  3.91 
Vested      (204,821)    €  3.91 
Forfeited    (18,524) €  3.91 

Unvested restricted shares as of December 31, 2024   2,859  €  3.91 
 
For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, there were no awards granted under the POP. For the years ended December 
31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, a total share-based payment expense of €0.1 million, €0.2 million, and €0.7 million, respectively, has been 
recognized within personnel expenses in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and 
corresponding credit has been recognized in retained earnings within the consolidated statements of changes in equity. 

Management participation plan 

The Management Participation Plan (“MPP”) was established in May 2019 to enable the directors and employees of the Company to 
invest in Sportradar, pursuant to which participants indirectly purchased participation certificates of Sportradar Holding AG through 
Slam InvestCo S.à r.l. (“MPP Co”), a special purpose vehicle established to hold participation certificates of Sportradar Holding AG 
for the MPP. In connection with the Company’s initial public offering, MPP participants contributed their shares of MPP Co to 
Sportradar Group AG and MPP Co became a subsidiary of Sportradar Group AG. The MPP participants, in exchange, received Class 
A ordinary shares, a portion of which was vested and no longer subject to repurchase and a portion of which was initially unvested and 
subject to repurchase by the Company upon a termination of employment in certain circumstances. 35% of each participant’s Class A 
ordinary shares vested immediately upon the consummation of the Company’s initial public offering. The remaining 65% have vested 
in three substantially equal installments on each of December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024. 

At January 1, 2021, there were outstanding share awards of 295,082. For the year ended December 31, 2021, the total number of share 
awards granted under the MPP were 7,501 of which 3,589 were forfeited, resulting in a total number of outstanding share awards of 
298,994. At the date of the initial public offering in 2021, the MPP participants received 9,566,464 Class A ordinary shares as part of 
the Reorganization Transactions. The new share awards were issued at €108.66 per share award. The fair value of these share awards 
was determined to be €759.84 per share award and was based on a valuation conducted in connection with a potential acquisition of 
the Company and bids received from independent third parties. 
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A summary of the Company’s MPP plan activity for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 is as follows: 
 

      

    Weighted average grant 
  Number of  date Fair Value per 
     shares     option/share 
Unvested restricted shares as of January 1, 2022    5,635,029  €  759.84 

Vested    (1,962,796) €  759.84 
Forfeited    (293,583) €  759.84 

Unvested restricted shares as of December 31, 2022    3,378,650  €  759.84 
Vested    (1,905,966)  €  759.84 

Unvested restricted shares as of December 31, 2023    1,472,684   €  759.84 
Vested   (1,284,996) €  759.84 
Forfeited   (15,011) €  759.84 

Unvested restricted shares as of December 31, 2024    172,677   €  759.84 
 
For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, there were no awards granted under the MPP. For the years ended December 
31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 the Company recognized share-based compensation expense of €0.7 million, €0.2 million, and €0.3 million, 
respectively, in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, respectively, and corresponding credit 
has been recognized in retained earnings within the consolidated statements of changes in equity. 

NBA warrants 

On November 16, 2021, Sportradar entered into an eight-year exclusive binding partnership arrangement (the “NBA Partnership 
Agreement”) with the NBA pursuant to which the NBA will use Sportradar’s capabilities with respect to data collection, tracking and 
betting feeds, as well as Sportradar’s Integrity services, commencing with the 2023-2024 season for an eight-year term. In 
consideration of the rights and benefits granted under the NBA Partnership Agreement, the Company has agreed to pay the NBA the 
applicable annual license fees. The Company also agreed to grant the NBA warrants that, once vested, are exercisable for an aggregate 
number of Class A ordinary shares equal to 3.00% of the total number of Class A ordinary shares outstanding on a fully diluted, as-
converted basis, as of the date of the NBA Partnership Agreement, at an exercise price of $0.01 per share. The warrants are subject to 
an eight-year vesting schedule commencing in 2023, with 20% of the warrants vesting upon execution of the NBA Partnership 
Agreement. 

In the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company treated the vesting of 20% of the warrants as prepayment with a corresponding 
credit in additional paid-in capital. The license commenced on October 1, 2023 at which date 100% of the warrants were revalued at 
fair value. The fair value of equity instruments granted are part of cost of the license asset at a total value of €87.3 million and the 
corresponding credit is recognized in additional paid-in capital during the year ended December 31, 2023 in the amount of €52.0 
million. 

The inputs used in the measurement of the option to acquire up to 9,229,797 Class A shares at the commencement date of the license 
were as follows: 
 

    

Valuation inputs:     October 1, 2023  
Valuation model  Black-Scholes model 
Share price at grant date1   $  10.01 
Exercise price2   $  0.01 
Expected volatility (average)3    46.4% 
Expected term4      0.25-8 years 
Risk-free interest rate (average)5    4.79% 

 
1 Closing ordinary share price on Friday, September 29, 2023. 
2 Based on contractual terms. 
3 Calculated based on comparable companies’ historical volatilities based on industry and size over a time period commensurate 

with the options’ expected term for each vesting tranche. 
4 Options are assumed to be exercised immediately upon entering exercise window. 
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5 Based on the U.S. Constant Maturity Treasury yield curve equal or approximate to options’ expected term as of the valuation 
date. 

The Company recognizes compensation costs related to the NBA warrants within amortization expense in the consolidated statements 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income during the contract term, starting at the commencement date until September 30, 
2031. Amortization expense related to the NBA warrants recognized in the years ended December 31,2024 and 2023 was €10.9 
million and €3.6 million, respectively. 

A summary of the Company’s NBA warrants activity for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 is as follows: 
      

      Number of     Weighted average exercise 
  warrants  price  
Unvested as of December 31, 2022    7,383,838  $  0.01 

Vested and exercisable    (230,745) $  0.01 
Unvested as of December 31, 2023    7,153,093  $  0.01 

Vested and exercisable    (922,980) $  0.01 
Unvested as of December 31, 2024   6,230,113  $  0.01 

 
As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, total exercisable warrants are 2,999,684 and 2,076,704, respectively. As of December 31, 2024, 
no warrants have been exercised. 
 
NHL warrants 

On July 22, 2021, Sportradar entered into a 10 year global partnership with the National Hockey League (“NHL”) (the “License 
Agreement”). Under the terms of the License Agreement, Sportradar is named as the official betting data rights, official betting 
streaming rights and official media data rights partner of the NHL, as well as an official integrity partner of the NHL. Pursuant to the 
License Agreement, Sportradar granted the NHL the right to acquire (i) an aggregate of up to 1,116,540 Class A ordinary shares for an 
exercise price of $8.96, which was exercised in 2021, and (ii) an additional amount of Class A ordinary shares calculated by dividing 
$30.0 million by the IPO price per share, which was not exercised and expired. Additionally, the Company granted the NHL a warrant 
to purchase 1,353,740 Class A ordinary shares at a subscription price of $23.45 per Class A ordinary share that remains outstanding 
but unvested. 

The inputs used in the measurement of the option to acquire up to 1,116,540 Class A shares were as follows: 
     

Valuation inputs:     2021  
Valuation model   Black-Scholes model  
Share price at grant date  $  27.00  
Exercise price  $  8.96  
Expected volatility (weighted-average)     30 %
Expected term (as of September 14, 2021)    0  
Risk-free interest rate (based on U.S. government bond)     0.04 %

 
The inputs used in the measurement of the warrant were as follows: 

    

Valuation inputs:     2021 
Valuation model   Cox-Ross-Rubinstein binominal model 
Share price at grant date  $  27.00 
Exercise price  $  23.45 
Expected volatility (weighted-average)    30% 
Expected term    120 months 
Risk-free interest rate (based on U.S. government bond)    1.28% 
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A summary of the Company’s NHL warrants activity for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 is as follows: 
      

      Number of     Weighted average exercise 
  warrants   price  
Unvested as of December 31, 2022    1,353,740  $  23.45 
Unvested as of December 31, 2023   1,353,740  $  23.45 
Unvested as of December 31, 2024    1,353,740  $  23.45 

 
As of December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, the warrant is not vested and therefore cannot be exercised. The fair value of equity 
instruments granted are part of cost of the license asset and the corresponding credit is recognized in additional paid-in capital in the 
amount of €28.0 million. Amortization expense related to the NHL warrants recognized in the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, 
and 2022 was €3.1 million, €3.1 million, and €3.6 million, respectively. 
 
Note 30. Subsequent events 

In February 2025, the Company entered into an eight-year exclusive license agreement (the “MLB Agreement”) through the 2032 
MLB season with MLB Advanced Media, L.P. (“MLB”) and its affiliates pursuant to which the Company will exclusively distribute 
ultra-low latency official MLB data, including MLB Statcast Data, across its global client network and audiovisual content to its 
international sports betting clients, commencing with the 2025 season. In consideration of the rights and benefits granted under the 
MLB Partnership Agreement, the Company has agreed to pay MLB relevant fees, including the applicable annual license fees. The 
Company also agreed that MLB shall be issued up to an aggregate of 1,855,724 Class A ordinary shares, subject to a vesting schedule 
until July 1, 2032, with the first tranche vesting upon execution of the MLB Agreement. 

On March 19, 2025, the Company entered into a transaction agreement (the “IMGA Agreement”) with IMG Arena US Parent, LLC 
(“IMG ARENA”), WME IMG, LLC (“Seller”), OB Global Arena Holdings LLC and Endeavor Operating Company, LLC for the 
acquisition of 100% of the outstanding equity interests of IMG ARENA (the “IMGA Acquisition”). The IMGA Acquisition, which is 
currently expected to close in the fourth quarter of 2025, is subject to receipt of regulatory approvals and satisfaction of closing 
conditions, and would result in the acquisition by the Company of the liabilities and assets of IMG ARENA, including its global sports 
betting portfolio business. The Company believes the acquisition of the IMG ARENA portfolio will enhance its content and product 
offering and further strengthen its strategic position in the industry. 

Under the terms of the IMGA Agreement, Seller will provide financial consideration totaling $225 million (subject to customary 
purchase price adjustments), comprised of $125 million (the “Direct Consideration”) paid to the Company and up to $100 million in 
cash prepayments to be made to certain sports rightsholders under contract with IMG ARENA. The Company will not be required to 
pay any financial consideration to Seller. With respect to the Direct Consideration, $25 million is payable at closing and the final $100 
million is payable in equal payments on the first and second anniversaries of the closing (in each case subject to customary purchase 
price adjustments). 
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Note 31. List of consolidated entities and associates 
 

      

Share of capital      December 31,      December 31,   
in%  2024  2023   
Holding          
Sportradar Group AG, Switzerland          
Subsidiaries          
Sportradar AG, Switzerland    99.99 %    99.99 % 
DataCentric Corporation, Philippines    100 %    100 % 
Sports Data AG, Switzerland    100 %    100 % 
Sportradar AB, Sweden    100 %    100 % 
Sportradar Americas Inc, USA    100 %    100 % 
Sportradar Solutions LLC, USA    100 %    100 % 
Sportradar US LLC, USA    100 %    100 % 
Sportradar AS, Norway    100 %    100 % 
Sportradar Australia Pty Ltd, Australia    100 %    100 % 
Sportradar Germany GmbH, Germany    100 %    100 % 
Sportradar GmbH, Germany    100 %    100 % 
Sportradar GmbH, Austria    100 %    100 % 
Sportradar informacijske tehnologije d.o.o., Slovenia    100 %    100 % 
Sportradar Latam S.A., Uruguay    100 %    100 % 
Sportradar Malta Limited, Malta    100 %    100 % 
Sportradar Managed Trading Services Limited, Gibraltar    100 %    100 % 
Sportradar OÜ, Estonia    100 %    100 % 
Sportradar Polska sp. z o.o., Poland    100 %    100 % 
Sportradar Singapore Pte.Ltd, Singapore    100 %    100 % 
Sportradar UK Ltd, UK    100 %    100 % 
Sportradar Virtual Gaming GmbH, Germany    100 %    100 % 
Sportradar SA (PTY) LTD, South Africa    100 %    100 % 
Sportradar Media Services GmbH, Austria    100 %    100 % 
NSoft d.o.o, Bosnia and Herzegovina    70 %    70 % 
NSoft Solutions d.o.o, Croatia    70 %    70 % 
NSoft LTD, Malta    70 %    70 % 
Stark Solutions d.o.o, Bosnia and Herzegovina    70 %  70 % 
Optima Information Services S.L.U., Spain    100 %    100 % 
Optima Research & Development S.L.U., Spain    — %    100 % 
Optima BEG d.o.o. Beograd, Serbia    100 %    100 % 
Sportradar B.V., The Netherlands    100 %  100 % 
Sportradar Data Technologies India LLP, India    100 %    100 % 
Atrium Sports, Inc., USA    100 %    100 % 
Atrium Sports Ltd, UK    — %    100 % 
Atrium Sports Pty Ltd, Australia    — %    100 % 
Synergy Sports Technology LLC, USA    100 %    100 % 
Keemotion Group Inc., USA    100 %    100 % 
Synergy Sports, SRL, Belgium    100 %    100 % 
Keemotion LLC, USA    100 %    100 % 
Sportradar Slovakia s.r.o, Slovakia.    100 %    100 % 
Sportradar Cyprus Limited, Cyprus   100 %    100 % 
Sportradar Jersey Holding Ltd, UK    100 %    100 % 
Sportradar Management Ltd, UK    100 %    100 % 
Fresh Eight Ltd., UK    100 %    100 % 
Sportradar Capital S.à.r.l., Luxembourg    100 %    100 % 
Vaix Ltd., UK    100 %    100 % 
Vaix Greece IKE, Greece    100 %  100 % 
Sportradar Brazil Ltda, Brazil    100 %    — % 
Sportradar Canada Ltd, Canada    100 %    — % 
Associated companies that are accounted for under the equity method          
Bayes Esports Solutions GmbH, Germany    — %    42.58 % 



 
 

To the General Meeting of Sportradar Group AG, St. Gallen 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of Sportradar Group AG (the Company), which comprise the balance 
sheet as at December 31, 2024, and the income statement for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements comply with Swiss law and the Company’s articles of incorporation. 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Standards on Auditing (SA-CH). Our 
responsibilities under those provisions and standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with 
the provisions of Swiss law and the requirements of the Swiss audit profession, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the current period. We have determined that there are no key audit matters to communicate 
in our report. 

Other Information 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements, the stand-alone financial 
statements of the Company, the compensation report and our auditor’s reports thereon. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
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If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 

Board of Directors’ Responsibilities for the Financial Statements 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the 
provisions of Swiss law and the Company’s articles of incorporation, and for such internal control as the Board of 
Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Swiss law and SA-CH will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with Swiss law and SA-CH, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances. 

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made.  

— Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
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based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.  

We communicate with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide the Board of Directors or its relevant committee with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to 
eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 
 
From the matters communicated to the Board of Directors or its relevant committee, we determine those matters 
that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the 
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report, unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

In accordance with article 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and PS-CH 890, we confirm that an internal control system 
exists, which has been designed for the preparation of the financial statements according to the instructions of the 
Board of Directors. However, a material weakness in the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting has 
been identified in relation to the insufficient design and implementation of controls. 
 
Based on our audit in accordance with Art. 728a para. 1 item 2 CO, we confirm that the proposal of the Board of 
Directors complies with Swiss law and the Company's articles of incorporation and recommend that the financial 
statements submitted to you be approved. 
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KPMG AG 

{{Signatureleft}} {{Signatureright}} 
Tomas Dietl 
Licensed Audit Expert 
Auditor in Charge 

Mohammad Nafeie 

Zurich, March 19, 2025 

KPMG AG, Badenerstrasse 172, CH-8036 Zurich

© 2025 KPMG AG, a Swiss corporation, is a group company of KPMG Holding LLP, which is a member of the KPMG global organization of independent firms affiliated with 
KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. 



Sportradar Group AG, St. Gallen

Balance Sheet as of 31 December Notes 2024 2023

CHF CHF
ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 139’338’203.21 120’532’861.55
Other short-term receivables
- from third parties 2’374’999.92 2’023’545.37
- from entities in which the entity holds a participation 83’523’391.92 47’627’621.41
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 3’358’664.21 2’629’981.17

228’595’259.26 172’814’009.50

Non-current assets

Financial assets
- Loans due from entities in which the entity holds a participation 309’913’589.87 352’879’349.81
Investments 2.1 1’331’701’674.98 1’302’896’001.53

1’641’615’264.85 1’655’775’351.34

1’870’210’524.11 1’828’589’360.84

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Short-term liabilities

Trade accounts payable
- to third parties 1’990’317.33 2’795’501.42
- to entities in which the entity holds a participation 25’406’740.94 17’621’223.39
Other short-term liabilities
- to third parties 27’438.73 280’961.85
- to entities in which the entity holds a participation 7’360’157.93 7’660’911.20
Accrued expenses and deferred income 3’339’659.33 2’821’703.51
Provision for unrealized conversion gains 12’794’797.40 0.00

50’919’111.66 31’180’301.37

Shareholders' equity
Share capital 3.2 29’945’992.61 29’816’126.91
Legal capital reserves
- Reserves from capital contributions 3.2 765’909’243.06 750’627’354.20
- Other capital reserves 3.2 3’783’106’098.54 3’786’404’796.68
Treasury shares 3.5 -18’101’056.66 -2’279’618.73
Accumulated losses

    Accumulated losses brought forward -2’767’159’599.59 -2’665’490’259.35
     Profit/(Loss) for the period 25’590’734.50 -101’669’340.24

1’819’291’412.45 1’797’409’059.47

1’870’210’524.11 1’828’589’360.84



Sportradar Group AG, St. Gallen

Income statement Notes 2024 2023

CHF CHF

Net revenue from sale of goods and services 17’293’930.11 8’389’170.38

Material expenses and purchased services -6’951’125.13 -11’169’877.42
Personnel expenses -2’201’362.58 -2’635’034.20
Other operating expenses 2.3 -16’716’016.72 -13’789’867.38

Total operating expenses -25’868’504.43 -27’594’779.00

Operating result -8’574’574.32 -19’205’608.62

Financial income 2.5 35’058’526.23 26’865’202.26
Financial expenses 2.6 -860’982.01 -6’944’037.08
Foreign currency conversion expense 0.00 -102’296’698.15

Profit/(Loss) for the period before taxes 25’622’969.90 -101’581’141.59

Direct taxes -32’235.40 -88’198.65

Profit/(Loss) for the period 25’590’734.50 -101’669’340.24



Sportradar Group AG, St. Gallen

Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Principles

1.1 General information

1.2 Other current receivables

1.3 Investments
Investments include participations in subsidiaries. Participations in subsidiaries are recognized as investments as soon as
Sportradar Group AG holds the majority of voting and capital rights in the company. Investments are valued at their 
acquisition cost adjusted for impairment losses.

1.4 Long term liabilities

1.5 Share-based payments

1.6 Treasury shares

1.7 Unrealized foreign exchange gains and losses
The book-keeping currency is Euro (EUR). The financial statements in EUR are translated to Swiss Francs (CHF). For translation 
purposes, all assets and liabilities are translated using the foreign exchange rate as of year-end as published by the Federal Tax 
Authority (FTA). Revenues and costs reflected in the income statement are translated using the average foreign exchange rate as 
published by the FTA. Equity positions are translated using historical foreign exchange rates. If the resulting translation difference 
is a loss, this loss is recognized as foreign currency conversion loss in the income statement. If the resulting translation difference 
is a gain, a long-term provision is recognized within the balance sheet and presented as a provision for unrealized foreign 
exchange gain due to translation.

Sportradar Group established various shared based incentive programs under which eligible participants  are entitled to 
equity based awards. 
Board members of Sportradar Group AG are eligible to shared based incentive programs based on Sportradar Group AG 
shares. The fair value of the equity compensation instruments is determined at the grant date and recorded to the income statement 
as personnel expense with a corresponding offsetting entry to equity.

These financial statements were prepared according to the principles of the Swiss Law on Accounting and Financial Reporting
(32nd title of the Swiss Code of Obligations). Where not prescribed by law, the significant accounting and valuation principles 
applied are described below.

Other current receivables  are recognized at nominal value.  No allowances have been booked in the reporting period.  

Interest bearing liabilities are accounted for at nominal value. Long-term loans denominated in foreign currencies are converted
at the current closing rate. Unrealised exchange losses are recorded immediately whereas unrealised exchange gains are not 
recorded (imparity principle).

Since Sportradar Group AG prepares consolidated financial statements in accordance with a recognised financial reporting
standard (IFRS Accounting Standards), the company  is not presenting a cash flow statement and a 
management report and, in accordance with the statutory provisions, does not disclose details on the maturities of 
long-term interest-bearing liabilitites and audit fees.

Treasury shares are recognized at acquisition date at cost as a negative item in equity. In a subsequent sale of delivery in the 
context of share based payments, profit or loss arising from the sale of treasury shares is recognized directly in equity under other 
capital reserves.



Sportradar Group AG, St. Gallen

Notes

2. Disclosure on balance sheet and income statement items

2.1 Investments

a) Direct investments

Company name, domicile Currency

31.12.2024 31.12.2023 31.12.2024 31.12.2023

Sportradar Jersey Holding Ltd., Jersey 100 100 EUR 112.00 112.00

b) Significant indirect investments

Company name, domicile Currency

31.12.2024 31.12.2023 31.12.2024 31.12.2023

Sportradar AG, St. Gallen (share capital) 99.997 99.997 CHF 3’621’495 3’621’495
Sportradar AG, St. Gallen (participation capital) 100 100 CHF 138’511 138’511

2.2 Other operating expenses 2024 2023
CHF CHF

D&O insurance       3’367’556.39               5’230’460.31 
Indirect taxes (incl. withholding taxes)            36’663.13                    40’034.50 
Consulting expenses       6’829’217.10               5’261’755.59 
Other operating expenses       6’482’580.10               3’257’616.99 

    16’716’016.72             13’789’867.38 

2.3 Financial Income 2024 2023
CHF CHF

Interest income     24’292’883.36             25’999’876.81 
Gains on foreign currency exchange (realized and unrealized)     10’765’642.87                  830’836.13 
Other financial income                         -                      34’489.32 

    35’058’526.23             26’865’202.26 

2.4 Financial Expenses 2024 2023
CHF CHF

Interest expense              7’887.25                      2’556.43 
Losses on foreign currency exchange (realized and unrealized)          853’094.76               6’941’480.65 

         860’982.01               6’944’037.08 

Unrealized exchange gains are consequence of the revaluation of  foreign currency investments recorded as cash and cash 
equivalents on the company's balance sheet.   
Interest income is earned by the company from lending the loans to its subsidiaries.

Voting and capital rights in % Capital

Voting and capital rights in % Capital

All subsidiaries directly or indirectly held by Sportradar Group AG are disclosed in note 33  in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements of Sportradar Group AG.



Sportradar Group AG, St. Gallen

Notes

3. Other information

3.1 Full-time equivalents

3.2 Shareholders' Equity

a) Share capital
31.12.2024 31.12.2023 31.12.2024 31.12.2023

Nominal Value [CHF]

Class A ordinary shares 0.10 209’092’856            207’794’199             20’909’285.60   20’779’419.90           
Class B ordinary shares 0.01 903’670’701            903’670’701             9’036’707.01     9’036’707.01             

29’945’992.61   29’816’126.91           

At the Annual General Meeting of 16 May 2023, the Board of Directors was authorized to increase or decrease the share capital by a maximum of
CHF 14,676,490.00 by issuing up to 146,765,900 Class A ordinary shares at a par value of CHF 0.10 each, until 16 May 2028.

b) Equity Transactions in 2023/24

Nominal Value [CHF]
Reserves from capital 
contribution [CHF]

Other capital reserves 
[CHF]

Capital as of 31/12/2022 29’721’571.41        885’462’793.33       3’627’774’565.68     
 - Capital increase cash (March, 2023 & December, 2023)* 94’555.50 16’315’681.97 0.00
 - Adjustment in relation to non confirmation of Swiss FTA** 0.00 -151’151’121.10 150’584’745.39
-  Vesting of RSU`s in 2023 0.00 0.00 8’045’485.61

Capital as of 31/12/2023 29’816’126.91        750’627’354.20       3’786’404’796.68     
 - Capital increase cash (March, 2023 & December, 2023)* 129’865.70              15’281’888.86         -                            
-  Vesting of RSU`s in 2024 -                           -                           (3’298’698.14)           
Capital as of 31/12/2024 29’945’992.61        765’909’243.06       3’783’106’098.54     

*see 3a
** see 3c

Where applicable, the contributions above the nominal value of the shares were allocated to the "Reserves from capital contributions". 
The remaining amounts were allocated to "Other capital reserves".

The annual average number of full-time equivalents for the reporting year did not exceed 10. 

Conditional share capital increase in 2024, 1'298'657 Class A ordinary shares, 129'865.70 CHF share capital not yet registered in the commercial register, see also 3b) for equity 
transactions in 2023/2024.

Number of Shares Share Capital [CHF]
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Notes

c) Reserves from capital contributions

3.3 Major shareholders

The following individuals/organisations held a stake of higher than 5%  in Sportradar Group AG.  

2024 Class A 
ordinary shares

Class B 
ordinary shares

Carsten Koerl                      31’199 903’670’701            30.19% 81.21%
Canadian Pension Plan Investment Board               79’555’080 -                           26.57% 7.15%
Radcliff SR  LLC               15’265’392 -                           5.10% 1.37%
TCV               34’079’496 -                           11.38% 3.06%

2023 Class A 
ordinary shares

Class B 
ordinary shares

Carsten Koerl                 3’531’199 903’670’701            31.49% 81.62%
Canadian Pension Plan Investment Board               79’555’080 -                           26.68% 7.16%
Radcliff SR  LLC               15’265’392 -                           5.12% 1.37%
TCV               34’079’496 -                           11.43% 3.07%

3.4 Disclosure of participation rights

The Board of Directors were granted the following participation rights:

31.12.2024 31.12.2023 31.12.2024 31.12.2023

Allocated to the Board of Directors                 115’563                  107’294 1’110’801             1’147’404       

*Upon vesting, the Restricted Stock Units (RSU's) will be converted to Class A ordinary shares.

3.5 Treasury shares

average market 
value in CHF Number of shares Amount in in CHF

Balance at 01.01.2023 9.51 285’964 2’718’473.62

Purchase/surrendered                         11.25                     787’776 8’859’723.09
Transfer for share based payments                       (18.01)                   (843’123) -15’185’020.22
Gain (+) / loss (-) 5’886’442.23

Balance 31.12.2023 9.88 230’617 2’279’618.73

Purchase/surrendered 10.52                  2’627’726 27’637’752.44
Transfer for share based payments                         (9.15)                   (931’057) -8’517’616.37
Gain (+) / loss (-) -3’298’698.14

Balance 31.12.2024 9.39 1’927’286 18’101’056.66

3.6 Significant events after the balance sheet date

Number of RSU's* Amount in CHF

At the time when these financial statements were authorized for issue, the Board of Directors were not aware of any events that 
would materially affect these financial statements.

Capital / Voting interest as of 
31.12.2024

Capital / Voting interest as of 
31.12.2023

The reserves from capital contributions include the premium from the capital increases in 2021. The distribution from the reserves 
from capital contributions is fiscally treated like a redemption of share capital. The Swiss Federal Tax Administration (FTA) 
has not confirmed the disclosed reserves from capital contributions as capital contribution within the meaning 
of article 5 para. 1bis VStG, therefor non-confirmed amounts as of 31.12.2022 have been reclassified to other capital reserves.



Sportradar Group AG, St. Gallen

Proposed carry forward of the accumulated losses 2024

CHF

Loss brought forward (2’767’159’599.59)        
Profit for the year 25’590’734.50               

Accumulated losses (2’741’568’865.10)        

The Board of Directors proposes to carry forward
the accumulated losses:

To be carried forward (2’741’568’865.10)        

(2’741’568’865.10)        



 
 

 

 

 

To the General Meeting of Sportradar Group AG, St. Gallen 

Report on the Audit of the Compensation Report 

Opinion  
We have audited the Compensation Report of Sportradar Group AG (the Company) for the year ended December 
31, 2024. The audit was limited to the information pursuant to Art. 734a-734f of the Swiss Code of Obligations 
(CO) contained in sections 2.1.1, 2.1.2, 2.2.1, 2.2.2, 2.3, 3 and 4 of the Compensation Report.  
 
In our opinion, the information pursuant to Art. 734a-734f CO in the accompanying Compensation Report complies 
with Swiss law and the Company’s articles of incorporation. 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Standards on Auditing (SA-CH). Our 
responsibilities under those provisions and standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Compensation Report” section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with 
the provisions of Swiss law and the requirements of the Swiss audit profession, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Other Information  
The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, but does not include sections 2.1.1, 2.1.2, 2.2.1, 2.2.2, 2.3, 3 and 4 of the 
Compensation Report, the consolidated financial statements, the stand-alone financial statements and our 
auditor’s reports thereon. 
 
Our opinion on the Compensation Report does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the Compensation Report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the audited financial information in 
the Compensation Report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Board of Directors' Responsibilities for the Compensation Report 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of a Compensation Report in accordance with the 
provisions of Swiss law and the Company’s articles of incorporation, and for such internal control as the Board of 
Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of a Compensation Report that is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Board of Directors is also responsible for designing the 
compensation system and defining individual compensation packages. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Compensation Report 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the information pursuant to Art. 734a-734f CO is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Swiss law and SA-CH will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this Compensation Report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Swiss law and SA-CH, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement in the Compensation Report, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made. 

We communicate with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the Board of Directors or its relevant committee with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to 
eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 

KPMG AG 

{{Signatureleft}} {{Signatureright}} 
Tomas Dietl 
Licensed Audit Expert 
Auditor in-Charge 

Mohammad Nafeie 

Zurich, March 19, 2025 

Enclosure: 
-  Compensation Report

KPMG AG, Badenerstrasse 172, CH-8036 Zurich

© 2025 KPMG AG, a Swiss corporation, is a group company of KPMG Holding LLP, which is a member of the KPMG global organization of independent firms affiliated with 
KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. 
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1. Compensation Framework
 
1.1. Legal framework for compensation and reporting on compensation 

 
The compensation and reporting thereon at Sportradar Group AG (the “Com-
pany” or “Sportradar”) is governed by the rules and guidelines as in force and 
effect as of December 31, 2024, in particular the Swiss Code of Obligations, 
Swiss Code of Best Practice for Corporate Governance, the Company's articles 
of association (the “Articles”)1 (articles 7, 8 and 25 et seq. of the Company’s 
Articles), the Organizational Regulations2, and the Compensation Committee 
Charter.3

 
The Swiss Code of Obligations stipulates say-on-pay rules as well as rules on 
the reporting of compensation. Furthermore, the Swiss Code of Obligations stip-
ulates that certain forms of compensations require a basis in the articles of asso-
ciation and prohibits specific forms of compensation altogether, including but 
not limited to, golden handshakes, advance compensation, and M&A incentive 
fees.  
 
Reporting of compensation as required under applicable U.S. laws and regula-
tions, specifically under the regulatory requirements of the U.S. Securities and 
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), forms part of the Company's Form 20-F.4  
 

1.2. Company's governance framework regarding compensation 
 
The Company’s board of directors (the “Board”) is ultimately responsible for 
determining (i) the compensation strategy and the principles, structure and de-
sign of compensation plans for the Board and the Executive Management, (ii) the 
long-term incentive and equity plans to be offered by the Company, (iii) the 
compensation amount for the members of the Board and for the Executive Man-
agement to be presented to the shareholders for approval, (iv) the terms of em-
ployment of the CEO and other members of the Executive Management, (v) the 
compensation of the Executive Management as well as their good or bad leaver 
status under applicable bonus and equity plans in case of termination of employ-
ment, and (vi) the Company’s financial, strategic and operational targets and the 
evaluation of target achievement. 
 
The Company has a standing Compensation Committee of the Board. Its mem-
bers are elected at the annual general meeting of shareholders (the “AGM”) from 
among the members of the Board. The term of office of the members of the 
Compensation Committee is one year and ends with the conclusion of the re-
spective following AGM. Re-election is permitted. 
 

 
1  The following is a direct link to Sportradar’s publicly filed Articles: https://www.sec.gov/Archives/ed-

gar/data/1836470/000110465924036445/srad-20231231xex1d1.htm  
2  The following is a direct link to Sportradar’s Organizational Regulations: https://investors.sportradar.com/static-

files/15291c32-b352-48a2-883d-0304984c98b7  
3  The Charter of the Compensation Committee of the Board may be accessed at the following direct link: 

https://investors.sportradar.com/static-files/b4b2e289-d98e-44cd-b02a-77abd2a5fa71  
4  Sportradar’s Form 20-F report for the year ended December 31, 2024 may be accessed at the following 

link: https://investors.sportradar.com/financials-filings/sec-filings.  
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The Compensation Committee assists the Board in establishing and reviewing 
the Company’s compensation philosophy and policy and determining executive 
officer compensation (other than the compensation of the chief executive officer, 
which is determined by the Board). Under SEC and Nasdaq rules, there are 
heightened independence standards for members of the Compensation Commit-
tee. All of committee members meet these heightened standards.  
 
The Compensation Committee is, among other things as listed in article 21 of 
the Articles and the Compensation Committee Charter5, responsible for:  

• developing for Board approval a compensation philosophy consistent with 
the Articles;  

• administering the Company’s equity-based compensation plans and claw-
back policies;  

• recommending the compensation for Board members to the Board, for adop-
tion at the general meeting of shareholders;   

• making recommendations to the Board regarding CEO compensation; and 
• determining the compensation of our key executives other than the CEO. 
 

The AGM bindingly and separately votes on (i) the aggregate maximum amount 
of the compensation of the Board for the term of office until the next AGM; and 
(ii) the aggregate maximum amount of the compensation of the Executive Man-
agement for the next financial year. Each year, the AGM shall hold a consulta-
tive vote on the Company’s compensation report (article 7 of the Articles). 
 

1.3. General principles of compensation  
 

The Company’s compensation strategy is based on the principles of building a 
performance culture and driving ownership.  The aim of this strategy is to main-
tain competitive compensation practices that:  

• Attract, motivate, and engage performance-oriented individuals to deliver 
on Sportradar’s business and growth plans, in particular engineering talent 
in competitive markets, which is critical to enable our growth.  

• Create an ownership culture amongst employees to align with the interests 
of shareholders for the purpose of driving a consistent link to sustainable 
company performance. 

• Differentiate pay to motivate employees and incentivize for sustainable fi-
nancial and operational performance results and desired behavior. 

• Provide reward opportunities.  
Based on these principles, the Company has designed its compensation pro-
gram for Executive Management to create long-term value for our shareholders 
by incentivizing and rewarding market-leading performance and an ownership 
mindset, which the Company expects will translate into long-term value for 
shareholders.  These incentives are balanced by the risk of lower levels of per-
formance-based compensation being earned if the Company does not meet its 
performance objectives.   

 
5  The Charter of the Compensation Committee of the Board may be accessed at the following direct link: 

https://investors.sportradar.com/static-files/b4b2e289-d98e-44cd-b02a-77abd2a5fa71 
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The Company or companies controlled by it may enter into non-competition 
agreements with members of the Executive Management after termination of 
employment, if these non-competition agreements are justified from a business 
perspective. The total compensation payable during the term of the non-compe-
tition agreement shall not exceed the amount of one annual salary (which is 
equal to the average base and short-term variable compensation paid in the 
three years prior to the termination of employment).  
 
The Company may grant members of the Board or the Executive Management 
credits and loans at market conditions. The total amount of such credits and 
loans may not exceed CHF 5 million. 
 
Sportradar retained Aon Solutions UK Limited (“Aon”) to undertake a total 
compensation review for its executive population in preparation for the com-
pensation review cycle after its initial public offering in September 2021 (the 
“IPO”).  Aon performed a review of Sportradar’s approved compensation phi-
losophy and executive compensation, performed competitive assessment sum-
mary covering cash and equity, and detailed market benchmarks by pay ele-
ment.  Sportradar continues to engage Aon on executive compensation matters, 
including in 2024 in the implementation of the PSU compensation scheme, and 
from time to time, Sportradar may engage other external companies or consult-
ants for ongoing general support unrelated to any specific compensation issue.  
 

1.4. Principles of variable compensation and compensation programs 
 
(a) General Principles 
 
To achieve the aims of its compensation strategy, Sportradar implements incen-
tive and bonus programs. The incentive plans have specific performance targets 
that are set for the relevant performance period. Payouts are contingent on 
meeting the criteria, which establish the level of payout based on the extent to 
which the performance targets were met. The bonus program structures payouts 
only upon the completion of a specified task and applicable conditions estab-
lished before the task and conditions were met. 

 
In 2024, our Executive Management had the opportunity to earn annual cash 
bonuses to compensate them for attaining short-term company and individual 
performance goals. Each officer had an annual target bonus for 2024 that is ex-
pressed as a percentage of his or her annual base salary. Awards under the bo-
nus plan for 2024 were generally based on Company-wide financial Adjusted 
EBITDA, revenue and cash flow metrics, as well as their individual contribu-
tions and were determined by our Compensation Committee (and the Board in 
case of the matters pertaining to the Chief Executive Officer). 

 
(b) Omnibus Stock Plan 

 
The Company has adopted, and shareholders approved in a consultative vote, 
the Sportradar Group AG Omnibus Stock Plan (the “2021 Plan”), under which 
we may grant cash and equity-based incentive awards to eligible individuals in 
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order to attract, retain and motivate the persons who make important contribu-
tions to us and our subsidiaries. The following summarizes the relevant terms 
of the 2021 Plan:  
 
Eligibility and Administration

Our employees, consultants and directors, and employees and consultants of our 
subsidiaries, are eligible to receive awards under the 2021 Plan. The 2021 
Plan is administered by our Board, which may and has delegated its duties and 
responsibilities to the Compensation Committee (referred to collectively as the 
plan administrator below), subject to the limitations imposed under the 2021 
Plan, stock exchange rules and other applicable laws. The plan administrator
has the authority to take all actions and make all determinations under the 2021 
Plan, to interpret the 2021 Plan and award agreements and to adopt, amend and 
repeal rules for the administration of the 2021 Plan as it deems advisable. The 
plan administrator also has the authority to grant awards, determine which eli-
gible individuals receive awards and set the terms and conditions of all awards 
under the 2021 Plan, including any vesting and vesting acceleration provisions, 
subject to the conditions and limitations in the 2021 Plan.  
 
Shares Available for Awards  
 
The Company initially reserved an aggregate of 29,239,091 Class A ordinary 
shares for issuance (e.g., out of conditional or authorized capital under the cap-
ital band  or-
dinary shares may be issued under the 2021 Plan upon the exercise of incentive 
stock options. As of December 31, 2024, approximately 14,570,974 of the re-
serve of 29,239,091 shares have been granted and the remaining shares remain 
available for future grant. 
 
If an award under the 2021 Plan expires, lapses or is terminated, exchanged for 
cash, surrendered, repurchased, canceled without having been fully exercised or 
forfeited, any unused shares subject to the award will, as applicable, become or 
again be available for new grants under the 2021 Plan. Awards granted under 
the 2021 Plan in substitution for any options or other stock or stock-based 
awards granted by an entity before the entity’s merger or consolidation with us 
or our acquisition of the entity’s property or stock will not reduce the shares 
available for grant under the 2021 Plan but may count against the maximum 
number of shares that may be issued upon the exercise of incentive stock op-
tions.  
 
Awards  
 
The 2021 Plan provides for the grant of stock options, including incentive stock 
options (“ISOs”), and nonqualified options (“NSOs”), stock appreciation rights 
(“SARs”), restricted stock, dividend equivalents, restricted stock units 
(“RSUs”), and other stock or cash- based awards, including PSUs. Certain 
awards under the 2021 Plan may constitute or provide for payment of “nonqual-

U.S. Internal Revenue 
Code of 1986, (the “Code”). All awards under the 2021 Plan will be set forth in 
award agreements, which detail the terms and conditions of awards, including 
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any applicable vesting and payment terms and post-termination exercise limita-
tions. A brief description of each award type follows:

Stock Options and SARs. Stock options provide for the purchase of 

price set on the grant date. ISOs, by contrast to NSOs, may provide 
tax deferral beyond exercise and favorable capital gains tax treat-
ment to their holders if certain holding period and other require-
ments of the Code are satisfied. SARs entitle their holder, upon 
exercise, to receive from us an amount equal to the appreciation of 
the shares subject to the award between the grant date and the ex-
ercise date. The plan administrator will determine the number of 
shares covered by each option and SAR, the exercise price of each 
option and SAR and the conditions and limitations applicable to 
the exercise of each option and SAR. The exercise price of a stock 
option or SAR will not be less than 100% of the fair market value 
of the underlying share on the grant date (or 110% in the case of 
ISOs granted to certain significant stockholders), except with re-
spect to certain substitute awards granted in connection with a cor-
porate transaction. The term of a stock option or SAR may not be 
longer than ten years (or five years in the case of ISOs granted to 
certain significant stockholders).  

 Restricted Stock and RSUs.

feitable unless and until specified conditions are met and which 
may be subject to a purchase price. RSUs are contractual promises 
to deliver shares of ou
may also remain forfeitable unless and until specified conditions 
are met and may be accompanied by the right to receive the equiv-

A ordinary 
shares prior to the delivery of the underlying shares. The plan ad-
ministrator may provide that the delivery of the shares underlying 
RSUs will be deferred on a mandatory basis or at the election of 
the participant. The terms and conditions applicable to restricted 
stock and RSUs will be determined by the plan administrator, sub-
ject to the conditions and limitations contained in the 2021 Plan.   

 Other Stock or Cash Based Awards. -based 

nary shares and other awards, such as PSUs, that are valued wholly 
or partially by referring to, or otherwise based on, shares of our 

-
based awards may be granted to participants and may also be avail-
able as a payment form in the settlement of other awards, as 
standalone payments and as payment in lieu of compensation to 
which a participant is otherwise entitled. The plan administrator 
will determine the terms and conditions of other stock or cash-
based awards, which may include performance goals and vesting 
conditions. 
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Performance Criteria

The plan administrator may select performance criteria for an award to establish 
performance goals for a performance period. Performance criteria under the 

losses (either before or after one or more of interest, taxes, depreciation, amor-
- -based compensation expense); gross or net sales 

or revenue or sales or revenue growth; net income (either before or after taxes) 
or adjusted net income; profits (including but not limited to gross profits, net 
profits, profit growth, net operation profit or economic profit), profit return ra-
tios or operating margin; budget or operating earnings (either before or after 
taxes or before or after allocation of corporate overhead and bonus); cash flow 
(including operating cash flow and free cash flow or cash flow return on capital); 
return on assets; return on capital or invested capital; cost of capital; return on 
stockholders’ equity; total stockholder return; return on sales; costs, reductions 
in costs and cost control measures; expenses; working capital; earnings or loss 
per share; adjusted earnings or loss per share; price per share or dividends per 
share (or appreciation in or maintenance of such price or dividends); regulatory 
achievements or compliance; implementation, completion or attainment of ob-
jectives relating to research, development, regulatory, commercial, or strategic 
milestones or developments; market share; economic value or economic value 
added models; division, group or corporate financial goals; customer satisfac-
tion/growth; customer service; employee satisfaction; recruitment and mainte-
nance of personnel; human resources management; supervision of litigation and 
other legal matters; strategic partnerships and transactions; financial ratios (in-
cluding those measuring liquidity, activity, profitability or leverage); debt levels 
or reductions; sales or placement-related goals; financing and other capital rais-
ing transactions; cash on hand; acquisition activity; investment sourcing activ-
ity; and marketing initiatives, any of which may be measured in absolute terms 
or as compared to any incremental increase or decrease.  
 
Such performance goals also may be based solely by reference to the Com-
pany’s performance or the performance of a subsidiary, division, business seg-
ment or business unit of the Company or a subsidiary, or based upon perfor-
mance relative to performance of other companies or upon comparisons of any 
of the indicators of performance relative to performance of other companies. 
When determining performance goals, the plan administrator may provide for 
exclusion of the impact of an event or occurrence which the plan administrator 
determines should appropriately be excluded, including, without limita-

-
corporate or capital structure, events unrelated to the business or outside of the 
control of management, foreign exchange considerations, and legal, regulatory, 
tax or accounting changes.  

 
Certain Transactions  
 
In connection with certain corporate transactions and events affecting our 

cable laws or accounting principles, the plan administrator has broad discretion 
to take action under the 2021 Plan to prevent the dilution or enlargement of in-
tended benefits, facilitate the transaction or event or give effect to the change in 
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applicable laws or accounting principles. This includes canceling awards for 
cash or property, accelerating the vesting of awards, providing for the assump-
tion or substitution of awards by a successor entity, adjusting the number and 
type of shares subject to outstanding awards and/or with respect to which awards 
may be granted under the 2021 Plan and replacing or terminating awards under 

-
with our stockholders, the plan administrator will make equitable adjustments 
to awards outstanding under the 2021 Plan as it deems appropriate to reflect the 
transaction.  
 
Plan Amendment and Termination

Our Board may amend or terminate the 2021 Plan at any time; however, no 
amendment, other than an amendment that increases the number of shares avail-
able under the 2021 Plan, may materially and adversely affect an award out-
standing under the 2021 Plan without the consent of the affected participant and 
stockholder approval will be obtained for any amendment to the extent neces-
sary to comply with applicable laws. Further, the plan administrator may and 
shall have the right to, without the approval of our stockholders, amend any 
outstanding stock option or SAR to reduce its price per share. The 2021 Plan 
will remain in effect until the tenth anniversary of its effective date, unless ear-
lier terminated by our Board. No awards may be granted under the 2021 Plan 
after its termination.  

 
Claw-Back Provisions, Transferability and Participant Payments  
 
All awards are subject to our Recovery Policy, to the extent applicable, and any 
Company claw-back policy as set forth in the Company’s claw-back policies or 
the applicable award agreement. Except as the plan administrator may determine 
or provide in an award agreement, awards under the 2021 Plan are gener-

-
subject to the plan administrator’s consent, pursuant to a domestic relations or-
der, and are generally exercisable only by the participant. With regard to tax 
withholding obligations arising in connection with awards under the 2021 Plan 
and exercise price obligations arising in connection with the exercise of stock 
options under the 2021 Plan, the plan administrator may, in its discretion, accept 

specified conditions, a promissory note, a “market sell order,” such other con-
sideration as the plan administrator deems suitable or any combination of the 
foregoing.  

 
(c) Employee Share Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”)  

 
In connection with the IPO, we adopted, and our shareholders approved in a 
consultative vote, the 2021 Employee Share Purchase Plan.  Specifically, the 
ESPP authorizes (1) the grant of options to employees that are intended to qual-
ify for favorable U.S. federal tax treatment under Section 423 of the Code (the 
“Section 423 Component”), and (2) the grant of options that are not intended to 
be tax-qualified under Section 423 of the Code to facilitate participation for em-
ployees who are not eligible to benefit from favorable U.S. federal tax treatment 
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and, to the extent applicable, to provide flexibility to comply with non-U.S. laws 
and other considerations.   
  
To ensure we had the ability to implement our ESPP in 2021, we obtained ap-
proval of the ESPP and a total of 5,912,794 Class A ordinary shares was initially 
reserved for issuance. We determined however, that it was not strategically 
necessary to implement the ESPP as of this time. As such, no directors or exec-
utive officers have participated in the ESPP since its inception. 
 

(d) Performance Stock Unit Program 
 
In 2024, to further incentivize performance and align our executive officers’ 
interests with the interests of our shareholders, we implemented a new perfor-
mance stock unit (“PSU”) program under which our executive officers each re-
ceived grants of PSUs.  The PSUs vest in one-third installments each year be-
ginning on the second anniversary of the grant date.  The three PSU tranches 
are also contingent on our total shareholder return performance relative to the 
constituents of the S&P 500 Information Technology index over a 2-year, 3-
year or 4-year performance period, as follows: 

Performance for Ap-
plicable Period Level Portion of PSU Tranche vesting 

Below Target Under 40th percentile 0% 
Threshold 40th percentile 50% 

Target 60th percentile 100% 
Over Target 80th percentile 150% 
Maximum 95th percentile or higher 200% 

 

Our Board and Compensation Committee set the performance goals for the 
PSUs at a level requiring strong performance, such that our total shareholder 
return would need to be in at least the 60th percentile of the S&P 500 Infor-
mation Technology index to earn the target number of PSUs. 

Consistent with our emphasis on performance-based pay, the PSUs granted in 
2024 made up 70% of the grant-date value of the long-term incentive compen-
sation awarded to our executive officers.  The remaining 30% consisted of 
time-vesting restricted stock units. 

1.5. Principles of compensation for members of the Board of Directors 
 
The principles of compensation for members of the Board are provided in article 
27 of the Articles.6  
 
The Board has approved a compensation program pursuant to which the mem-
bers of the Board receive, for their one-year term of office, a retainer consisting 
of cash and equity components, subject to prior approval by the AGM. Such 
director compensation program consists of the following elements and applies 
to our non-employee directors and directors not affiliated with certain of our 
shareholders: 

 
6  The following is a direct link to Sportradar’s publicly filed Articles: https://www.sec.gov/Archives/ed-

gar/data/1836470/000110465924036445/srad-20231231xex1d1.htm 
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• annual cash fees of $75,000; 
• annual cash fees of $20,000 for Chairmanship of the Compensation 

Committee, $15,000 for the Chairmanship of the Nominating and Cor-
porate Governance Committee, $30,000 for Chairmanship of the Au-
dit Committee, and $75,000 for Chairmanship of the Board; and 

• an annual RSU grant on the date of the AGM vesting on the one-year 
anniversary of the grant date (subject to continued service). The grant 
value is $175,000 for the directors and $350,000 for the Chair of the 
Board. 

 
All cash fees are paid quarterly.  We reimburse each director for out-of-pocket 
expenses incurred in connection with attending our Board and committee meet-
ings. 

 
1.6. Principles of compensation for members of the Executive Management 
 

The principles of compensation for the Executive Management are provided in 
article 28 of the Articles.7 Members of the Executive Management receive a 
fixed compensation consisting of a base salary, contributions to pension schemes 
or similar benefits and, where applicable, other benefits in cash or kind. In addi-
tion, members of Executive Management are eligible for performance based 
short-term variable compensation and long-term variable compensation. Varia-
ble compensation may be awarded in the form of shares, options or equivalent 
instruments (e.g., RSUs and/or PSUs), other units or in cash. The Company may 
procure the required shares through purchases in the market, from treasury 
shares or by using conditional or authorized share capital. 
 
The short-term variable compensation shall be based on the achievement of per-
formance targets that are generally measured over a one-year period. Perfor-
mance targets are based on enterprise and business unit, functional and individ-
ual goals. The annual target level is determined as a percentage of the base sal-
ary. Depending on achieved performance, the compensation may amount up to 
a pre-determined multiplier of target level. 
 
The long-term variable compensation orients itself on performance metrics that 
take into account strategic objectives and/or financial objectives of the Company 
and the achievement of which is generally measured based on a multiannual pe-
riod. The annual target level of the long-term variable compensation elements is 
determined as a percentage of the base salary; depending on achieved perfor-
mance, the compensation may amount to up to a predetermined multiplier of 
target level. The Board or the Compensation Committee shall determine the con-
ditions for the allocation, vesting conditions, the conditions and deadlines for the 
exercise thereof, and any retention periods or conditions of expiration. It may 
provide that, contingent upon the occurrence of certain events determined in ad-
vance, such as a change in control or the termination of an employment relation-
ship, that the conditions and deadlines for the exercise of rights, or retention 
periods, or vesting conditions are to be shortened or cancelled, that remuneration 

 
7  The following is a direct link to Sportradar’s publicly filed Articles: https://www.sec.gov/Archives/ed-

gar/data/1836470/000110465924036445/srad-20231231xex1d1.htm 
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is to be paid based on an assumption of the achievement of target values, or that 
remuneration is to be forfeited. 
 
Certain members of the Executive Management participated in the incentive 
plans and programs identified in section 1.4 above.  

 
The contracts of the executive members have been concluded for an unlimited 
term and the members’ employment-related contracts contain notice-related pro-
visions of various ranges, up to one year maximum, depending on the executive 
member’s role and jurisdiction. 

2. Compensation awarded in 2024 
 

2.1. Board of Directors 
 

2.1.1. Compensation awarded to the members of the Board of Directors in 2024 (au-
dited) 

 

Names Specific Board Role 
Fee in 
Cash 

Fee in  
Equity (5) 

Pension 
Ex-

penses(6) 

2024 Total 
Compensa-

tion 

Non-Employee Board Members     

Jeffery W. Yabuki Board Chairman 133,553 317,372 - 450,924 

Deirdre Bigley 
Former Chairman of CC(1)(7) and Member of 

N&CG(2) 73,547 158,686 - 232,233 

John A. Doran(4) Member of CC(1) - - - - 

George Fleet Chairman of N&CG(2)and Member of AC(3) 80,132 158,686 19,717 258,534 

William Kurtz Chairman of AC(3) 93,487 158,686 - 252,173 

Hafiz Lalani(4) Member of CC(1) and N&CG(2) - - - - 

Rajani Ramanathan Member of AC(3) 66,776 158,686 - 225,462 

Marc Walder Chairman of CC(1)(7) and Member of N&CG(2) 77,737 158,686 19,654 256,077 

Employee Board Member 

Carsten Koerl(4) Member - - - - 

Total Compensation (amounts in CHF) 525,231 1,110,801 39,370 1,675,402 
 
(1) CC = Compensation Committee 
(2) N&CG = Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee 
(3) AC = Audit Committee 
(4) Messrs. Doran, Lalani and Koerl receive no compensation for Board service 
(5) RSUs granted to members of the Board as per section 1.5 above were valued as the share closing price of ordinary shares on the 
date of grant on May 16, 2024 
(6) Pension expenses include employer contributions to social insurances 
(7) Mrs. Bigley ceased serving as the Chair of the CC and Mr. Walder assumed the role following the 2024 AGM 
 
2.1.2. Changes in the compensation compared to the previous year (audited) 
 

There have been no material changes in Board compensation from the previous 
year considering that the standardized annual cash component plus the annual 
grant of RSUs has remained unchanged per the compensation program summa-
rized in section 1.5 above.  
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Names Specific Board Role Fee in 
Cash

Fee in Equity 
(5)

Pension
Ex-

penses (6)

2023 Total 
Compensa-

tion
Non- Employee Board Members                                               

Jeffery W. Yabuki Chairman 135,863 294,167 - 430,030

Deirdre Bigley Chairman of CC (1) and Member of N&CG (2) 86,046 147,079 - 233,125

John A. Doran (4) Member of CC (1) - - - - 

George Fleet Chairman of N&CG (2) and Member of AC (3) 81,518 147,079 21,057 249,653

Hafiz Lalani (4) Member of CC (1) and N&CG (2) - - - - 

Marc Walder Member of CC (1) and N&CG (2) 67,931 147,079 19,817 243,827 

William Kurtz Chairman of AC (3) 58,634 147,079 - 205,712

Rajani Ramanathan Member of AC (3) 41,881 147,079 - 188,960 

Charles J. Roebel Former Chairman of AC (3) 40,805 - - 40,805 

Employee Board Member 

Carsten Koerl (4) Member - - - - 

Total Compensation (amounts in CHF) 512,678 1,029,560 40,874 1,583,112 
 
(1) CC = Compensation Committee 
(2) N&CG = Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee 
(3) AC = Audit Committee 
(4) Messrs. Doran, Lalani and Koerl receive no compensation for Board service 
(5) RSUs granted to members of the Board as per section 1.5 were valued as the share closing price of our ordinary shares on the 
date of grant, being May 16, 2023 
(6) Pension expenses include employer contributions to social insurances 

 
2.1.3. Compliance with the resolutions of the AGM  

 
At the AGM held in May 2024, shareholders approved a maximum aggregate 
amount of compensation of CHF 3.0 million (including employer social security 
and pension contributions) for the Board for the term until the AGM in 2025. 
The compensation paid to the Board for this term will, based on the standardized 
compensation as per section 1.5 above, amount to CHF 1.675 million and is 
therefore within the approved limits. 

2.2. Executive Management  

2.2.1. Compensation awarded to the members of Executive Management in 2024 (au-
dited) 

 

Executive Officers* Positions Base Salary Cash Bonus Pension  
Expenses(1) 

Other 
Benefits 

Costs 

Equity  
Compensation 

(2) 
2024 Total 

Carsten Koerl CEO  
and Director 552,000 1,771,423 165,356 12,660 - 2,501,439 

Craig Felenstein CFO 245,592 268,133 23,921 11,098 5,440,775 5,989,519 
Other Executive  

Management 5 Members 1,431,546 676,887 206,414 51,212 3,998,980 6,365,040 
 

Total Compensation (amounts in 
CHF) 2,229,138 2,716,443 395,692 74,971 9,439,754 14,855,998 

 
(1) Pension Expenses include employer contributions to social insurances 
(2) Equity Compensation expense include annual cycle grants of RSUs and PSUs, and initial grants to the Chief Financial Officer 
and Chief Legal Officer. Valuation of RSU and PSU grants are determined based on the closing price of the Company’s ordinary 
shares as of the date prior to the grant. 
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* In accordance with the Company’s current disclosure practices, the compensation of the Company’s CEO and Founder, Carsten 
Koerl, has been disclosed even though such disclosure is not mandatory as he was not the highest compensated member of executive 
management in 2024. The member of executive management with the highest compensation for the year ended 2024 was Craig 
Felenstein, Chief Financial Officer.

2.2.2. Changes in the compensation compared to the previous year (audited) 
 

The aggregate amount of executive management compensation year-over-year 
was CHF 12.6 million less in large part due to the previously disclosed one-time 
sign-on equity grant issued to the former Chief Financial Officer of the Company 
in 2023 that was subsequently surrendered and cancelled in 2024, offset by (i) 
initial equity grants to new members of executive management hired in 2024, 
namely the Chief Financial Officer and Chief Legal Officer and (ii) reintroduc-
tion of cash bonuses that were paid in 2024 whereas no cash bonuses were paid 
in 2023. Cash bonuses were paid in accordance with the executive management 
bonus scheme discussed above. In addition, the Company had seven total mem-
bers of executive management serving at different times during 2024, compared 
to only five such individuals in 2023. 

 

Executive Officers* Positions Base  
Salary 

2023 
Cash 

Bonus 

Pension 
Expenses(1) 

Other 
Benefits 

Costs 

Equity 
Compensation 

(2) 
2023 Total 

Carsten Koerl CEO and  
Director 552,000 - 192,590 12,000 319,387 1.075,976 

James Ger Griffin CFO 317,259 - 52,252 - 23,649,985 24,019,495 

Other Executive 
Management 3 Members 1,070,136 - 125,486 45,136 1,187,048 2,427,807 

 
Total Compensation (amounts in 

CHF) 1,939,395 - 370,327 57,136 25,156,420 27,523,278 

 
(1) Pension Expenses include employer contributions to social insurances 
(2) Equity Expenses include annual cycle grants of RSUs, grants of options and RSUs to the new Chief Financial Officer and a spe-
cial one-time performance grant issued in March 2023  The valuation of (i) an RSU grant is determined based on the closing price of 
the Company’s ordinary shares as of the date prior to the grant and (ii) a stock option is based on the fair value using the Black-
Scholes model. As discussed in this section 2.2.2, the Company’s former Chief Financial Officer, James Ger Griffin, surrendered 
and forfeited non-vested equity grants in 2024 that had upon grant previously resulted in significant compensation expense for the 
year ended 2023.  
* In accordance with the Company’s current disclosure practices, the compensation of the Company’s CEO and Founder, Carsten 
Koerl, has been disclosed even though such disclosure is not mandatory as he was not the highest compensated member of executive 
management in 2023. The member of executive management with the highest compensation for the year ended 2024 was James Ger 
Griffin, Chief Financial Officer. 
 
2.2.3. Compliance with the resolutions of the AGM  

 
At the AGM held in May 2023, shareholders approved the aggregate maximum 
amount of compensation for Executive Management of USD 40,000,000.00 (in-
cluding employer social security and pension contributions) for the next finan-
cial year of the Company (i.e., January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2024). The ag-
gregate amount of compensation of Executive Management for this time period 
was CHF 14,900,000 or USD 16,500,000 and is therefore within the approved 
limits. 

2.3. Other Compensation (audited)
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2.3.1. Loans 

The Company has not granted any loans and credits to the current members of 
Board or the Executive Management in the reporting year or in previous year. 

2.3.2. Payments to persons related to members of the Board or the Executive Manage-
ment 

The Company has not paid any compensation or granted any loans or credits to 
persons related to the current members of the Board or the Executive Manage-
ment that are not in line with market conditions in the reporting year or in previ-
ous year. 

2.3.3. Former members of the Board or the Executive Management 

In the reporting year or the previous year, the Company has not paid any com-
pensation to former members of the Board or the Executive Management that is 
related to their former activities, or granted any loans and credits to former mem-
bers of the Board or the Executive Management that are not in line with market 
conditions nor paid any compensation or granted any loans and credits to persons 
related to former members of the Board or the Executive Management that are 
not in line with market conditions. 

3. Shares and equity-linked instruments held by members of the Board and
the Executive Management (audited)

The members of the Board and the Executive Management held the following numbers 
of shares of Sportradar Group AG as of December 31, 2024. 

Class A 
Ordinary 

Shares 

Class B 
Ordinary 

Shares 

Non-vested options 
& share awards 

for Class A 
Ordinary shares 

Jeffery Yabuki (Chairman of the Board) 533,073 - 33,018 

Deirdre Bigley (Board Member) 28,764 - 16,509 

George Fleet (Board Member) 134,229 - 16,509 

Carsten Koerl (Board member and CEO) 31,199 903,670,701 - 

John Doran (Board Member) 34,079,496 - - 

Marc Walder (Board Member) 253,642 - 16,509 

Hafiz Lalani (Board Member) - - - 

William Kurtz (Board Member) 8,875 - 16,509 

Rajani Ramanathan (Board Member) 11,094 - 16,509 

Eduard Blonk (Chief Commercial Officer) 137,958 - 99,656 

Craig Felenstein (Chief Financial Officer) - - 580,120 

Michael Miller (Chief Legal Officer) - - 163,666 

Total  903,670,701 959,005 

For further information on share ownership of the members of the Board and 
Executive Management, see Item 7. Major Shareholders and Related Party 
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Transactions of the Company’s Form 20-F for the year ended 2024 available at 
https://investors.sportradar.com/financials-filings/annual-reports. 

 
 
The members of the Board and the Executive Management held the following numbers 
of shares of Sportradar Group AG as of December 31, 2023. 

 

Class A 
Ordinary 

Shares 

Class B 
Ordinary 

Shares 

Non-vested options 
& share awards 

for Class A 
Ordinary shares 

    
Jeffery Yabuki (Chairman of the Board) 510,885 - 29,585

Deirdre Bigley (Board Member) 17,670 - 14,792 

George Fleet (Board Member) 123,135 - 14,792

Carsten Koerl (Board member and CEO) 3,531,199 903,670,701 - 

John Doran (Board Member) 34,079,496 - - 

Marc Walder (Board Member) 239,797 - 14,792 

Hafiz Lalani (Board Member) - -  

William Kurtz (Board Member) - - 14,792 

Rajani Ramanathan (Board Member) - - 14,792 

Eduard Blonk (Chief Commercial Officer) 164,121 - - 

Ulrich Harmuth (Chief Strategy Officer) 453,743 - - 

Lynn S. McCreary (Chief Legal Officer) 24,339 - 169,781 

James Ger Griffin (Chief Financial Officer) - - 3,877,519 

Total 39,144,385 903,670,701 4,150,845 

 
For further information on share ownership of the members of the Board and 
Executive Management, see Item 7. Major Shareholders and Related Party 
Transactions of the Company’s Form 20-F for the year ended 2023 available at 
https://investors.sportradar.com/financials-filings/annual-reports. 
 
 

4. Mandates of the Board and Executive Management (audited) 
 
4.1. Mandates of members of the Board 

 
The members of the Board have the mandates as members in the senior manage-
ment or oversight bodies of legal units with an economic purpose as presented 
in Exhibit A hereto.   
 

4.2. Mandates of members of the Executive Management 
 
The members of the Executive Management have the mandates as members in 
the senior management or oversight bodies of legal units with an economic pur-
pose as presented in Exhibit A hereto.   
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Exhibit A

Non-Sportradar Mandates as of December 31, 2024 

Non-Employee Board Members 

Name Company Functions 

Jeffery W. Yabuki Motive Partners, New York, US Chairman of the Investment Committee, Chairman of the Global Advisory 
Council 

Royal Bank of Canada, Toronto, 
Canada 

Member of the Board, Member of the Human Resources Committee,  
Member of the Risk Committee 

  Nasdaq Inc., New York, US Member of the Board, Chair of the Management Compensation  
Committee, Member of the Nominating & ESG Committee 

Investcloud, Inc., New York, US Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board

Deirdre Bigley Shutterstock Inc., New York, US Member of the Board, Chair of the Compensation Committee, 
Member of the Nominating and Governance Committee 

Wix.com Ltd., Tel Aviv, Israel Member of the Board, Member of the Compensation Committee,  
Member of the Nominating and Governance Committee,  
Member of the Audit Committee 

Taboola.com Ltd., New York, US Member of the Board, Member of the Audit Committee 

Slice, New York, US Member of the Board, Chair of the Compensation Committee 

John A. Doran  Technology Crossover Ventures 
UK LLP., London, England 

General Partner 
 

Believe SA, Paris, France Member of the Board, Member of the Appointments and  
Renumeration Committee  

Mambu B.V., Amsterdam,  
Netherlands 

Member of the Board, Member of the Renumeration Committee 
 

FlixMobility GmbH (Flixbus),  
Munich, Germany 

Member of the Board 
 

RELEX Solutions, Wiesbaden,  
Germany 

Member of the Board 

SuperVista AG (brillen.de),  
Königs Wusterhausen, Germany 

Member of the Board 
 

Grupa Pracuj SA, Warschau, Polen Member of the Board 
 

Zepz, London, United Kingdom Member of the Board 

 Adevinta ASA, Barcelona, Spain Member of the Board, Member of the Renumeration Committee 

Revolut Ltd., London, 
United Kingdom

Observer of the Board

  Trade Republic Bank GmbH,  
Berlin, Germany 

Observer of the Board 

George Fleet Benella & Co. Limited, 
Sevenoaks, England 

Member of the Board
 

Canaccord Genuity Limited,  
London, England 

Chairman of Advisory  

  Casumo Holding PLC, Swieqi, Malta Chairman of the Board, Member of the Remuneration Committee 

William Kurtz Aterian Inc., New York, US Chairman of the Board, Member of the Audit Committee, Member of the  
Compensation Committee  

Ripcord Inc., Hayward, US Member of the Board, Member of the Audit Committee 

  Verint Systems, New York, US Member of the Board and Lead Independent Director, Member of the Au-
dit Committee, Member of the  
Nominating and Governance Committee 

 Lightforce Orthodontics Inc., Boston, 
US 

Interim Chief Financial Officer (part-time), Member of the Board, Member 
of the Audit Committee 

Hafiz Lalani CPP Investments, London,  
United Kingdom 

Managing Director, Head of Europe  

  Visma AS, Oslo, Norway Member of the Board 

 Asurion LLC, Tennessee, US Member of the Board 
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Rajani Ramanathan  Guidewire Software Inc.,  
California, US 

Member of the Board, Chairman of the Risk Committee, Member of the  
Compensation Committee 

Faro Technologies Inc., Florida, US Member of the Board, Member of the Financial Audit Committee, Member 
of the Nominating, Governance and Sustainability Committee 

Hayden AI, San Francisco, US Member of the Board 

Marc Walder Ringier AG, Zurich, Switzerland CEO, Managing Partner

Admeira AG, Zurich, Switzerland Chairman of the Board 

Ringier Sports AG, Zurich, 
Switzerland 

Chairman of the Board
 

Ringier Sports Media Group AG Member of the Board
 

Ringier One Africa Media,  
South Africa

Chairman of the Board 
 

Ticketcorner AG, Zurich,  
Switzerland 

Vice Chairman of the Board 

Ringier Axel Springer Schweiz AG, 
 Zurich, Switzerland 

Vice Chairman of the Board 

SMG Swiss Marketplace Group,  
Zurich, Switzerland 

Member of the Board 
 

JobCloud AG, Zurich, Switzerland Member of the Board 
 

Grupa Ringier Axel Springer Polska
AG, Zürich, Switzerland

Member of the Board
 

Marquard Media Group AG, Baar, 
Switzerland  

Member of the Board 

Pulse Africa Holding AG, Zofingen,  
Switzerland 

Chairman of the Board 
 

Ringier Serbia doo, Balgrade, Serbia Chairman of the Board 
 

Ringier Slovakia Media - Bratislava,  
Bratislava, Slovakia 

Chairman of the Board 
 

Ringier Magazine AG Chairman of the Board 
 

Grupa Ringier Axel Springer Polska  
AG, Zürich, Switzerland 

Member of the Board 

 
Executive Management 

Name Company Functions 

Carsten Koerl UAB TV Zaidimai, Vilniaus,  
Lithuania 

 Chairman of the Board 

 Casako AG, Appenzell, Switzerland  Chairman of the Board 

Caluko AG, Appenzell, Switzerland Chairman of the Board

Eduard H. Blonk Boost Technology Group Inc.,  
Illinois, US 

 Member of the Board 

Craig Felenstein  -  - 

Michael C. Miller  -  - 

 


